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DEFINITIONS

“2025 AGM” the annual general meeting of the Company scheduled to be held on Tuesday, 25 
February 2025

“Articles of Association” the articles of association of the Company, as amended, supplemented or 
otherwise modified from time to time

“Audit Committee” the audit committee of the Board, comprising solely the independent non-executive 
Directors

“Board” the board of Directors of the Company

“BVI” the British Virgin Islands

“CEO” the chief executive officer of the Company

“CFO” the chief financial officer of the Company

“CG Code” the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

“Chairman” the chairman of the Board

“Chen Lin Education Science” Chen Lin Education Science (Jiangxi) Co., Ltd. (辰林教育科技(江西)有限責任公
司), a wholly-foreign owned enterprise incorporated under the laws of the PRC 
with limited liability on 5 September 2018 and indirectly wholly-owned by the 
Company

“Chen Lin Elite Holdings” Chen Lin Elite Holdings Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of the BVI 
on 5 July 2018 and wholly-owned by Huangyulin Holdings

“Chen Lin High School” Zhengzhou Airport Economy Zone Chen Lin High School (鄭州航空港區辰林
高級中學), a private high school located in Henan Province, the PRC, established 
in 2017, which offers high school programs, and the sponsor of which is Henan 
Kunren, one of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities

“China” or “PRC” the People’s Republic of China, unless otherwise stated, excludes the Hong Kong, 
the Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan of China

“Company” or
  “our Company”

Chen Lin Education Group Holdings Limited (辰林教育集團控股有限公司), a 
company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 
25 May 2018 and the Shares were listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange 
on 13 December 2019 (Stock Code: 1593)

“Companies Act” the Companies Act (2023 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, (as amended, 
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time)
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DEFINITIONS

“Consolidated Affiliated 
  Entities”

the entities we control through the Contractual Arrangements, namely Chen Lin 
High School, Gan Zhou Chen Lin, Guizhou College, Guizhou Xikai, Henan Kunren, 
Jishi College, JXIAS, Nanchang Di Guan and Ruicheng Education

“Consultation Conclusions” Consultation conclusions on the proposed amendments to the Listing Rules relating 
to share schemes of listed issuers and housekeeping rule amendment published by 
the Stock Exchange in July 2022

“Contractual Arrangements” certain contractual arrangements entered by us on 15 September 2018

“controlling shareholders” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and unless the context 
otherwise requires, refers to Mr. Huang Yulin, the Chairman, CEO and an executive 
Director, as well as Huangyulin Holdings and Chen Lin Elite Holdings

“Director(s)” the director(s) of the Company

“double qualification teachers” full-time teachers with title of lecturer and above in addition to professional 
qualification or industry experience

“Gan Zhou Chen Lin” Gan Zhou Chen Lin Education Investment Co., Ltd. (贛州辰林教育投資有限公
司), a company established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability, one of 
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities

“Group”, “we” or “us” the Company and all of its subsidiaries and Consolidated Affiliated Entities whose 
financial results have been consolidated and accounted as the subsidiaries of our 
Company by virtue of the Contractual Arrangements, or, where the context 
so requires, in respect of the period before our Company became the holding 
company of our current subsidiaries, the business operated by such subsidiaries or 
their predecessors (as the case may be)

“Guizhou College” Guizhou Vocational College of Industry and Trade (貴州工貿職業學院), a higher 
vocational college located in Guizhou Province, the PRC, established in May 2015, 
which offers vocational programs and junior college programs, and the sponsor of 
which is Guizhou Xikai, one of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities

"Guizhou Xikai" Guizhou Xikai Education Investment Co., Ltd. (貴州西凱教育投資有限公司), 
a company established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on 5 May 
2015, being the sponsor of Guizhou College, one of the Consolidated Affiliated 
Entities

"Henan Kunren" Henan Kun Ren Education Science Technology Co., Ltd. (河南坤仁教育科技有
限公司), a company established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on 
25 May 2017, being the sponsor of Chen Lin High School, one of the Consolidated 
Affiliated Entities
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“HK$” Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

“Hong Kong” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

“Huangyulin Holdings” Huangyulin Holdings Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of the BVI 
on 22 May 2018 and wholly-owned by Mr. Huang Yulin, one of the controlling 
shareholders 

“IFRSs” the International Financial Reporting Standards

“Independent Third Party(ies)” an individual(s) or company(ies) who or which is/are to the best of our Director’s 
knowledge, information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, is/are not 
our connected persons as defined under the Listing Rules

“Jishi College” Jiangxi College of Arts and Sciences Technicians (江西文理技師學院), a full-time 
vocational college located in Jiangxi Province, the PRC, established in November 
2019, comprising two campuses in Nanchang and Longnan, Jiangxi Province, the 
PRC, and the sponsor of which is Ruicheng Education, one of the Consolidated 
Affiliated Entities

“JXIAS” Jiangxi Institute of Applied Science and Technology (江西應用科技學院), a private 
university located in Jiangxi Province, the PRC, which offers both undergraduate 
and junior college programs, established in April 2002, and the sponsor of which is 
Nanchang Di Guan, one of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities

“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (as amended, 
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time)

“Model Code” the Model Code of Securities Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers as set 
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

“Nanchang Di Guan” Nanchang Di Guan Education Consultancy Co., Ltd. (南昌迪冠教育諮詢有限公
司), a company established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on 17 
September 2009, being the sponsor of JXIAS, one of the Consolidated Affiliated 
Entities

“Prospectus” the prospectus of the Company dated 27 November 2019

“Reporting Period” the year ended 31 August 2024

“RMB” Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

“RSU(s)” restricted share units granted pursuant to the RSU Scheme
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DEFINITIONS

“RSU Scheme” the restricted share unit scheme adopted by our Company on 20 August 2019 and 
amended by an ordinary resolution passed by the Shareholders on 30 January 2023

“Ruicheng Education” Nanchang Ruicheng Education Consultancy Co., Ltd. (南昌市瑞誠教育咨詢有限
公司), a company established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on 
24 June 2020, being the sponsor of Jishi College, one of the Consolidated Affiliated 
Entities

“Schools” JXIAS, Jishi College, Guizhou College and Chen Lin High School, which are four 
schools owned and operated by our Group as at 31 August 2024

“senior management” the senior management of the Group

“SFO” the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (as 
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time)

“Share(s)” ordinary share(s) of HK$0.0001 each in the issued share capital of the Company

“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of Shares

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“treasury shares” has the meaning as defined under the Listing Rules

“US$” United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

“%” per cent
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CORPORATE PROFILE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
Mr. Huang Yulin (Chairman and CEO)
Mr. Liu Chunbin (vice president)
Mr. Wang Li (co-president)
Ms. Gan Tian (co-president)
Mr. Wang Shenghua (resigned on 31 January 2024)
Mr. Yang Ruichen (resigned on 29 February 2024)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Li Cunyi (resigned on 31 January 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Sy Lai Yin, Sunny
Mr. Chen Wanlong
Mr. Huang Juyun
Mr. Wang Donglin

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. Sy Lai Yin, Sunny (Chairman)
Mr. Huang Juyun
Mr. Chen Wanlong
Mr. Wang Donglin

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Chen Wanlong (Chairman)
Mr. Huang Juyun 
Mr. Sy Lai Yin, Sunny
Mr. Wang Li
Mr. Li Cunyi (resigned on 31 January 2024)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Huang Juyun (Chairman)
Mr. Wang Donglin
Mr. Chen Wanlong
Ms. Gan Tian
Mr. Li Cunyi (resigned on 31 January 2024)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Yu Anne

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
(for the purpose of Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules)
Mr. Huang Yulin
Ms. Yu Anne

AUDITOR
BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
25th Floor, Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
Central
Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISER
As to Hong Kong law
Eric Chow & Co.
in Association with Commerce & Finance Law Offices
3401, Alexandra House
18 Chater Road
Central
Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
1593

REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN  
  ISLANDS
Walkers Corporate Limited
190 Elgin Avenue
George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-9008
Cayman Islands
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CORPORATE PROFILE

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE  
  OF BUSINESS IN CHINA
No. 001, Xinjian Lianfu Dadao
Nanchang
Jiangxi
PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS  
  IN HONG KONG
40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre
No. 248 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND  
  TRANSFER OFFICE
Walkers Corporate Limited
190 Elgin Avenue
George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-9008
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712–1716, 17th Floor
Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS
(in alphabetical order)
Bank of Jiujiang Co., Ltd.
China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited
China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd.
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.

COMPANY’S WEBSITE
https://www.chenlin-edu.com
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE LAST FIVE FINANCIAL YEARS

For the year ended 31 August

For the 
eight months 

ended 
31 August

For the 
year ended 

31 December 
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
      

Revenue 599,452 563,330 514,956 218,082 288,029
Cost of revenue (411,093) (334,861) (332,153) (134,364) (100,387)
Gross profit 188,359 228,469 182,803 83,718 187,642

Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive 
  income for the year attributable to:
  owners of the Company 15,367 33,673 (37,985) (18,720) 77,459

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION FOR THE LAST 
FIVE FINANCIAL YEARS

As at 31 August
As at 

31 December
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
      

Assets
Non-current assets 4,080,747 3,639,164 3,003,890 2,280,585 1,473,612
Current assets 390,428 487,024 371,568 474,352 542,961

Total assets 4,471,175 4,126,188 3,375,458 2,754,937 2,016,573

Equity and liabilities
Total equity 860,732 845,365 811,079 845,133 876,378 

Non-current liabilities 1,993,501 1,870,587 1,390,760 1,360,761 554,451
Current liabilities 1,616,942 1,410,236 1,173,619 549,043 585,744

Total liabilities 3,610,443 3,280,823 2,564,379 1,909,804 1,140,195

Total equity and liabilities 4,471,175 4,126,188 3,375,458 2,754,937 2,016,573

Note:	 On 11 June 2021, the Board announced the change of the financial year end date of the Group from 31 December to 31 August (the “Change”). The Change is to 
align the financial year end date of the Group with the academic year of the schools operated by the Group in the PRC, which ends in August each year. The Board 
considers that the Change will follow more closely with the business cycle in which the Group operates, and better reflect the operational results of the Group for the 
financial year.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders and investors,

On behalf of the Board of Chen Lin Education Group Holdings Limited, together with its subsidiaries and consolidated affiliated 
entities, I am pleased to present you our 2024 annual report for the year ended 31 August 2024.

For the year ended 31 August 2024, with your support and the united efforts of all employees, the Company achieved 
incremental growth in revenue from its main business, with audited total revenue of RMB599.5 million for the year of 2024, 
representing an increase of approximately 6.4% as compared to the previous year. The earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”) amounted to RMB235.2 million for the year of 2024, representing an increase 
of approximately 4.7% as compared to the previous year. As of 31 August 2024, the Schools under our Group had enrolled 
over 30,000 students. The Group has long been focused on providing full-system applied undergraduate education, vocational 
education and quality high school education services, with business operations continuously improving steadily.

We are deeply implementing the development strategy of “Building schools with quality, strengthening schools with talents, 
shaping schools with culture, and promoting schools with characteristics” 「質量立校、人才強校、文化鑄校、特色興校」, 
comprehensively advancing internal and quality development, enhancing social services and continuously improving the 
educational level of Schools and the quality of applied talents cultivation. For the year ended 31 August 2024, JXIAS of the 
Group passed the qualification assessment of undergraduate education, and the Schools of the Group received multiple teaching 
achievement awards and university competition awards from the national, provincial and municipal governments. One project 
of JXIAS was selected as the second batch of Jiangxi Province’s general undergraduate colleges’ modern industry academy 
cultivation projects (第二批江西省普通本科高校現代產業學院培育項目 ). Teachers from JXIAS participated in the 12th 
National Digital Creative Teaching Skills Competition (第十二屆全國數字創意教學技能大賽 ) and won the second prize, 
participated in the 12th Future Designer National College Digital Art Design Competition (第十二屆未來設計師 •全國高
校數字藝術設計大賽 ) and won the third prize, participated in the 9th “Higher Education Cup” National College Teachers’ 
Graphics and Mechanical Basic Courses Demonstration Teaching and Innovative Teaching Method Observation Competition 
(第九屆「高教杯」全國高等學校教師圖學與機械基礎課程示範教學與創新教學法觀摩競賽 ) and won the third prize, 
and participated in the 15th "Foreign Language Teaching and Research Press Cup" National College Foreign Language Teaching 
Competition Jiangxi Division (第十五屆「外教社杯」全國高校外語教學大賽江西賽區比賽 ) and won the first prize. For 
the year ended 31 August 2024, students from JXIAS participated in various student competitions, achieved a total of 1,231 
honors at the provincial level and above, including 493 national-level honors. Students have been striving courageously in various 
competitions, repeatedly achieving excellent results, showing their extraordinary strength and potential. Students from JXIAS 
participated in the 18th “Challenge Cup” National College Extracurricular Academic and Technological Works Competition (第
十八屆「挑戰杯」全國大學生課外學術科技作品競賽 ), winning the National Black Technology Track Stellar Award (全
國黑科技賽道恒星級獎項 ) and the first prize in the Red Special Project (紅色專項一等獎 ). They also participated in the 
National College Robot Technology Innovation Exchange Camp and Robot Competition (全國大學生機器人科技創新交流
營暨機器人大賽 ), winning the National Special Prize. Additionally, they took part in the 11th “Datang Cup” National College 
New Generation Information and Communication Technology Competition (第十一屆「大唐杯」全國大學生新一代資訊通
信技術大賽), securing the first prize in the Jiangxi Province Competition. In the 2024 National College E-commerce “Innovation, 
Creativity, and Entrepreneurship” Challenge (2024年全國大學生電子商務「創新、創意及創業」挑戰賽 ), they won the first 
prize at the national level, and in the 7th National College Art Exhibition (全國第七屆大學生藝術展演活動 ), they received 
the National first prize, among other awards. Teachers from Guizhou Vocational College of Industry and Trade participated in 
the Guizhou Province Vocational Colleges Teachers and Students Skills Competition and the National Vocational Colleges Skills 
Competition Selection (貴州省職業院校師生技能大賽暨全國職業院校技能大賽選拔賽 ), and won a provincial second-
class award. Students from Guizhou Vocational College of Industry and Trade participated in the 18th “Challenge Cup” National 
College Students Extracurricular Academic Science and Technology Works Competition (第十八屆「挑戰杯」全國大學生課
外學術科技作品競賽 ), and won a provincial first-class award.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

We will continue to provide higher education, vocational education and high school education services to more enterprises and 
local economies. We are dedicated in actively nurturing practical and committed talents to inject new momentum to China’s 
development, and continue to fulfill our educational mission and social responsibilities. We will continue to connect with local 
governments and high-quality enterprises to build industrial colleges, enhance brand awareness and reputation, and expand our 
business and school network; continue to optimise our program and course offerings, including but not limited to adding AI 
general education courses and expanding international cooperative education projects, in order to enhance the competitiveness 
of our students; further strengthen and increase the proportion of undergraduate program services and continue to attract, 
cultivate and retain talented teachers and other professionals, to reward shareholders’ trust with better performance.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the Directors, senior management, and all 
employees of the Group for their efforts and contributions during the year 2024. I would also like to express my appreciation to 
all Shareholders, investors and business partners for their continuous support.

Huang Yulin
Chairman

Nanchang, the PRC
29 November 2024
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND 
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The brief profiles of our current Directors and senior management are as below:

DIRECTORS
The Board currently comprises eight Directors, of which four are executive Directors and four are independent non-executive 
Directors. The following table sets forth information regarding the existing Directors as at the date of this report.

Name Age Position

Date of 
Appointment 
as Director

    

Executive Directors
Mr. Huang Yulin 63 Chairman, executive Director and CEO 25 May 2018
Mr. Liu Chunbin 48 Executive Director and vice president 7 July 2021
Mr. Wang Li 42 Executive Director and co-president 21 September 2018
Ms. Gan Tian 40 Executive Director and co-president 21 September 2018

Independent
  non-executive 
  Directors
Mr. Sy Lai Yin, Sunny 44 Independent non-executive Director 7 July 2021
Mr. Chen Wanlong 61 Independent non-executive Director 18 November 2019
Mr. Huang Juyun 61 Independent non-executive Director 18 November 2019
Mr. Wang Donglin 70 Independent non-executive Director 18 November 2019

Executive Directors
Mr. Huang Yulin (黃玉林), aged 63, is our executive Director, the Chairman and CEO. Mr. Huang is responsible for the 
overall management, strategic planning and decision-making of our Group. Mr. Huang is also the chairman of the board of 
directors of JXIAS. Mr. Huang is the father-in-law of Mr. Wang Li and the brother of Ms. Huang Wenxia the vice president of the 
Company.

Mr. Huang has over 20 years of experience in the education sector. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Huang worked at the 
Ganzhou Department of Personnel and Labour Bureau (贛州行署勞動人事局) and acted as the legal representative and the 
chairman of Jiangxi Science and Engineering Specialist College (江西理工專修學院). Mr. Huang has been acting as the chairman 
of the board of directors of JXIAS since 2002, where he has been in charge of the overall management of JXIAS. Mr. Huang 
acted as the CEO from September 2018 to August 2019 and since 30 October 2020.

Mr. Huang received his college diploma in government management and politics from Jiangxi Open University (江西廣播電視大
學).
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Mr. Liu Chunbin (劉春斌), aged 48, is our vice president. Mr. Liu is primarily responsible for overseeing our overall educational 
services as the principal’s assistant since March 2015 and the head of academic affairs office of JXIAS from March 2015 to April 
2019. Mr. Liu joined our Group in April 2002. Mr. Liu has over 10 years experience in the education sector. Mr. Liu received 
his college’s diploma in the public relations and secretarial major from Jiangxi Normal University (江西師範大學) (formerly 
known as Jiangxi Normal College (江西師範學院)) in December 1998, a graduation certificate for self-taught higher education 
examinations (高等教育自學考試) in the secretarial major in June 2005 and his Master’s Degree in engineering from Nanchang 
University (南昌大學) in January 2018.

Mr. Wang Li (王立), aged 42, is our executive Director and a co-president of our Company. Mr. Wang is primarily responsible 
for providing strategic advice on corporate developments to our Group, making recommendations on major operational matters 
and making managerial decisions within our Group. Mr. Wang is also a director of JXIAS. Mr. Wang Li is the son-in-law of Mr. 
Huang Yulin.

Mr. Wang has over 10 years of experience in the education sector. Mr. Wang has been acting as the principal’s assistant/vice 
principal since April 2017 and the head of international academic communication center of JXIAS since December 2017, as well 
as a director of JXIAS since November 2016. Mr. Wang also served as the head of infrastructure and engineering department of 
JXIAS from August 2014 to July 2019. Before joining our Group, from July 2004 to December 2008, Mr. Wang acted as the head 
of corporate planning department of Ganzhou Zhong Cheng Hao Jie Fang Industrial Co., Ltd. (贛州眾成好街坊實業有限公
司), where he was responsible for brand promotion planning and corporate culture development. From July 2011 to September 
2012, Mr. Wang served as the chief creative officer in Han Yuan Zheng Guo Planning and Design Co., Ltd. (漢元正果策劃設計
有限公司), where his responsibilities include team management and creative strategic planning.

Mr. Wang received his Bachelor’s Degree in fine arts from Gan Nan Normal University (贛南師範大學) (formerly known as 
Gan Nan Normal College (贛南師範學院)) in July 2004.

Ms. Gan Tian (干甜), aged 40, is our executive Director and a co-president of our Company. Ms. Gan is primarily responsible 
for providing strategic advice on corporate developments to our Group, making recommendations on major operational matters 
and making managerial decisions within our Group. Ms. Gan is also a director of the board of directors, a member of the Party 
Committee and the executive vice president of JXIAS.

Ms. Gan has over 20 years of experience in the education sector. Ms. Gan served as the deputy head of the marketing and 
publicity department of JXIAS from September 2004 to December 2004. From January 2005 to January 2011, Ms. Gan served 
as the head of student affairs office of JXIAS, the head of art troupe of JXIAS and the secretary of Youth League Committee 
of JXIAS. Ms. Gan has been acting as the principal’s assistant since January 2011, the head of the international cooperation 
department since April 2012, a director of JXIAS since December 2015 and various other positions.

Ms. Gan received her Master’s Degree in business management from Jiangxi Normal University (江西師範大學) (formerly 
known as Jiangxi Normal College (江西師範學院)) in June 2018, and her college diploma in business management from JXIAS in 
July 2008.
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Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Sy Lai Yin, Sunny (施禮賢), aged 44, is our independent non-executive Director. Mr. Sy has extensive experience in the 
financial sector and had experience in overseeing business development, finance services and merger and acquisition projects. 
He has over six years of experience in accounting and auditing with an international accountancy and professional services 
firm Ernst & Young. Mr. Sy has also been a director of Bradbury Securities Limited, a corporation licensed to carry on Type 1 
(dealing in securities) and Type 4 (advising on securities) regulated activities under the SFO since 2008. Mr. Sy is also currently 
an independent non-executive director of New Ray Medicine International Holding Limited, a company listed on the Stock 
Exchange (stock code: 6108).

Mr. Sy graduated from Washington University with a Bachelor’s Degree of Science in Business Administration. He was awarded a 
degree of Master of Science in Business Administration by Washington University in December 2001.

Mr. Chen Wanlong (陳萬龍), aged 61, is our independent non-executive Director. Mr. Chen has extensive experience in the 
education sector. From July 1986 to December 2000, Mr. Chen held various positions within Jiangxi University of Finance and 
Economics (江西財經大學) including the deputy head of taxation teaching and research office, head of taxation teaching and 
research office, deputy head of finance and economic faculty, deputy head of teaching office and head of teaching office. From 
December 2000 to August 2003, Mr. Chen worked as the deputy dean at Jiangxi Science and Technology Normal University (江
西科技師範大學) (formerly known as Jiangxi Normal College (江西師範學院)). From August 2003 to August 2006, Mr. Chen 
worked as the dean of Jiangxi Ganjiang Vocational Institution (江西贛江職業技術學院). Mr. Chen has been working as the dean 
of Jiangxi Institute of Fashion Technology (江西服裝學院) since August 2006.

Mr. Chen received his Bachelor’s Degree in finance from Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics in July 1986, and his 
Doctorate Degree in industrial economics from the same university in January 2009.

Mr. Huang Juyun (黃居鋆), aged 61, is our independent non-executive Director. Mr. Huang served as the deputy general 
manager of the Sunshine Life Insurance Co., Ltd. Jiangxi Branch (陽光人壽保險股份有限公司江西分公司) from July 2009 to 
November 2012 and served as its general manager since November 2012, where Mr. Huang has been in charge of formulating 
and monitoring sales targets, improving the internal control mechanisms and managing day-to-day business operations. Prior to 
that, Mr. Huang held various managerial positions within different branches of Taiping Life Insurance Co., Ltd. (太平人壽保險有
限公司).

Mr. Huang received his Bachelor’s Degree in Agricultural Management from Jiangxi Agricultural University (江西農業大學) in July 
1991 and further received his Doctorate Degree in management studies from China University of Political Science and Law (中
國政法大學) in June 2010.

Mr. Wang Donglin (王東林), aged 70, is our independent non-executive Director. Mr. Wang has extensive experience in the 
education sector. From January 1982 to September 2000, Mr. Wang held various positions, including research assistant, lecturer, 
associate professor and professor, in Jiangxi Normal University (江西師範大學) (formerly known as Jiangxi Normal College (江
西師範學院)). From September 2000 to October 2008, Mr. Wang served as the head of the culture research center (文化研
究所) of Jiangxi Normal University. Since October 2008, Mr. Wang has served in positions, including a professor, the head of 
culture research center, and the head of Zheng Da research center (正大研究所) of Jiangxi Normal University. Mr. Wang has 
been acting as the advisor to Jiangxi People’s Government since March 2017.

Mr. Wang received his Bachelor’s Degree in History from Jiangxi Normal University (江西師範大學) (formerly known as Jiangxi 
Normal College (江西師範學院)) in August 1982.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Our Group also has the following senior management to carry out our daily operation. Our senior management is responsible 
for the day-to-day management of our business. For biographical details of our CEO, Mr. Huang Yulin as well as our vice 
president namely Mr. Liu Chunbin and our co-presidents namely, Mr. Wang Li and Ms. Gan Tian, please refer to the paragraph 
headed “Executive Directors” in this section.

Ms. She Hui (折慧), aged 37, has been appointed as our CFO since 29 February 2024. Ms. She is a member of The Chinese 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She has a wealth of experience and knowledge in financial markets, corporate and 
management accounting, mergers and acquisitions, internal control, corporate governance, regulatory compliance and auditing. 
Prior to joining the Company, from October 2010 to February 2024, Ms. She successively served as an auditor, a manager 
and a senior manager at PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP (普華永道中天會計師事務所(特殊普通合夥), providing 
professional auditing, accounting advisory and business consulting services to multiple listed companies, multinational corporations, 
as well as asset-backed securitization business including public offering of Infrastructure Real Estate Investment Trusts (基礎設施
公募REITs). From October 2009 to September 2010, Ms. She served as an auditor at KPMG Advisory (China) Limited (畢馬威
企業諮詢(中國)有限公司).

Ms. She obtained her bachelor’s degree in management, majoring in accounting from Dongbei University of Finance and 
Economics (東北財經大學) in 2009. She also studied in the Business School of University of Wisconsin-Madison as a visiting 
student.

Ms. Fang Xiaozhen (房小珍), aged 46, is our chief operating officer. Ms. Fang is primarily responsible for our Group’s day-
to-day operational management, formulating development strategies for our Group. Ms. Fang has been acting as the principal’s 
assistant/vice principal of JXIAS since March 2014. Prior to that, from April 2002 to February 2014, Ms. Fang held various 
positions in JXIAS, including the deputy officer of the chairman’s office, the supervisor of career services center, the director of 
new campus construction office and the director of assets management department.

Ms. Fang received her college diploma through higher education diploma exam (高等教育學歷文憑考試) in English from JXIAS 
in September 2002. She further obtained her Master’s Degree in tourism management from Jiangxi Science and Technology 
Normal University (江西科技師範大學) in December 2015.

Ms. Huang Wenxia (黃文霞), aged 53, is our vice president. Ms. Huang has been acting as the principal of the international 
academic communication center (國際教學書交流中心) of JXIAS since September 2014. From November 2014 to March 
2019, Ms. Huang acted as the head of the Industrial Development Management Office (產業發展管理處) of JXIAS and the vice 
president of Nanchang Diguan. From November 2016 to June 2018, Ms. Huang acted as the director of JXIAS. Ms. Huang has 
been acting as the vice principal of Guizhou College since March 2019, the vice president of the Group since July 2021 and the 
secretary of the party committee of Chen Lin High School since March 2023. Ms. Huang is the sister of Mr. Huang Yulin.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Huang acted as the financial supervisor at Jiangxi Ganzhou Gas Compressor Factory (江西贛州
氣體壓縮機廠) from July 1993 to July 2006.

Ms. Huang graduated from Jiangxi Normal University (江西師範大學), majoring in education (undergraduate diploma through 
self-study examination) in December 2009.
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Mr. Lu Dong (盧東), aged 54, is our general manager of administrative and legal department. Mr. Lu is responsible for the 
overall management of our Group’s administrative affairs.

Mr. Lu joined our Group in September 2003. He held various positions in JXIAS, including the vice president of the career 
development center (職培中心) (from September 2003 to September 2004), the vice president of the library (from September 
2004 to October 2005), the assistant to the dean of the computer science college (from October 2005 to October 2006), 
the vice president of the science and technology division of the headquarters of new campus (新校區指揮部科技處) (from 
October 2006 to March 2009), the president of information department (from March 2009 to April 2009) and the president 
of infrastructure and equipment department (from April 2009 to January 2014). Mr. Lu has been acting as the principal of the 
chairman’s office of JXIAS since January 2014.

Mr. Lu completed his undergraduate course in education science (through self-learning) and graduated from Jiangxi Normal 
University (江西師範大學) (formerly known as Jiangxi Normal College (江西師範學院)) in December 2009. Mr. Lu further 
completed his undergraduate course in computer science (through distance learning) and graduated from Nanchang Hang Kong 
University (南昌航空大學) in January 2013.
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BUSINESS REVIEW
We are one of the leading providers of private comprehensive education services in Jiangxi Province, the PRC, with years of 
experience in the private comprehensive education service industry, being an education group specializing in full-system applied 
undergraduate education, vocational education and quality high school education. As at 31 August 2024, we operate four 
Schools, namely, (i) JXIAS, a private university located in Jiangxi Province, the PRC; (ii) Jishi College, a private full-time vocational 
college located in Jiangxi Province, the PRC, comprising two campuses located in Nanchang and Longnan, Jiangxi Province, the 
PRC; (iii) Guizhou College, a private higher vocational college located in Guizhou Province, the PRC; and (iv) Chen Lin High 
School, a private high school located in Henan Province, the PRC.

We offer undergraduate programs, junior college programs, vocational programs and high school programs, as well as diverse 
education related services. As at 31 August 2024, our four Schools had over 30,000 enrolled students. We also provide a variety 
of education related services, including internship management services, as well as tutoring and program management services to 
enterprises and education institutions.

Our mission is to cultivate innovative talents with practical skills and knowledge and to provide talent support for the 
development of urbanisation in China (為新型城鎮化建設與管理培養高層次、高技能、創新型和應用型人才). We insist 
adopting the development strategy of “full-system vocational education and quality high school education (全體系職業教育和
優質高中教育)”, which emphasizes both academic education and training education, talent cultivation and service export (學歷
教育與培訓教育同舉，人才培養與服務輸出並重). Our fundamental educational philosophy is to foster talents with “upright 
personality, comprehensive theoretical knowledge and practical skills (培養具有健全人格、複合專業與實踐能力的人才)” 
by implementing our “Three-element Talent Cultivation (三元育人)” mode. We aim to provide quality education services in a 
manner consistent with our mission and educational philosophy.

With a view of nurturing talents with practical skills, we are devoted to offering quality private education to our students and 
providing diversified programs and curriculums encompassing a broad range of market-oriented fields of study and career 
trainings, including international business, e-commerce, logistics management, internet-of-things, civil engineering, software 
engineering, pre-school education, intelligent science and technology, mechanical manufacturing and automation, robotics 
engineering and nursing and pharmacy. Based on our timely and extensive market research, the strong sensitivity in grasping the 
artificial intelligence (“AI”) era and the profound insight into the development of education, as well as the positive response 
to the structural changes and impacts of the utilization of AI development on the cultivation of applied talents, we carefully 
design and regularly review and adjust our program and course offerings at our Schools. We believe that our future-oriented 
and practical programs and curriculums will equip our students with competitiveness and practical skills that meet the rapidly 
evolving market demand and respond to the opportunities and challenges in the AI era. We also cooperate with a number of 
sizable enterprises to continuously promote the construction and upgrading of industrial colleges and provide our students with 
internship and potential employment opportunities and have achieved favorable graduate employment outcome for our students.
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Our Schools
As of 31 August 2024, our Group mainly operates four Schools in the PRC, including (i) JXIAS; (ii) Jishi College (comprising two 
campuses in Nanchang and Longnan, Jiangxi Province, the PRC); (iii) Guizhou College; and (iv) Chen Lin High School.

Jiangxi Institute of Applied Science and Technology (JXIAS)

JXIAS is a private university located in Nanchang, Jiangxi Province, the PRC. It was established in 2002 by our Chairman, Mr. 
Huang Yulin (黄玉林), and it offers undergraduate programs and junior college programs, as well as diverse education related 
services.

Jiangxi College of Arts and Sciences Technicians (Jishi College)

Jishi College is a private full-time vocational college (comprising two campuses in Nanchang and Longnan, Jiangxi Province, the 
PRC). It was established in November 2019 and offers vocational programs. It was acquired by our Group from an Independent 
Third Party in December 2020.

Guizhou Vocational College of Industry and Trade (Guizhou College)

Guizhou College is a private higher vocational college located in Bijie, Guizhou Province, the PRC. It was established in May 2015 
and offers vocational programs and junior college programs. It was acquired by our Group from an Independent Third Party in 
April 2021.

Zhengzhou Airport Economy Zone Chen Lin High School (Chen Lin High School)

Chen Lin High School is a private high school located in Zhengzhou, Henan Province, the PRC. It was established in 2017 and 
offers high school programs. It was acquired by our Group from an Independent Third Party in July 2021.

Our Education Services
We derived approximately 98.5% of revenue from our education services for the year ended 31 August 2024, which included 
tuition fees and boarding fees from our undergraduate programs, junior college programs, vocational programs and high school 
programs. For the year ended 31 August 2024, our revenue from tuition fees and boarding fees amounted to approximately 
RMB530.4 million and RMB60.3 million respectively, among which, the revenue from tuition fees represented a year-on-year 
increase of approximately 6.9%, and the revenue from boarding fees represented a year-on-year increase of approximately 5.6%.

Our Education Related Services
In addition to tuition fees and boarding fees, for the year ended 31 August 2024, we also generated income by providing a variety 
of education related services. Our education related services mainly include a variety of tutoring and program management 
services, including qualification exam review services, personal development training services and education program management 
services offered to enterprises and education institutions. For the year ended 31 August 2024, our revenue generated from 
education related services amounted to approximately RMB3.8 million, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 
5.3%.
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REGULATORY UPDATE
We have established a special committee (the “Special Committee”) to (i) pay close attention to the latest development of 
the relevant laws, regulations and policies on private education sector in the PRC (the “Relevant Rules”) and hold periodic 
meetings to discuss such development; (ii) where necessary, engage professional advisors, including PRC legal advisors to assist 
the Special Committee to understand the latest development of the Relevant Rules; and (iii) report and make recommendations 
to the Board for final decision based on the research reports and/or independent and professional advice as well as the Special 
Committee’s major findings and preliminary conclusions. As far as our Directors are aware, as of 31 August 2024 and up to the 
date of this report, there is no material regulatory updates in relation to the foreign investment in the education sector in the 
PRC that may affect the operation of the Group.

PRINCIPAL RISKS RELATING TO OUR BUSINESS
Save as other risks disclosed in this report, the following list is a summary of certain principal risks and uncertainties facing by the 
Group:

(i)	 our business is largely dependent on the market recognition of our brand and the reputation of our Schools and our 
Group; and

(ii)	 the level of tuition and boarding fees we are able to charge and our ability to maintain and raise the level of tuition and 
boarding fees are crucial to our business.
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OUTLOOK AND BUSINESS STRATEGIES
The private education sector in the PRC has been growing continuously in recent years, primarily driven by the increasing 
demand for private education, growing market demand for talents with practical skills, increasing diversification and strengthened 
education quality, as well as governmental support. In 2024, the number of registrations for the national college entrance 
examination exceeded 13 million, reflecting a continued increase as compared to the previous year. We believe that in 2025, the 
private education sector in the PRC will remain on a secular growth trend and there is significant potential with opportunities.

To achieve our goals, in 2025, we intend to pursue the following business strategies:

•	 Continue to connect with local governments and high-quality enterprises to build 
industrial colleges, enhance brand awareness and reputation, and expand business and 
school network
In order to benefit from and capture the growth opportunities in the private education industry in the PRC, we will 
continue to provide quality education and attract more talents to our Schools. As an important measure to enhance 
our education services, we will continue to build, renovate and upgrade the facilities and infrastructure of our existing 
campuses. Meanwhile, by virtue of our Schools’ key programs “electronic information engineering”, “mechanical design, 
manufacturing and automation” and provincial first-class program “e-commerce”, we will continue to closely align with the 
needs of the electronic information industry of the Municipal People’s Government of Longnan, Jiangxi Province (江西省
龍南市人民政府), Longnan Economic and Technological Development Zone (National) Management Committee (龍南
經濟技術開發區(國家級)管委會) and Longnan Electronic Information Industry Technology City (龍南電子資訊產業科
技城), co-operate with local outstanding enterprises and unify local leading enterprises in the electronic information and 
electromechanical component equipment manufacturing industry to establish the “Electronic Information Industry College 
of JXIAS (Longnan)” (江西應用科技學院電子資訊產業學院(龍南)). We will upgrade our selected “second batch of 
conducting projects for the construction and cultivation of modern industrial colleges for general undergraduate programs 
in Jiangxi Province” (第二批中國江西省普通本科高校現代產業學院立項建設培育項目) to a provincial key project. 
We will actively co-operate with local governments to connect with high-quality enterprises to expand the scale of joint 
construction of industrial colleges.
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•	 Continue to optimise our program and course offerings in order to enhance the 
competitiveness of our students
As an education service provider, the quality and scope of the programs and course offerings are crucial for our Schools 
in providing high-quality education services. We intend to improve our education quality, expand the scale of our business 
operations and diversify our revenue source primarily through optimising program offerings and curriculum settings (such 
as the increasing of AI general studies courses), strengthening school-enterprise collaboration (such as co-operating with AI 
industry enterprises to build virtual simulation teaching experiments and training bases, building an innovative collaborative 
education mechanism that organically integrates the education chain with the AI industry chain, and creating a high-level 
specialised AI talent cultivation and training bases) and international collaboration (such as the collaboration with certain 
universities in Malaysia, etc.), and developing online education courses.

•	 Further strengthen and increase the proportion of undergraduate program services
In order to meet the market demand for higher undergraduate education services as well as to continue improving our 
profitability, we plan to further strengthen and increase the proportion of undergraduate program services. We believe 
that with the ongoing construction, renovation and upgrading of the campus infrastructure at the Schools of the Group, the 
further enhancement of the quality and internal development of JXIAS, and the development and cultivation of Guizhou 
College for upgrading to an undergraduate institution in accordance with our plan. We will continue to strengthen and 
increase the proportion of undergraduate program services, which helps boost our brand awareness, broaden our revenue 
base and improve profitability.

•	 Continue to attract, cultivate and retain talented teachers and other professionals
We believe that hiring, retaining and cultivating outstanding teachers is crucial in providing quality education to students. 
We intend to continue attracting, cultivating and retaining teachers with professional expertise, teaching experience and/
or working experience in relevant fields. To achieve this goal, we will continue applying high standards in our recruitment 
of teachers, and target applicants who have postgraduate degree or have extensive work experience in relevant field. We 
plan to expand our faculty team with more “double qualification teachers”, experienced technical experts, well-recognized 
business administrators, and other personnel with expertise who are qualified to deliver skill-focused curriculums at our 
Schools on either full-time or part-time basis. In addition, we also intend to hire professors, academicians, etc. from other 
education institutions with experience to serve in academic leadership roles at our Schools.

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Board resolved not to recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 August 2024.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
The following table sets forth key items of the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 August 2024, with comparative information for the year ended 31 August 2023.

For the year ended
31 August

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Revenue 599,452 563,330
Cost of revenue (411,093) (334,861)
Other income 44,427 36,434
Other expenses (2,765) (3,124)
Other gains/(losses), net 28,556 (2,927)
Net impairment losses on financial assets (680) (394)
Selling expenses (5,324) (14,071)
Administrative expenses (138,133) (133,480)
Finance costs, net (98,036) (77,651)
Profit before income tax 16,404 33,256
Income tax (expense)/credit (1,037) 417
Profit for the year 15,367 33,673
EBITDA (Note (i)) 235,172 224,557

Note:

(i)	 Non-IFRS Measures

To supplement the Group’s consolidated financial statements which are presented in accordance with the IFRS, the Company also uses EBITDA as additional financial 

measures, which is not required by, or presented in accordance with the IFRS. The Company believes that the non-IFRS measures facilitate comparisons of operating 

performance from period to period and company to company by eliminating potential impacts of items that the management do not consider to be indicative of 

the Group’s operating performance. The Company believes that the non-IFRS measures provide useful information to both the management, the Shareholders and 

potential investors in understanding and evaluating the Group’s consolidated results of operations. However, the Company’s presentation of such adjusted figures may 

not be comparable to a similarly titled measure presented by other companies. The use of the non-IFRS measures have limitations as an analytical tool, and you should 

not consider it in isolation from, or as substitute for analysis of, the Company’s results of operations or financial condition as reported under IFRS. A reconciliation of 

profit before income tax to EBITDA is set out as below:

For the year ended 31 August

2024 2023

(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
   

Profit before income tax 16,404 33,256

Add:	 Finance costs 98,404 78,211

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 98,437 84,588

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 20,525 20,117

Amortisation of intangible assets and prepaid lease payments 1,402 8,385
   

EBITDA 235,172 224,557
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Revenue
For the year ended 31 August 2024, the revenue of the Group amounted to RMB599.5 million, representing an increase of 6.4% 
as compared with the year ended 31 August 2023. The increase in revenue was mainly driven by the increase in the number of 
students and average income in higher vocational education institutions and high schools.

Cost of Revenue
Our cost of revenue primarily consisted of employee costs, depreciation and amortization expenses, education and teaching 
operating expenses including students’ activities and training expenses, electricity and water expenses, repair and maintenance and 
others. For the year ended 31 August 2024, the cost of revenue of the Group amounted to approximately RMB411.1 million, 
representing an increase of 22.8% as compared with the year ended 31 August 2023. The increase in cost of revenue was mainly 
attributable to (i) in order to further attract, cultivate and retain talented teachers and other professionals, and to continue to 
enhance the ratio of teaching resources, the Group’s employee costs for the year ended 31 August 2024 increased as compared 
to the year ended 31 August 2023; and (ii) in order to further improve the quality of education services, the Group’s education 
operation expenses for the year ended 31 August 2024, including expenditures on student activities and training, increased as 
compared to the year ended 31 August 2023.

Gross Profit
Our gross profit was approximately RMB188.4 million for the year ended 31 August 2024, representing a decrease of RMB40.1 
million as compared with the year ended 31 August 2023, which was mainly attributable to the fact that the increase in cost 
of revenue exceeded the increase in revenue for the year ended 31 August 2024, which resulted from the Group’s increased 
investments in teaching resources and further upgrading of education services, with the aim to better serve the existing students, 
and to attract and serve the new students.

Other Income
Other income primarily included government grants, sub-contracting income, management service fee related our Schools’ 
campus and others during the year ended 31 August 2024. For the year ended 31 August 2024, the Group’s other income 
amounted to approximately RMB44.4 million, representing an increase of approximately 21.9% as compared with the year ended 
31 August 2023. The increase in other income was mainly attributable to the increase in income related to government subsidies.

Expenses
Other Expenses

Other expenses primarily consisted of employee benefit expenses, promotion expenses, self-operating canteen expenses, 
depreciation and amortisation expenses. Our other expenses amounted to approximately RMB2.8 million, representing a 
decrease of approximately 11.5% as compared with the year ended 31 August 2023.

Other gains/(losses), net

Our other gains/(losses), net primarily consisted of net fair value (losses)/gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss, donations, net foreign exchange losses, loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, write-back of other payable, gains 
from lawsuit claims and others. For the year ended 31 August 2024, our other gains, net amounted to approximately RMB28.6 
million, mainly including RMB22.3 million in gains from lawsuit claims of an acquired subsidiary initiated prior to acquisition by 
the Group recognized during the year, as compared with other losses, net amounted to RMB2.9 million for the year ended 31 
August 2023, mainly including donation expenses.
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Internal control and investment policy in relation to financial assets

The Group’s investment in financial assets was mainly the result of its cash management objective to improve returns on its 
available capital including cash and undistributed profits. Subject to approval of the Board, the Group may make short-term 
investments on equities, bonds, funds and derivatives products which can be readily realized within one year. The Group has 
established internal procedures in relation to investments in financial assets, which include, among others, (i) investment in 
financial assets must be fully discussed by the Directors and approved by at least two-third of the votes in a Board meeting; (ii) 
the Group may only use idle funds or spare cash to purchase financial products, and such investment shall not affect its operation 
activities and investment in relation to our main scope of business; (iii) financial instruments provided by sizable and reputable 
licenced commercial banks are preferred; (iv) futures trading is prohibited unless with prior written approval by the Board; and 
(v) the Group must conduct regular review of investments of financial products and the Group’s finance team is in charge of the 
review and risk assessment of financial products with reference to the Group’s financial condition, cash position, operating cash 
requirements, as well as changes in interest rates. In the event of significant fluctuations in the financial assets, the Group’s finance 
team shall conduct analysis in a timely manner and provide the relevant information to the Board.

Net Impairment Losses on Financial Assets

Our net impairment losses on financial assets primarily represented impairment of trade receivables and other receivables. For 
the year ended 31 August 2024, our net impairment losses on financial assets amounted to approximately RMB0.7 million. For 
the year ended 31 August 2023, our net impairment losses on financial assets amounted to approximately RMB0.4 million.

Selling Expenses

Our selling expenses primarily consisted of promotion expenses, travelling and office expenses, and others which mainly 
included costs incurred for promotional materials in connection with student recruitments. Our selling expenses amounted to 
approximately RMB5.3 million for the year ended 31 August 2024, representing a decrease of approximately 62.2% as compared 
with the year ended 31 August 2023. The decrease in selling expenses was mainly due to the Group’s control over the budget 
of the relevant selling expenses.
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Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses primarily consisted of (i) employee benefit expenses for our administrative staff, (ii) depreciation 
and amortisation expenses for administrative facilities, (iii) professional service fees, (iv) repair and maintenance expenses for 
administrative facilities, and (v) general office expenses mainly including office expenses and transportation expenses, and other 
expenses of similar nature. For the year ended 31 August 2024, our administrative expenses amounted to approximately 
RMB138.1 million, representing a slight increase of approximately 3.5% as compared with the year ended 31 August 2023.

Finance Costs, Net

Our finance costs, net reflected the sum of interest expenses we paid on bank borrowings and other borrowings from financial 
institutions after netting off the interest income we received from cash and cash equivalents. Our finance costs, net amounted 
to approximately RMB98.0 million for the year ended 31 August 2024, representing an increase of approximately 26.3% as 
compared with the year ended 31 August 2023. The increase in finance costs, net was consistent with the increase in borrowings 
for the construction and improvement of relevant institutional infrastructures to enhance students’ learning and living experience.

Income Tax Expense

For the year ended 31 August 2024, our income tax expense primarily consisted of PRC Enterprise Income Tax. The Group 
had income tax expense of approximately RMB1.0 million for the year ended 31 August 2024, as compared with income tax 
credit of approximately RMB0.4 million for the year ended 31 August 2023. The Group recorded income tax expense instead of 
income tax credit during the year ended 31 August 2024, primarily due to the recognition of deferred income tax assets for the 
year ended 31 August 2023. A reversal of deferred income tax assets was recorded during the year ended 31 August 2024.

Profit for the Year
Based on the above, we recorded profit amounted to approximately RMB15.4 million for the year ended 31 August 2024, as 
compared with profit for the year of approximately RMB33.7 million for the year ended 31 August 2023.

EBITDA
For the year ended 31 August 2024, the Group’s EBITDA amounted to approximately RMB235.2 million, representing an 
increase of approximately RMB10.6 million as compared with RMB224.6 million for the year ended 31 August 2023. Such 

increase was mainly attributable to the increase in our Group’s revenue from operations.
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Financial Positions
As at 31 August 2024, our total equity was approximately RMB860.7 million, as compared with approximately RMB845.4 million 
as at 31 August 2023. The increase in total equity was mainly attributable to the increases in retained earnings.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our primary uses of cash are to fund our working capital requirement, loan repayment and related interest expenses. We have 
funded our operations principally with the cash generated from our operations and borrowings.

As at 31 August 2024, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately RMB288.0 million, as compared with approximately 
RMB374.6 million as at 31 August 2023. Such decrease in cash and cash equivalents was mainly attributable to the payment of 
operating capital inputs, payment of construction works of the Schools and payment of interest expenses, etc.

As at 31 August 2024, our current assets were approximately RMB390.4 million, as compared with approximately RMB487.0 
million as at 31 August 2023. The decrease in current assets was mainly attributable to the decrease in balance of cash and cash 
equivalents.

Our total borrowings increased from approximately RMB2,052.0 million as at 31 August 2023 to approximately RMB2,418.1 
million as at 31 August 2024. As at 31 August 2024, all our borrowings were denominated in RMB, among which approximately 
RMB841.1 million are repayable within one year and approximately RMB1,577.0 million are payable after one year.

Internal control and policy in relation to liquidity and capital resources
The Group’s finance department is responsible for financial control, accounting, reporting, group credit and internal control 
function of the Group. In addition, the Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and supervising the Group’s financial 
reporting process and internal control system. The Group closely monitors the level of its working capital, particularly in view 
of its strategies to continue expanding the Schools and the scope of its education related services. The Group’s working capital 
requirements depend on a number of factors, including but not limited to, operating income, the scale of Schools, maintaining 
and upgrading the premises of the Schools, purchasing additional educational facilities and equipment for Schools, expanding 
scope of education related services, and hiring additional teachers and staff. In addition, the Group closely monitor its available 
cash reserve and maturity profile of existing debt obligations, and if required, it may borrow additional loans or utilize its existing 
banking facilities to satisfy unexpected capital needs.
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Gearing Ratio
As at 31 August 2024, our gearing ratio, which is calculated as net debt divided by total equity, was approximately 261.2%, as 
compared with approximately 212.5% as at 31 August 2023. The increase in gearing ratio was mainly attributable to the increase 
in loans for the construction and improvement of relevant institutional infrastructures to enhance students’ learning and living 
experience.

Capital Expenditure
Our capital expenditures during the year ended 31 August 2024 amounted to approximately RMB542.0 million, which was 
primarily used for purchase and construction of property, plant and equipment.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment of the Group as at 31 August 2024 increased to approximately RMB3,230.6 million from 
approximately RMB2,786.8 million as at 31 August 2023. The increase in property, plant and equipment was mainly attributable 
to the construction of new buildings and related facilities on campus.

CHARGE ON ASSETS
The Group’s long-term and short-term bank borrowings of RMB1,254,937,000 (31 August 2023: RMB798,905,000), long-term 
borrowings from a financial institution of RMB47,007,000 (31 August 2023: RMB71,355,000) and borrowings under finance lease 
arrangement of nil (31 August 2023: RMB53,709,000) were secured by the pledge of the rights over the collection of tuition fees 
and boarding fees of the Group’s Schools.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other material charge on the Group’s assets as at 31 August 2024.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, GUARANTEES AND LITIGATIONS
Save as disclosed in this report, we did not have any unrecorded significant contingent liabilities or guarantees or any material 
litigation against us as at 31 August 2024 and up to the date of this report.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS AND ARRANGEMENTS
As at the date of this report, the Group has not entered into any off-balance sheet transactions.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD
Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have other significant investments held as at 31 August 2024 and up to the 
date of this report.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED 
COMPANIES
Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and associated 
companies during the year ended 31 August 2024 and up to the date of this report.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS
Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have other plans for material investments or capital assets.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK
The Group primarily operates its business in the PRC. The currency in which the Group denominates and settles substantially 
all of its transactions is RMB. Any depreciation of RMB would adversely affect the value of any dividends the Group pay to 
Shareholders outside of the PRC. The Group currently does not engage in any hedging activities designed or intended to manage 
foreign exchange rate risk. The Group will continue to monitor foreign exchange changes to best preserve the Group’s cash 
value.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
As at 31 August 2024, we had 2,574 full-time employees (as at 31 August 2023, we had 2,506 full-time employees), mostly 
based in Jiangxi Province, Guizhou Province and Henan Province of the PRC.

The remuneration of our employees is based on their performance, experiences, and market comparable analysis. In addition 
to salary, we also provide various incentives, including share-based compensation such as RSUs granted pursuant to the RSU 
Scheme as well as performance-based bonuses to better motivate our employees. As required by the PRC law, we contribute 
to housing funds and maintain mandatory social insurance plans for our employees based in the PRC, covering pension, medical, 
unemployment, work injury and maternity leave. The Group participates in a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF 
Scheme”) under the Rules and regulations of Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong 
Kong. For the year ended 31 August 2024, our employee remuneration totaled to approximately RMB252.3 million, as compared 
with RMB226.6 million for the year ended 31 August 2023.

We grant RSUs to our employees to incentivise them to contribute to our growth. As at 31 August 2024, RSUs in respect of 
26,094,700 underlying Shares, representing approximately 2.6% of the issued share capital of our Company as at 31 August 
2024, have been granted to 39 participants pursuant to the RSU Scheme. As of 31 August 2024, RSUs in respect of 26,094,700 
underlying Shares, have been vested.

The employees of the subsidiaries of the Group established in the PRC (other than Hong Kong) participate in defined 
contribution retirement benefit schemes managed by the local government authorities, whereby these subsidiaries are required 
to contribute to the schemes at a rate of 16% (for the year ended 31 August 2023: 16%) of the basic salary. Employees of these 
subsidiaries are entitled to retirement benefits, calculated based on a percentage of the average salaries level in the PRC (other 
than Hong Kong), from the abovementioned retirement schemes at their normal retirement age.
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The Group also participates in a pension scheme under the rules and regulations of the MPF Scheme for all its qualifying 
employees in Hong Kong. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make contributions of 5% 
of the employees’ relevant income to the MPF account. Contributions to the MPF Scheme shall vest immediately.

The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution schemes vest fully and immediately with the employees. Accordingly, (i) 
for the year ended 31 August 2024 and for the year ended 31 August 2023, there was no forfeiture of contributions under the 
defined contribution schemes; and (ii) there were no forfeited contributions available for the Group to reduce its existing level 
of contributions to the defined contribution schemes as at 31 August 2024. No forfeited contributions may be used if there is 
forfeited contributions.

The remuneration of Directors and members of senior management is determined on the basis of each individual’s 
responsibilities, qualification, position, experience, performance, seniority and time devoted to our business. They receive 
compensation in the form of salaries, performance-related bonus, RSUs, and other allowances and benefits-in-kind, including the 
Company’s contribution to their pension schemes on their behalf.

HUMAN RESOURCES 
We hire talents based on business development and operational needs, as well as candidates’ integrity and professionalism. Our 
talent selection policy does not only focus on professional knowledge, experience, relevant qualification, but also on candidates’ 
morality, professional ethics and discipline. We actively attract talents through participating in talent recruitment fairs and industry 
conference, and encouraging our staff in their respected departments to take advantage of social media to refer and recommend 
talented candidates to join us. 

ESG POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
The Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting employee benefits and development, protecting the 
environment and giving back to community and achieving sustainable growth. An environmental policy has been adopted by the 
Group for implementation of environmentally friendly measures and practices in the operation of the Group’s businesses. The 
Group adheres to the principle of recycling and reducing and implements green office practices, e.g. using recycled paper, setting 
up recycling bins, and double-sided printing and copying.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with the “comply or explain” provisions set out in the Environmental, 
Social and Governance (“ESG”) Reporting Guide contained in Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules. Information about the 
Company’s ESG policies and performance, compliance with relevant laws and regulations, the Company’s key relationship with 
its employees, customers and suppliers and others that have a significant impact on the Company and on which the Company’s 
success depends during the year are set out in the ESG report that will be published separately on the respective websites of the 
Stock Exchange and the Company.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Save as disclosed in this report, the Group had no material subsequent events which have not been reflected in the financial 
statement after 31 August 2024 and up to the date of this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high standards of corporate governance by focusing on principles of 
integrity, accountability, transparency, independence, responsibility and fairness. The Company has developed and implemented 
sound corporate governance policies and measures, and the Board is responsible for performing such corporate governance 
duties to fulfilling its responsibilities to its Shareholders and protecting and enhancing Shareholders’ value through good corporate 
governance. The Board will continue to review and monitor the corporate governance of the Company, as well as various 
internal policies and procedures, including but not limited to those applicable to employees and Directors, with reference to the 
CG Code and other applicable legal and regulatory requirements so as to maintain a high standard of corporate governance of 
the Company.

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its 
own code of corporate governance.

For the year ended 31 August 2024, the Company has complied with the CG Code and Listing Rules except for the following 
deviation:

According to code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be 
separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Huang Yulin is the Chairman and the CEO. The Board 
believes that having the same individual in both roles as the Chairman and the CEO ensures that the Group has consistent 
leadership and could make and implement the overall strategy of the Group more effectively. In addition, under the current 
composition of the Board, namely four executive Directors and four independent non-executive Directors, we believe that the 
interests of Shareholders are adequately and fairly represented. The Board considers that the present corporate governance 
arrangement does not impair the balance of power and authority within the Group.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board is responsible for leadership and the internal control of the Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic 
decisions and performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing and supervising 
its affairs. The Board has general powers for the management and is conducting the Company’s business. The day-to-day 
operations and management are delegated by the Board to the executive Directors and senior management of the Group, who 
will implement the strategy and direction as determined by the Board. They report periodically to the Board their work and 
business decisions.

The Board currently consists of eight Directors, namely Mr. Huang Yulin (Chairman and CEO), Mr. Liu Chunbin, Mr. Wang Li, 
Ms. Gan Tian as executive Directors and Mr. Sy Lai Yin, Sunny, Mr. Chen Wanlong, Mr. Huang Juyun and Mr. Wang Donglin 
as independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Huang Yulin is the father-in-law of Mr. Wang Li and the brother of Ms. Huang 
Wenxia. Other than that, none of the Directors had a relationship (including financial, family or other substantial or related 
relationship) with each other. The Board currently has four independent non-executive Directors and considers that they bring 
an independent view, balance of skills and experience appropriate for the decision making of the Board.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company regarding details of the other offices held by each Director, and that the Board will 
regularly review whether each Director has devoted sufficient time to the discharge of his or her duties and responsibilities and 
the contribution that he or she has made to the Company. 
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CULTURES AND VALUES
The Company firmly believes that our purpose, values and strategies are aligned with our culture. We remain steadfast in 
upholding our core values and education mode of “Three-element Talent Cultivation” talent development model which 
promotes holistic personality, comprehensive theoretical knowledge and practical abilities (三元育人之人才培養模式，提倡
健全人格，複合專業及實踐能力), and strive to cultivate innovative talents with practical skills and knowledge and to provide 
talent support for the development of urbanisation in China (為新型城鎮化建設與管理培養高層次、高技能、創新型和應
用型人才).

The Board strives to promote such culture by focusing on areas such as risk management and internal control, fair disclosure and 
accountability to all Shareholders and reiterate the value of acting lawfully, ethically and responsibly across the Group.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of three years and each of the 
independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of one year.

The service contracts and letters of appointment are subject to termination in accordance with their respective terms. The 
term of the service contracts and the letters of appointment may be renewed with recommendation from the Remuneration 
Committee and approved by the Board in accordance with the Listing Rules and other applicable laws.

According to Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, not less than one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire 
from office by rotation at every annual general meeting of the Company and the retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election. 
In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, Mr. Huang Yulin, Mr. Wang Li and Ms. Gan Tian shall retire by 
rotation at the 2025 AGM and, being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election as Directors thereat.

REMUNERATION POLICY 
The aggregate remuneration (including fees, salaries, contributions to pension schemes, share-based compensation expenses, 
discretionary bonuses, housing and other allowances and other benefits in kind) payable to the Directors for the Reporting 
Period was approximately RMB8.2 million.

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference to salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment 
and responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Group. Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior 
management for the Reporting Period are set out in notes 36 and 38 to the consolidated financial statements of this report 
respectively.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal proceedings against the Directors. The insurance 
coverage protect the Directors and the Company from potential financial losses associated with legal actions.

The procedure agreed by the Board to enable Directors, upon reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice in 
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense as required pursuant to code provision C.5.6 of Part 2 of the CG Code.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the Board at all times met the requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 
3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors, 
representing one-third of the Board, of whom Mr. Sy Lai Yin, Sunny possessing appropriate professional qualifications of 
accounting or related financial management expertise.
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Each independent non-executive Director should inform our Company as soon as possible if there is any change of circumstances 
which may affect his/her independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. No such notification was received during 
the Reporting Period. The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from each of the independent non-
executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the independent non-executive 
Directors are independent during the Reporting Period and as at the date of this report. 

The Company has established mechanisms to ensure that independent views and input are available to the Board, whereby 
independent non-executive Directors can express their opinions in an open and candid manner, and in a confidential manner, 
should circumstances require.

Independent non-executive Directors provide constructive suggestions to the Board based on objective judgment through formal 
and informal channels to improve the efficiency and decision-making of the Board. According to the rules and proceedings of the 
Board, the views of independent non-executive Directors shall be recorded separately for resolutions which require independent 
non-executive Directors to express their special views. If the views of independent non-executive Directors are inconsistent, 
their views shall be recorded respectively. For resolutions which are required to be disclosed, the views of the independent non-
executive Directors shall be disclosed separately.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the mechanism on an annual basis and is of the view that such 
mechanisms were effective during the Reporting Period.

COMPANY SECRETARY
The Directors have access to the services of an external service provider acting as the company secretary of the Company (the 
“Company Secretary”) to ensure that the Board procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is Ms. Yu Anne (“Ms. 
Yu”). In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Yu has undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional 
training during the Reporting Period. Ms. Yu has the necessary qualifications and experience as required under Rule 3.28 of the 
Listing Rules.

Pursuant to code provision C.6.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code, the Company has nominated Ms. She Hui, the CFO, as its contact 
person for Ms. Yu.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS
In pursuant to C.1.4 of Part 2 of the CG Code, all Directors shall participate in continuous professional development to develop 
and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that they keep abreast of the current requirements. Each newly appointed 
director will receive formal, comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure 
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and 
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

All Directors received training materials during the Reporting Period, including updates of the Listing Rules, the responsibilities 
and continuous obligations of Directors and the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide. The Company has also 
arranged suitable trainings for all Directors in order to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills as part of their continuous 
professional development during the Reporting Period. All Directors have provided to the Company a record of the training they 
received during the Reporting Period.
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Change in Directors’ and chief executive’s information pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the 
Listing Rules
Save as disclosed in the section headed “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management” in this report, for the year ended 31 
August 2024, there was no change to information since the publication of the last report, which is required to be disclosed 
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
In compliance with the requirement set out in Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, the Company has adopted a board diversity policy 
(the “Board Diversity Policy”) which sets out the objective and approach of which the Board could achieve and maintain a 
high level of diversity. The Company recognizes the benefits of having a diversified Board, as such it will ensure that members 
of the Board have the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives that are required to support 
the Group’s business strategies and sustainable development. Our Company seeks to achieve Board diversity by selection of 
candidates for the Board through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to the skills, knowledge, 
professional experience and qualifications, cultural and educational background, age, gender, ethnicity and length of service. All 
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard 
to the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee has conducted an annual review of the Board’s composition and the implementation of our Board 
Diversity Policy. Considering multiple measurable objectives including but not limited to skills, knowledge, professional experience 
and qualifications, cultural and educational background, age, gender, ethnicity and length of service, and it considered that board 
diversity was achieved. 

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group. The following table sets out the gender ratio in the 
workforce of the Group, including the Board and other employees as at 31 August 2024:

Female Male
   

Board 1 (12.5%) 7 (87.5%)
Other employees 1,370 (53.3%) 1,200 (46.7%)

The Board currently has one female Director and as such has achieved gender diversity in respect of the Board. We will 
continue to strive to enhance female representation and achieve an appropriate balance of gender diversity with reference to 
the Shareholders’ expectation and international and local recommended best practices. We will also ensure that there is gender 
diversity when recruiting staff at mid to senior level and we are committed to provide career development opportunities for 
female staff so that we will have a pipeline of female senior management and potential successors to our Board in near future.

The Company plans to offer all-rounded trainings to female employees whom we consider to have the suitable experience, skills 
and knowledge of our operation and business, including but not limited to, business operation, management, accounting and 
finance, legal and compliance and research and development.

The Nomination Committee is delegated to be responsible for compliance with relevant code governing board diversity under 
the CG Code. The Nomination Committee will continue to review the Board Diversity Policy at least annually to ensure that its 
continued effectiveness, and where necessary, will make revisions that may be required and recommend any such revision to the 
Board for consideration and approval.
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY
The Board has adopted a whistleblowing policy, the purpose of which is to (i) foster a culture of compliance, ethical behaviour 
and good corporate governance across the Group; and (ii) promote the importance of ethical behaviour and encourages the 
reporting of misconduct, unlawful and unethical behaviour. Our staff can anonymously report any suspected corrupt incident to 
the Company. 

No incident of fraud or misconduct that have material effect on the Group’s financial statements or overall operations during the 
Reporting Period has been discovered or identified. 

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY
The Group strictly adheres to the rules and regulations relating to anti-corruption and fraudulent behaviors set out by the 
relevant authorities. At the same time, the Group maintains a high standard of business integrity throughout its operations. We 
require our employees to follow our employee manual and code of business conduct and ethics, negligence and corruption. We 
also carry out regular on the job compliance training for our senior management and employees to maintain a healthy corporate 
culture and enhance their compliance perception and responsibility.

The anti-corruption policy is reviewed and updated by the Audit Committee from time to time in order to align with the 
applicable laws and regulations in relation thereto.

BOARD MEETINGS
The Company has adopted a practice to convene Board meetings regularly which is at least four meetings per year and roughly 
on a quarterly basis in accordance with C.5.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code. A notice of a regular Board meeting shall be delivered to 
all the Directors at least 14 days in advance with the matters to be discussed specified in agenda of the meeting. For other Board 
and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally served. Agendas or relevant documents of the Board or committee 
meetings shall be despatched to the Directors or members of the committees at least three days prior to the convening of the 
meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the relevant documents and be adequately prepared for the meetings. 
When Directors or committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and 
given an opportunity to make their views known to the Chairman prior to the meeting. The minutes of the meetings are kept by 
the company secretary of the Company.

The minutes of the meetings of the Board and committees thoroughly record all significant matters under consideration and 
decisions made, including any concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and committee meeting 
are sent to the Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held and the copies 
are circulated to all Directors for reference and record purpose. All Directors have a right to review the minutes of the Board 
meetings and the committee meetings.
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The composition of the Board and their respective attendance at the Board meetings and Board committee meetings convened 
during the Reporting Period, as well as at the annual general meeting held on Monday, 19 February 2024, are as follows:

No. of meetings attended/held

Board
Meetings

Audit
Committee

Meetings

Remuneration
Committee

Meeting

Nomination
Committee

Meeting

Annual
General
Meeting

      

Executive Directors
Mr. Huang Yulin
  (Chairman and CEO) 6/6 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
Mr. Yang Ruichen (1) 5/6 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
Mr. Liu Chunbin 6/6 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
Mr. Wang Li 6/6 N/A 2/2 N/A 1/1
Ms. Gan Tian 6/6 N/A N/A 1/1 1/1
Mr. Wang Shenghua (2) 4/6 N/A N/A N/A 0/0

Non Executive Director
Mr. Li Cunyi (3) 4/6 N/A 1/2 1/1 0/0

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Sy Lai Yin Sunny 6/6 3/3 2/2 N/A 1/1
Mr. Chen Wanlong 6/6 3/3 2/2 1/1 1/1
Mr. Huang Juyun 6/6 3/3 2/2 1/1 1/1
Mr. Wang Donglin 6/6 3/3 N/A 1/1 1/1

Notes:

(1)	 Mr. Yang Ruichen resigned as an executive Director on 29 February 2024.

(2)	 Mr. Wang Shenghua resigned as an executive Director on 31 January 2024.

(3)	 Mr. Li Cunyi resigned as a non-executive Director on 31 January 2024.

During the Reporting Period, six Board meetings were held to consider and approve among others, including (i) the annual 
results of the Group for the year ended 31 August 2023; (ii) interim results of the Group for the six months ended 28 February 
2024; and (iii) the resignations of Directors on 31 January 2024 and 29 February 2024, respectively.

According to code provision C.2.7 of Part 2 of the CG Code, the Chairman held one meeting with the independent non-
executive Directors without the presence of other Directors during the Reporting Period.

Mr. Huang Yulin is the father-in-law of Mr. Wang Li. Save as disclosed, none of the members of the Board is related to one 
another.
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GENERAL MEETING
General meeting proceedings are reviewed from time to time to ensure that the Company follows best corporate governance 
practices. The notice of annual general meeting is distributed to all Shareholders at least 21 days prior to the annual general 
meeting and the accompanying circular also sets out details of each proposed resolution and other relevant information 
as required under the Listing Rules. The chairman of the annual general meeting exercises his power under the Articles of 
Association to put each proposed resolution to the vote by way of a poll. The procedures for demanding and conducting a poll 
are explained at the beginning of the meeting. The announcement of the poll results of the general meeting will be published on 
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively on the same date of the annual general meeting.

During the Reporting Period, one annual general meeting was held on Monday, 19 February 2024. All Directors who held 
directorship at the relevant time had participated in the annual general meeting.

The forthcoming 2025 AGM is scheduled to be held on Tuesday, 25 February 2025. The notice of the 2025 AGM will be sent to 
the Shareholders at least 21 days in advance.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Company has three Board committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination 
Committee. Each of the Board committees operates under its terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board 
committees are available on the websites of the Company and that of the Stock Exchange, respectively.

Audit Committee
The Company has established an Audit Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing 
Rules and D.3 of Part 2 of the CG Code. The Audit Committee consists of four members, namely Mr. Sy Lai Yin, Sunny, Mr. 
Huang Juyun, Mr. Chen Wanlong and Mr. Wang Donglin, all being our independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Sy Lai Yin, 
Sunny with appropriate qualifications as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules is the chairman of the Audit 
Committee. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise, and provide an independent view of 
the effectiveness of, the financial reporting process, the risk management and internal control systems of the Group, review 
and monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with 
applicable standards and perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board from time to time.

Three Audit Committee meetings were held during the Reporting Period in accordance to code provision D.3.3(e)(i) of Part 2 of 
the CG Code and the terms of reference of the Audit Committee, to review the annual results of the Group for the year ended 
31 August 2023 and the interim results of the Group for the six months ended 28 February 2024. All members of the Audit 
Committee as at the respective meeting dates had participated in the above meetings.

The Audit Committee has also held two meetings with the external auditors of the Company during the Reporting Period.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the financial reporting system, compliance procedures, internal control and risk management 
systems of the Group, the independence, objectivity and effectiveness, scope of work and re-appointment of the external auditor 
of the Company, continuing connected transactions, anti-corruption and whistleblowing policy of the Company for the Reporting 
Period.
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Remuneration Committee
The Company has established a Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 
of the Listing Rules and E.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee has four members, comprising three 
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen Wanlong, Mr. Huang Juyun and Mr. Sy Lai Yin, Sunny, and one executive 
Director, being Mr. Wang Li. Mr. Chen Wanlong is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The primary duties of the 
Remuneration Committee are to establish and review the policy and structure of the remuneration packages for the Directors 
(including the director’s fees of the independent non-executive Directors) and senior management, make recommendations 
to the Board on employee benefit arrangements, including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments (e.g. 
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment), and reviewing and approving matters relating to 
the share scheme of the Company in accordance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Two meetings of the Remuneration Committee were held during the Reporting Period to review the remuneration policy and 
structure and to make recommendations to the Board on determining the annual remuneration packages of the Directors and 
the senior management and other related matters. All members of the Remuneration Committee as at the respective meeting 
dates had participated in the above meetings.

No material matters relating to the RSU Scheme was reviewed and/or approved by the Remuneration Committee during the 
Reporting Period.

Details of the remuneration payable to each Director for the Reporting Period are set out in note 38 to the consolidated 
financial statements of this Annual Report.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management (excluding Directors) by band for the Reporting Period is set out 
below:

Number of 
individuals

  

Remuneration bands
Nil to HKD500,000 1
HKD500,001 to HKD1,000,000 2
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1

Nomination Committee
The Company has established a Nomination Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.27A of 
the Listing Rules and B.3 of Part 2 of the CG Code. The Nomination Committee consists of three independent non-executive 
Directors, being Mr. Huang Juyun, Mr. Wang Donglin and Mr. Chen Wanlong, and one executive Director, being Ms. Gan Tian. 
Mr. Huang Juyun is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing and assessing the structure, size, composition (including the skills, 
knowledge and experience) and diversity of the Board at least annually and the independence of the independent non-executive 
Directors and making recommendations to the Board on appointment and removal of Directors. In recommending candidates 
for appointment to the Board, the Nomination Committee will consider candidates on merit against objective criteria and with 
due regards to the benefits of diversity on the Board in accordance with the board diversity policy adopted by the Company. 
Diversity of the Board will be considered from a number of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and 
educational background, industry experience, technical and professional skills and/or qualifications, knowledge, length of services 
and time to be devoted as a Director. The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own business model and 
specific needs from time to time. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will 
bring to the Board.

One meeting of the Nomination Committee was held during the Reporting Period to review the structure, size, composition 
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) and diversity of the Board, assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors and recommend the Board on the re-election of Directors. All members of the Nomination Committee as 
at the respective meeting dates had participated in the above meetings.

Corporate Governance Function
The Board is responsible for performing the functions as set out in A.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code.

The Board would review the Company’s corporate governance policies, training and continuous professional development of the 
Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, 
and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in its Corporate Governance Report.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and 
skills. The company secretary of the Company may from time to time and as the circumstances require provide updated written 
training materials relating to the roles, functions and duties of a director of a company listed on the Stock Exchange.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding 
securities transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code 
throughout the year ended 31 August 2024.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION
The Company has in place a policy on handling and dissemination of inside information which sets out the procedures and 
internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside information in a timely manner in such a way so as not to place any 
person in a privileged dealing position and to allow time for the market to determine the price of the listed securities of the 
Company with the latest available information. This policy also provides guidelines to staff of the Company to ensure proper 
safeguards exist to prevent the Company from breaching the statutory disclosure requirements. It also includes appropriate 
internal control and reporting systems to identify and assess potential inside information. Dissemination of inside information 
of the Company shall be conducted by publishing the relevant information on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the 
Company, according to the requirements of the Listing Rules and Part XIVA of the Inside Information Provision under the SFO.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
For the Reporting Period, the fees paid/payable to BDO Limited for audit services amounted to approximately RMB2.58 million.

For the Reporting Period, the Company did not engage its auditor to provide non-audit services.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for overseeing the preparation of the consolidated financial statements which 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flows during the Reporting Period. 
A statement from the auditor about its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements for the Reporting 
Period is set out on pages 60 to 66 of this report. In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period, 
the Directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgments and estimated that are 
prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt 
upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The basis on which the Company generates or preserves value over the longer term and the strategy for delivering its objectives 
are explained in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 16 to 28 of this report.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board acknowledges its responsibility for maintaining a sound and effective risk management and internal control systems 
and reviewing their effectiveness. The Group’s internal control system is designed to safeguard assets against misappropriation 
and unauthorized disposition and to manage operational risks. Review of the Group’s internal controls covering major financial, 
operational and compliance controls, as well as risk management functions is conducted on an annual basis. The controls built 
into the risk management system are intended to manage significant risks rather than eliminate the risk of failure in the Group’s 
business and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board is primarily in charge of managing the overall risks of our Group. Significant business decision that involves material 
risk exposures, such as expansion of the school network into new geographic areas and to enter into cooperative business 
relationships with third parties to establish new schools, are subject to assessment and approval of the Board.

The Audit Committee is delegated with the responsibility to review the financial controls, risk management and internal control 
systems of the Group at least annually, to consider any major investigation findings on risk management and internal control 
matters and the response of the management to such findings. The Audit Committee also reviews the external independent 
auditor’s management letter, any material queries raised by the auditor about accounting records, financial accounts or systems 
of control and management’s response. The Audit Committee reports to the Board on the matters considered by the Audit 
Committee and its recommendations to the Board.

The Company has its own internal audit function in accordance with D.2.5 of Part 2 of the CG Code, and has undertaken a 
review on the internal control systems of the Company for the Reporting Period, which primarily carries out the analysis and 
independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group and 
reports their findings to the Audit Committee and the Board. The Group’s finance department is responsible for the internal 
control function of the Group.
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The Group’s internal control system includes a well-established organizational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility 
and authority. The Schools are managed on a day-to-day basis by its president, who is assisted by several vice presidents 
responsible for one or more specific aspects of the Schools’ operations. The board of directors of the Schools are responsible 
for the overall management and decisions on matters that are significant to the Schools. The board of directors, president 
and vice presidents of the Schools are required to manage the operation of the Schools within the scope of the delegated 
authority and to implement and strictly adhere to the strategies and policies set by the Company from time to time. They are 
also required to keep the executive Directors informed of the material development and to report on the implementation of 
the policies and strategies set by the Company on a regular basis. The Schools have also designated the relevant personnel who 
will be responsible for monitoring the ongoing compliance with the relevant PRC laws and regulations that govern the business 
operations and overseeing the implementation of any necessary measures.

The Group has formulated internal control system manuals on corporate governance, operations, management, legal matters, finance 
and auditing setting out the internal approval and review procedures pursuant to which our employees are mandated to comply 
with. The Group has also established a set of policies and procedures for property purchase and leasing arrangement and maintains 
insurance coverage which is in line with customary practice in the PRC education industry, including school liability insurance.

The Company is committed to build up an effective internal control and risk management systems to monitor the on-going 
compliance with the Listing Rules. Additional personnel with professional experience and qualifications will be hired where 
necessary to support the expansion of our business operation. The Company will also engage external professional advisers to 
provide professional advice and guidance to our Group and to provide internal trainings to ensure our Directors and employees 
are kept up-to-date on any legal and regulatory developments.

The Group regulates the handling and dissemination of inside information according to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside 
Information” published by the Securities and Future Commission in June 2012 to ensure inside information remains confidential 
until the disclosure of such information is appropriately approved, and the dissemination of such information is efficiently and 
consistently made. The Company regularly reminds the Directors and employees about due compliance with all policies regarding 
the inside information.

The Company is committed to continuously reviewing and improving its internal systems, including those in relation to internal 
supervision and control and risk management. 

The Board has conducted a review on the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems of the Group during 
the Reporting Period. Such review cover all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk 
management functions. The Board considers that the risk management and internal control systems are effective and adequate 
during the Reporting Period. The Board will continue to evaluate the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, 
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal control and financial reporting functions in the future.

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION POLICY
As part of its regular review, the Board has reviewed the Shareholders’ Communication Policy for the Reporting Period and is of 
the view that the Policy is effective and adequately implemented.

The Company has set up an effective communication channel with investors. It carries out investor relationship maintenance 
work under the principles of openness and fairness and with a proactive attitude while conforming to the rules. During the 
Reporting Period, the Company disclosed information truly, accurately, completely and timely according to the laws, regulations 
and regulatory requirements via corporate communications, the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange and general 
meeting in which Shareholders can meet the Directors to ensure that investors would know the important matters of the 
Company in a timely manner, thus protecting the investors’ interests to the greatest extent.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Pursuant to the Articles of Association, general meetings of the Company 
shall also be convened on the written requisition of any one or more members of the Company deposited at the principal 
office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office 
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists.

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is proposed for each substantially separate issue at general 
meetings, including the election of individual Directors. All resolutions put forward at general meetings of the Company will be 
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be published on the websites of the Company and that of the 
Stock Exchange after each general meeting. Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director 
are published on the Company’s website.

Under Article 64 of the Articles of Association, any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of the 
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the 
Company may at all times have the right, by a written requisition to the Board or the joint company secretaries of the Company, 
to require the convening of an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business 
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If, within 21 
days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so 
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be 
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

The Board is not aware of any provisions allowing the Shareholders to put forward proposals at general meetings of the 
Company under the Articles of Association and the Companies Act (as revised and amended from time to time). Shareholders 
who wish to put forward proposals at general meetings of the Company may refer to the preceding paragraph to make a written 
requisition to require the convening of an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company as follows:

Address: No. 001, Xinjian Lianfu Dadao, Nanchang, Jiangxi, PRC

Attn. : The Board of Directors

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
There was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents during the Reporting Period. The latest version of the 
Articles of Association is available on the Company’s website (https://www.chenlin-edu.com ) and the Stock Exchange’s website 
(https://www.hkexnews.hk ), respectively. 
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The Board is pleased to present this report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the 
Reporting Period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
We are one of the leading providers of private comprehensive education services in Jiangxi Province, the PRC, with years of 
experience in the private comprehensive education service industry, being an education group specializing in full-system applied 
undergraduate education, vocational education and quality high school education. As at 31 August 2024, we operate four 
Schools, namely, (i) JXIAS, a private university located in Jiangxi Province, the PRC; (ii) Jishi College, a private full-time vocational 
college located in Jiangxi Province, the PRC, comprising two campuses located in Nanchang and Longnan, Jiangxi Province, the 
PRC; (iii) Guizhou College, a private higher vocational college located in Guizhou Province, the PRC; and (iv) Chen Lin High 
School, a private high school located in Henan Province, the PRC.

We offer undergraduate programs, junior college programs, vocational programs and high school programs, as well as diverse 
education related services. As at 31 August 2024, our four Schools had over 30,000 enrolled students. We also provide a variety 
of education related services, including internship management services, as well as tutoring and program management services to 
enterprises and education institutions.

The Company is the holding company of our Group and was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 25 May 2018. The principal 
activities and particulars of our Company are shown under note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the 
Group’s revenue and operating profit for the Reporting Period by principal activities is set out in the section headed “Management 
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report and note 6 to the consolidated financial statement.

BUSINESS REVIEW
A review of the Group’s business for the year ended 31 August 2024, which includes a discussion of the principal challenges and 
uncertainties faced by the Group, an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key performance indicators, particulars of 
important events affecting the Group during the Reporting Period, and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s 
business, could be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this 
annual report. The review and discussion form part of this directors’ report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
The Group has engaged professional service firms for advices regarding compliance matters with various jurisdictions which the 
Group’s subsidiaries operate, and has kept a close watch on any new laws or regulatory changes.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations 
that have a significant impact on the Company in material respects.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDEND
The consolidation results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out on pages 67 to 71 of this report. The Board does 
not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Reporting Period.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS
The 2025 AGM is scheduled to be held on Tuesday, 25 February 2025. In order to ascertain Shareholder’s entitlement to 
attend and vote at the 2025 AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 20 February 2025 to 
Tuesday, 25 February 2025, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In 
order to qualify for attending and voting at the 2025 AGM, all properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant 
share certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Computershare Hong 
Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712–1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong 
Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 19 February 2025.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A five year summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and total equity of the Group for the year ended 31 December 
2020, the eight months ended 31 August 2021, the two years ended 31 August 2022 and 2023, as well as the Reporting Period, 
is set out on page 8 of this report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note 15 to 
the consolidated financial statements of this report.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the Reporting Period are set out in note 24 to the consolidated 
financial statements of this report.

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Details of the movement in the capital and reserves of the Group and of the Company during the Reporting Period are set 
out in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in equity of this report and in notes 25 and 26 to the consolidated financial 
statements of this annual report.

As at 31 August 2024, the Company’s share premium available for distribution to Shareholders amounted to approximately 
RMB433.8 million (31 August 2023: RMB433.8 million).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS 
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association, or the Companies Act, which would oblige the 
Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.
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DIRECTORS
The Board consists of the following Directors as at the date of this report:

Executive Directors
Mr. Huang Yulin (Chairman and CEO)
Mr. Liu Chunbin
Mr. Wang Li
Ms. Gan Tian

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Sy Lai Yin, Sunny
Mr. Chen Wanlong
Mr. Huang Juyun
Mr. Wang Donglin

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management as at the date of this report are set out on pages 11 to 15 in 
the section headed “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management” to this report.

In order to take advantage of the skills, experiences and diversity of perspectives of the Directors and in order to ensure that the 
Directors give sufficient time and attention to the Group’s affairs, the Company has requested each of the Directors to disclose 
to the Company, the number and the nature of their offices held in public companies and other significant commitments.

Directors’ service contract
Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of three years and each of the 
independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of one year.

The service contracts and letters of appointment are subject to termination in accordance with their respective terms. The term 
of the service contracts and letters of appointment are subject to the review by the Remuneration Committee and the Board in 
accordance with the Listing Rules and other applicable laws.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors (including the Directors proposed for re-election at the 2025 AGM) have a 
service contract/service agreement with members of the Group that is not determinable by the Group within one year without 
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE
During the year ended 31 August 2024, save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Non-exempt Continuing Connected 
Transactions” below in this report, no contract of significance was entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries 
and the controlling shareholders of the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the Reporting Period or subsisted at the end 
of the Reporting Period and no contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by 
a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries was entered into during the Reporting Period or subsisted at 
the end of the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF 
SIGNIFICANCE 
Other than disclosed in this report, no transaction, arrangement and contract of significance to the business of the Group which 
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or any entity connected with such a Director had a 
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of or at any time during the Reporting Period.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The emoluments of the Directors and senior management are decided by the Board with reference to the recommendation 
given by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and comparable 
market statistics.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in note 38 and 
note 10, respectively, to the consolidated financial statements of this report.

For the Reporting Period, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any Directors or any of the five highest paid individuals as 
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors had waived any 
emoluments for the Reporting Period.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments had been made or were payable, for the Reporting Period, by our Group to or 
on behalf of any of the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS 
None of the Directors or their respective close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business that 
competed or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, which would require disclosure 
under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules, other than being a Director and/or its subsidiaries during the Reporting Period.

The independent non-executive Directors confirmed that they have reviewed the information provided by the controlling 
shareholders and were satisfied that there were no conflict of interests between the Group and the controlling shareholders 
throughout the Reporting Period.
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NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Contractual Arrangements
Background

We have entered into a number of Contractual Agreements with our Consolidated Affiliated Entities in our ordinary and usual 
course of business, which constitute continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

We currently conduct our private education and vocational education business through our Consolidated Affiliated Entities 
in the PRC. In the PRC, private education is subject to certain foreign ownership restrictions. Under applicable laws and 
regulations, foreign-invested education institutions offering higher education and vocational education must be operated in the 
form of Sino-foreign cooperation, and the applicable PRC laws and regulations also impose certain qualification requirements 
(the “Qualification Requirements”) on the foreign investors of Sino-foreign joint venture private schools. As the PRC 
government usually does not approve the establishment of Sino-foreign joint venture private schools as a matter of practice, 
we are unable to directly hold, and do not hold, any equity interest in our Consolidated Affiliated Entities. In order to comply 
with the applicable PRC legal and regulatory restrictions, we will obtain control over, and derive economic benefits from, our 
Consolidated Affiliated Entities through the use of Contractual Arrangements.

Efforts and actions undertaken to comply with the Qualification Requirement

Up to the date of this report, apart from the steps taken as disclosed in the Prospectus and previous years’ annual reports, the 
Group is still in the progress of working on different ways of obtaining the Qualification Requirement.

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements

The Contractual Arrangements which were in place during the Reporting Period are as follows:

1.	 the exclusive business cooperation agreement dated 15 September 2018, pursuant to which Chen Lin Education Science 
shall provide technical services, management support and consulting services to JXIAS and Nanchang Di Guan, and JXIAS 
and Nanchang Di Guan agreed to pay Chen Lin Education Science a service fee equal to all of their respective amount 
of surplus from the operations (after deducting necessary costs and reasonable expenses) (the “Exclusive Business 
Cooperation Agreement”).

2.	 The exclusive call option agreement dated 15 September 2018, pursuant to which each of the Registered Shareholders 
and Nanchang Di Guan unconditionally and irrevocably agreed to grant Chen Lin Education Science or its designated third 
party an exclusive option to purchase all or part of the equity interests in Nanchang Di Guan, or Nanchang Di Guan’s 
sponsor’s interest in JXIAS, as the case may be for the minimum amount of consideration permitted by applicable PRC 
laws and regulations (the “Exclusive Call Option Agreement”).

3.	 The equity pledge agreement dated 15 September 2018, pursuant to which each of the Registered Shareholders agreed 
to pledge all of their respective equity interests in Nanchang Di Guan to Chen Lin Education Science as a security interest 
to guarantee the performance of contractual obligations and the payment of outstanding debts under the Contractual 
Arrangements (the “Equity Pledge Agreement”).
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4.	 The shareholders’ voting rights entrustment agreement and powers of attorney dated 15 September 2018, pursuant 
to which each of the Registered Shareholders has unconditionally and irrevocably authorised and entrusted Chen Lin 
Education Science or its designated person to exercise all of his/her/their respective rights as shareholders of Nanchang Di 
Guan to the extent permitted by the PRC laws (the “Shareholders’ Voting Rights Entrustment Agreement and 
Powers of Attorney”).

5.	 The school sponsor’s and directors’ rights entrustment agreement and powers of attorney dated 15 September, 2018, 
pursuant to which Nanchang Di Guan has irrevocably authorized and entrusted Chen Lin Education Science or its 
designated person to exercise all its rights as the sponsor of JXIAS to the extent permitted by the PRC laws; and each 
of the directors of JXIAS appointed by Nanchang Di Guan has irrevocably authorized and entrusted Chen Lin Education 
Science or its designated person to exercise all his/her rights as directors of JXIAS as appointed by Nanchang Di Guan and 
to the extent permitted by PRC laws (the “School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement 
and Powers of Attorney”).

Further, (1) upon the completion of the acquisition of Jishi College, on 23 December 2020, Ruicheng Education and Jishi College 
have entered into the letters of undertaking of the Contractual Arrangements (the “LOUs”). Pursuant to the LOUs, Ruicheng 
Education and Jishi College have agreed to be subject to the terms and conditions of the Contractual Arrangements; (2) upon 
the completion of the acquisition of Guizhou College on 30 April 2021, Guizhou Xikai and Guizhou College have entered into 
the LOUs. Pursuant to the LOUs, Guizhou Xikai and Guizhou College have agreed to be subject to the terms and conditions of 
the Contractual Arrangement; and (3) upon the completion of the acquisition of Chen Lin High School, Henan Kunren and Chen 
Lin High School have entered into the LOUs on 31 July 2021. Pursuant to the LOUs, Henan Kunren and Chen Lin High School 
have agreed to be subject to the terms and conditions of the Contractual Arrangement.

During the Reporting Period, the amount of transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements was nil.

Significance and financial contributions of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities

Pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements, the Group obtains control over and drives the economic benefits from the 
consolidated affiliated entities. The following table sets out the financial contribution of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities:

Significances and financial contribution to the Group
Revenue Net profit Total assets 

For the 
year ended 

31 August 2024

For the 
year ended 

31 August 2023

For the
year ended 

31 August 2024

For the 
year ended 

31 August 2023
As at

31 August 2024
As at

31 August 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

       

Consolidated Affiliated Entities 599,452 563,330 28,490 54,024 4,465,928 2,051,937
       

Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements

For risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements, please see the section headed “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to our 
Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus for details.
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Material change in relation to the Contractual Arrangements

During the Reporting Period, there is no material change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which 
they were adopted.

Unwinding the Contractual Arrangements

The Company will unwind the Contractual Arrangements as soon as the laws allows the business of the Consolidated Affiliated 
Entities to be operated without the Contractual Arrangements.

However, during the Reporting Period, none of the Contractual Arrangements had been unwound as none of the restrictions 
that led to the adoption of the Contractual Arrangements had been removed.

Waiver from the Stock Exchange

The Stock Exchange has granted a waiver to the Company from strict compliance with the connected transactions requirements 
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the Contractual Arrangements. For details, please refer to the section 
“Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.

Confirmation from Independent Non-executive Directors

Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that during the 
Reporting Period, (i) no transaction pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements had been carried out during the year ended 31 
August 2024; (ii) no dividends or other distributions have been made by Nanchang Di Guan to the holders of its equity interest 
which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to our Group; (iii) apart from the disclosure above, no contracts 
were entered into, renewed or reproduced between the Group and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities; and (iv) the Contractual 
Arrangements were entered in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, on normal commercial terms or better 
and are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole.

Confirmation of the Auditor

The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on 13 December 2019 and the Contractual Arrangements in place are same 
as those set out in the Prospectus. However, there is no transaction carried out, nor any dividend or other distribution made by 
Nanchang Di Guan pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements. Accordingly, there was nothing that the Company’s auditor can 
report on and therefore the auditor is not engaged in this respect for the year ended 31 August 2024. When such transactions 
or distributions arise, the auditor will be engaged to carry out the necessary work.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
During the Reporting Period, save as disclosed in the section headed “Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions” above 
in this report, the Group had not entered into any connected transaction or continuing connected transaction which should 
be disclosed pursuant to the requirements of Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure 
requirements set out in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in note 36 to the consolidated 
financial statements of this report contained herein.

None of the related party transactions disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements of this report, constituted 
a connected transaction or continuing connected transaction subject to independent Shareholders’ approval, annual review and 
other disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES
Save as disclosed in this report, the Company does not have any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 
of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment letters, no contract concerning the management and administration 
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or in existence as at 31 August 2024 or at 
any time during the Reporting Period.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
During the Reporting Period, the Company did not enter into any equity-linked agreement.

DONATIONS
During the Reporting Period, our Group did not make significant donations (for the year ended 31 August 2023: RMB1.2 million).

DEBENTURES ISSUED
The Group did not issue any debenture during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report. 

BREACH OF LOAN AGREEMENT
As at 31 August 2024, the Company had not breached any terms of its loan agreements that are significant to the Group’s 
operations.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
The Group was not involved in any material legal proceedings during the Reporting Period.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE TO THE DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND 
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
During the Reporting Period, the Group had not made any loan or provided any guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to the 
Directors, senior management, the controlling shareholders of the Company or their respective connected persons.
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RSU SCHEME
On 20 August 2019, the RSU Scheme was approved and adopted by the Directors. Pursuant to the Consultation Conclusions, 
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules has been amended to govern both share award schemes and share option schemes with effect 
from 1 January 2023. In light of the above, the Board has resolved on 30 November 2022 in relation to the amendments to be 
made to the RSU Scheme in order to bring in line with the amended rules, and the amendments were duly approved by the 
Shareholders in an extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 30 January 2023. For further details in relation to the 
amendments, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 30 November 2022 and the circular of the Company 
dated 6 January 2023.

Principal Terms of the RSU Scheme
(a)	 Purpose

The purpose of the RSU Scheme is to incentivise Directors, senior management and employees of our Group for their 
contribution to our Group, to attract, motivate and retain skilled and experienced personnel to strive for the future 
development and expansion of our Group by providing them with the opportunity to own equity interests in our 
Company.

(b)	 Eligible person

Persons eligible to receive RSUs under the RSU Scheme are existing employees, Directors (whether executive or non-
executive, but excluding independent non-executive Directors) or officers of our Company or any member of our Group 
or any person who, in the sole opinion of the Board, has contributed or will contribute to any member of our Group (the 
“RSU Eligible Person(s)”).

(c)	 Remaining life

The RSU Scheme will be valid and effective for a period of ten (10) years, commencing from 20 August 2019 (unless 
it is terminated earlier in accordance with its terms). As at 31 August 2024, the remaining life of the RSU Scheme was 
approximately five years.

(d)	 Maximum number of shares to be granted

The maximum number of RSUs that may be granted under the RSU Scheme shall not exceed 100,000,000 Shares 
in aggregate (excluding RSUs that have lapsed or been cancelled in accordance with the rules of the RSU Scheme) 
representing 10% of the number of Shares in issue as at the date of amendment.

(e)	 Maximum entitlement of each participant

Any grant of RSUs to a RSU Eligible Person selected by the Board to be granted RSUs (the “Selected Person”) under 
the RSU scheme would result in Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all RSUs, options or awards granted to such 
person (excluding any RSUs, options and awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of this Scheme or any other Share 
Scheme(s)) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant representing in aggregate over 1% of the 
Shares in issue, such grant of RSUs must be separately approved by Shareholders in general meeting with such Selected 
Person and his/her close associates (or his/her associates if the Selected Person is a connected person of the Company) 
abstaining from voting. The number and terms of RSUs to be granted to such Selected Person must be fixed before 
Shareholders’ approval.
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(f)	 Purchase Price

Initially and subject to otherwise determined by the Board at its absolute discretion at the relevant time for each individual 
grant of RSUs, a Selected Person is not required to pay any grant or purchase price or make any other payment to the 
Company to accept the RSUs granted pursuant to grant letter, nor is he/she required to pay any conversion price upon 
the conversion of the RSUs.

(g)	 Vesting of the RSUs

The vesting of the of the RSUs may be subject to criteria, conditions and the time schedule and such criteria, conditions 
and time schedule shall be stated in the grant letter. The vesting period shall not be less than 12 months or such other 
period as the Listing Rules may prescribe or permit.

In respect of any Selected Person who is a Director or a senior manager, the Remuneration Committee may, or in respect 
of any other Selected Person, the Directors may, establish performance targets against the attainment of which the RSUs 
granted to the Selected Person concerned. The Directors (or, as the case may be, the Remuneration Committee) shall 
have the authority, after the grant of any RSUs which is performance linked, to make fair and reasonable adjustments to 
the prescribed performance targets during the Vesting Period if there is a change in circumstances, provided that any such 
adjustments shall be less onerous than the original performance targets and are considered fair and reasonable by the 
Directors (or, as the case may be, the Remuneration Committee).

Proposed performance targets include business, financials, operations and creation of capital value for the Group’s 
business segments (such as increase in revenue and net profit) as well as that for the Selected Persons based on individual 
performance indicators relevant to their roles and responsibilities. The Directors (or, as the case may be, the Remuneration 
Committee) will conduct assessment at the end of a performance period by comparing the performance of the business 
segments and the individual performance of the Participants with the pre-agreed targets to determine whether the targets 
and the extents to which have been met.
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(h)	 Conversion of RSUs

RSUs held by a Participant that are vested as evidenced by the vesting notice may be converted (in whole or in part) by the 
Participant serving an conversion notice in writing on the Trustee and copied to the Company subject to the conditions of 
this Scheme. The period within which an RSU may be converted by the Participant under this Scheme must not be more 
than ten (10) years from the date of grant of the RSUs. Any conversion of RSUs must be in respect of a Board Lot or an 
integral multiple thereof (except where the number of RSUs which remains unconverted is less than one Board Lot). In an 
conversion notice, the Participant shall request the Trustee to, and the Board shall direct and procure the Trustee to within 
five (5) Business Days, transfer the Shares underlying the RSUs converted (and, if applicable, the cash or non-cash income, 
dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-cash and non-scrip distributions in respect of those Shares) to 
the Participant which the Company has allotted and issued to the Trustee as fully paid up Shares or which the Trustee has 
either acquired by purchasing existing Shares or by receiving existing Shares from any shareholder of the Company, subject 
to the Participant paying the conversion price (where applicable) and all tax, stamp duty, levies and charges applicable to 
such transfer to the Trustee or as the Trustee directs. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Participant would or might be 
prohibited from dealing in the Shares by the Listing Rules or by any other applicable laws, regulations or rules within the 
period specified above, the date on which the relevant Shares shall be allotted and issued or transferred (as the case may 
be) to such Participant shall occur as soon as possible after the date when such dealing is permitted by the Listing Rules or 
by any other applicable laws, regulations or rules. The Participant shall serve the conversion notice within three (3) months 
after receiving the Vesting Notice. The Trustee will not hold the Shares underlying the RSUs vested for the Participant 
after this three (3) months period. If the conversion notice is not served during this three (3) months period or the Shares 
underlying the RSUs converted cannot be transferred to the Participant pursuant to the preceding paragraph due to the 
Participant not being able to provide sufficient information to effect the transfer, the RSUs vested or converted (as the case 
may be) shall lapse unless otherwise agreed by the Board at its absolute discretion.

(i)	 RSU trustee

Our Company has appointed Mr. Huang Yulin as the trustee (the “RSU Trustee”) to assist in the administration of the 
RSU Scheme. Our Company may (i) allot and issue Shares to the RSU Trustee to be held by the RSU Trustee and which 
will be used to satisfy the Shares underlying the RSUs upon exercise and/or (ii) direct and procure the RSU Trustee to 
receive existing Shares from any Shareholder or purchase existing Shares (either on-market or off-market) to satisfy the 
Shares underlying the RSUs upon exercise. Our Company shall procure that sufficient funds are provided to the RSU 
Trustee by whatever means as our Board may in its absolute discretion determine to enable the RSU Trustee to satisfy its 
obligations in connection with the administration of the RSU Scheme.



52 CHEN LIN EDUCATION GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 
Annual Repor t 2024

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Details of the RSUs granted under the RSU Scheme as at 31 August 2024 is set out as below:

Name of the 
guarantees

Position
held within 
our Group Address

Number 
of Shares 

represented 
by the RSUs

Approximate 
percentage of 

shareholding  (1)

     

Directors of our Company

Mr. Wang Li Executive Director 
  and co-president

Room 401, 
Unit 1, 
Block 9 No. 2, 
Jun Cai Road 
Honggutan New District 
Nanchang 
Jiangxi, PRC

2,391,000 0.24%

Mr. Liu Chunbin Executive Director
  and vice president

Room 603, 
Unit 2, Block 4, 
No. 899, Yi Yuan Road, 
Honggutan New District, 
Nanchang, 
Jiangxi, PRC

1,395,000 0.14%

Senior management of our Group
(excluding those who are also Directors)

Ms. Fang Xiaozhen Chief operating officer Room 502, 
Unit 1, Block 1, 
No. 81 Cui Yan Road, 
Wanli District, 
Nanchang, 
Jiangxi, PRC

3,268,000 0.33%

Mr. Lu Dong General manager of
  administrative and
  legal department

Room 601, 
Unit 3, Block 1, 
Jiuzhou Hua Yi Ju, 
No. 20, 
Gongnong Road, 
Wanli District, 
Nanchang, 
Jiangxi, PRC

558,000 0.06%

Mr. Zhang Min Vice president Room 2311, 
Unit 3, Block 2, 
No. 668, 
Shi Mao Road, 
Honggutan New District, 
Nanchang, 
Jiangxi, PRC

518,000 0.05%
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Rank/position held with our Group

Number of 
Shares represented

 by the RSUs

Approximate 
percentage of 

shareholding (1)

   

39 management staff and employees of our Group(2) 26,094,700 2.61%

Notes:

(1)	 The calculation is based on the number of 1,000,000,000 Shares in issue as at 31 August 2024. The Company had no treasury shares as at 31 August 2024.

(2)	 This includes 8,130,000 RSUs held by the two Directors and three senior management, further details of which are set out in the tables above.

(3)	 All the RSUs granted above were granted on 20 August 2019 before the listing of the Company on the Stock Exchange on 13 December 2019.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, (i) no RSU was granted under the RSU Scheme; and (ii) none of 
the RSUs granted under the RSU Scheme was converted, cancelled or lapsed.

A total of 40,020,000 Shares had been reserved for the RSU Scheme, comprising (i) 13,925,300 Shares, representing 
approximately 1.39% of the issued share capital of the Company, that remained grantable under the RSU Scheme as at 1 
September 2023 and 31 August 2024; and (ii) 26,094,700 Shares, representing approximately 2.61% of the issued share capital 
of the Company, that had been granted and vested but not yet converted under the RSU Scheme. For any future grants of RSUs 
under the RSU Scheme, the Company will first utilize the remaining 13,925,300 existing Shares. 

The grantees of the RSUs granted under the RSU Scheme as referred to in the table above are not required to pay for grant or 
exercise of any RSU.

For the RSUs granted under the RSU Scheme to the named individual grantees of the RSUs set out in the table above, they shall 
(unless the Company shall otherwise determine and so notify such grantee in writing) be vested as follows:

(1)	 as to 50.0% of the RSUs on 18 November 2020;

(2)	 as to 30.0% of the RSUs on 18 November 2021; and

(3)	 as to 20.0% of the RSUs on 18 November 2022.

As at 31 August 2024, all the RSUs granted under the RSU Scheme were fully vested. 
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
As at 31 August 2024, the interests or short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares, 
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), 
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the 
SFO (including interests and short positions which he/she was taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) 
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required to be 
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

INTERESTS IN THE COMPANY

Name of Director/
chief executive Capacity/Nature of interest

Number of
 Shares held (1)

Approximate
percentage of 

shareholding (2)

    

Mr. Huang Yulin (3) (4) Interest in a controlled corporation 561,338,000 56.13%
Mr. Wang Li (5) (6) Beneficial owner 2,391,000 0.24%

Interest of spouse 21,871,000 2.19%
Mr. Liu Chunbin (7) Beneficial owner 1,745,000 0.17%

Notes:

(1)	 All interest stated above are long positions.

(2)	 The calculation is based on the total number of 1,000,000,000 Shares in issue (excluding treasury shares) as at 31 August 2024. The Company had no treasury shares 

as at 31 August 2024.

(3)	 493,838,000 Shares are registered under the name of Huangyulin Holdings, the issued share capital of which is owned as to 100% by Mr. Huang Yulin. Accordingly, Mr. 

Huang Yulin is deemed to be interested in the interest held by Huangyulin Holdings for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

(4)	 67,500,000 Shares are registered under the name of Chen Lin Elite Holdings, the issued share capital of which is owned as to 100% by Huangyulin Holdings. 

Accordingly, both Mr. Huang Yulin and Huangyulin Holdings is deemed to be interested in the interest held by Chen Lin Elite Holdings for the purpose of Part XV of 

the SFO.

(5)	 Mr. Wang Li is interested in the RSUs granted to him under the RSU Scheme entitling him to receive 2,391,000 Shares (which was fully vested to him).

(6)	 Mr. Wang Li is the spouse of Ms. Huang Yuan. Accordingly, Mr. Wang Li is deemed to be interested in the interest held by Ms. Huang Yuan for the purpose of Part 

XV of the SFO.

(7)	 Mr. Liu Chunbin is (i) directly holds and beneficially owns 350,000 Shares; and (ii) interested in the RSUs granted to him under the RSU Scheme entitling him to 

receive 1,395,000 Shares (which was fully vested to him).
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INTERESTS IN OTHER MEMBERS OF THE GROUP

Name of Director
Name of associated
corporations of the Group

Capacity/Nature
of interest

Approximate
percentage of

registered capital
    

Mr. Huang Yulin Nanchang Di Guan, JXIAS, Ruicheng Education, 
Jishi College, Guizhou Xikai,  
Guizhou College, Henan Kunren,  
Chen Lin High School and  
Gan Zhou Chen Lin (2)

Beneficial owner 74.00%

Interest in a controlled
  corporation

74.00%

Mr. Wang Li Nanchang Di Guan, JXIAS, Ruicheng Education, 
Jishi College, Guizhou Xikai, Guizhou College, 
Henan Kunren, Chen Lin High 
School and Gan Zhou Chen Lin (2)

Interest of spouse 13.00%

Notes:

(1)	 All interests stated are long positions.

(2)	 Nanchang Di Guan, JXIAS, Ruicheng Education, Jishi College, Guizhou Xikai, Guizhou College, Henan Kunren, Chen Lin High School and Gan Zhou Chen Lin, by 

virtue of the Contractual Arrangements, all of them are accounted as subsidiaries of the Group. Nanchang Di Guan holds 100.00% of the sponsor’s interest of JXIAS; 

Ruicheng Education holds 100.00% of the sponsor’s interest of Jishi College; Guizhou Xikai holds 100.00% sponsor’s interest of Guizhou College; Henan Kunren holds 

100% sponsor’s interest of Chen Lin High School.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 August 2024, none of the Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had any interests 
or short positions in any of the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations 
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 
352 of the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code; or to be notified 
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT 
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
So far as the Directors were aware, as at 31 August 2024, the following persons (other than Directors or chief executives of the 
Company) or corporations who had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company as recorded 
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO; or which were required to be disclosed to 
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Division 2 and 3 of part XV of the SFO, were as follows:

Name of Substantial
Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest

Number of 
Shares held (1)

Approximate 
percentage of issued 

share capital (2)

    

Huangyulin Holdings (3) Beneficial owner 493,838,000 49.38%
Interest in a controlled corporation 67,500,000 6.75%

Ms. Xiong Yan (4) Interest of spouse 561,338,000 56.13%

Notes:

(1)	 All interest stated are long positions.

(2)	 The calculation is based on the total number of 1,000,000,000 Shares in issue (excluding treasury shares) as at 31 August 2024. The Company had no treasury shares 

as at 31 August 2024.

(3)	 67,500,000 Shares are registered under the name of Chen Lin Elite Holdings, the issued share capital of which is owned as to 100% by Huangyulin Holdings. 

Accordingly, Mr. Huang Yulin and Huangyulin Holdings is deemed to be interested in the interest held by Chen Lin Elite Holdings for the purpose of Part XV of the 

SFO.

(4)	 Ms. Xiong Yan is the spouse of Mr. Huang Yulin. Accordingly, Ms. Xiong Yan is deemed to be interested in the interest held by Mr. Huang Yulin for the purpose of 

Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 August 2024, the Directors are not aware of any other person (other than Directors or chief 
executives of the Company) or corporation who had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the 
Company which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO; or 
which would require to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of 
Part XV of the SFO.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES
Repurchase Mandate
The Directors have been granted the general mandate (the “Repurchase Mandate”) pursuant to resolutions of the 
Shareholders passed on Monday, 19 February 2024, to repurchase Shares in the open market from time to time. Pursuant to the 
Repurchase Mandate, the Company is allowed to repurchase up to 10% of the total number of issued Shares as at the date of 
passing such resolution.

Share Repurchase
On 28 October 2024, the Company repurchased 3,570,000 Shares under the Repurchase Mandate on the Stock Exchange for 
an aggregate consideration of HK$4,998,000 (excluding transaction costs) which are held as treasury shares (as defined under the 
Listing Rules) of the Company, details as below:

Purchase price per Share Aggregate
consideration

paid
Date of
Repurchase

No. of Shares
Repurchased

Highest
price paid

Lowest
price Paid

(HK$/Share) (HK$/Share) (HK$)
     

28 October 2024 3,570,000 1.4 1.4 4,998,000

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s 
securities (including sale of treasury shares) listed on the Stock Exchange during the year ended 31 August 2024 and up to the 
date of this report.

The Board considers that the Shares repurchased by the Company and held as treasury shares may provide more flexibility to 
the Board to resell the treasury shares on the market prices to raise additional funds for the Company, or transfer or use for 
Share grants under share schemes that comply with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and for other purposes permitted under the 
Listing Rules, the Articles of Association and the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had no treasury shares (as defined under the Listing Rules) during the year ended 31 
August 2024.

Save as disclosed in this report and other than the RSU Scheme, there have been no option, convertible securities or similar 
rights or arrangements issued or granted by the Group during the year ended 31 August 2024 and up to the date of this report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
During the Reporting Period, the aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest customers was less than 30% of the 
total revenue for the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers was less than 30% of the 
total purchases for the Reporting Period.

None of the Directors nor any of their close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules owns more than 5% of the number of 
issued Shares) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and/or five largest suppliers during the Reporting 
Period.
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DIVIDEND POLICY
As we are a holding company, our ability to declare and pay dividends will depend on receipt of dividends and other payments 
from Chen Lin Education Science, which in turn substantially depends on the service fees paid to Chen Lin Education Science 
from our Consolidated Affiliated Entities. There remain certain uncertainties with respect to our ability to pay dividends to our 
Shareholders under the influence of the Decision of the Standing Committee of the National People’s Congress on Amending 
the Law for Promoting Private Education of the PRC (全國人民代表大會常務委員會關於修改《中華人民共和國民辦教育
促進法》的決定 ) (the “Amendment Decision”) which came into effect on 1 September 2017. Pursuant to the Amendment 
Decision, sponsors of existing private schools engaged in higher education may elect to register the schools as non-profit or for-
profit private schools. In March 2022, JXIAS submitted the decision to the Jiangxi Education Department to register as a for-profit 
private school (the “Application”). As at the date of this report, the Application is still under process. Prior to the completion 
of the registration, JXIAS remains as a non-profit private school. If we were to have elected to register our Schools as for-
profit private schools, as confirmed by our PRC legal advisor and with reference to our dividend policy, our ability to distribute 
dividends to our Shareholders will not be materially affected. If we were to have elected to register our School as a non-profit 
private school, our ability to distribute dividends to our Shareholders may be limited. To mitigate such risks, we have adopted 
and/or will adopt the following measures: (i) we have established a special committee to mitigate any relevant compliance risks 
and to advise on the decision to register our Schools as for-profit or non-profit private schools. When making such decision, 
our Directors will take into consideration a variety of factors including the development of our business and the interests of our 
Shareholders; (ii) we plan to further strengthen and diversify our offering of education related services to widen our revenue base 
and to enhance our profitability; and (iii) our ability to pay dividends and other cash distributions to our Shareholders depends 
solely on our ability to receive dividends and other distributions from Chen Lin Education Science, which in turn depends on the 
service fees paid to Chen Lin Education Science from our Consolidated Affiliated Entities.

Any amount of dividends we pay will be determined at the discretion of our Directors and will depend on our future operations 
and earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual restrictions and other factors which our 
Directors consider relevant. Any declaration and payment as well as the amount of dividends will be subject to our constitutional 
documents and the relevant laws. Subject to the foregoing, the Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for 
the year ended 31 August 2024.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF LISTED SECURITIES
The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the 
Company’s securities.

RELATIONSHIP WITH OUR EMPLOYEES
During the Reporting Period, we had not experienced any material dispute with our employees or disruption to our operations 
due to labour dispute and we had not experienced any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of employees.

Details of the pension obligations of the Company are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements of this report.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
According to the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Board, as at the date of 
this report, the Company has maintained the minimum public float of not less than 25% as required under the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS
At no time during the Reporting Period, there was or is, any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of any 
of the Directors, except the insurance cover of the legal proceeds against the Directors currently provided by the Company to 
each Director.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
The Company recognises the importance of good corporate governance for enhancing the management of the Company as well 
as preserving the interests of the Shareholders as a whole. The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the CG 
Code as its own code to govern its corporate governance practices.

Save for the non-compliance with code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code as disclosed under the heading “CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE PRACTICES” in the “Corporate Governance Report” of this report, the Company has complied with all the 
applicable code provisions of the CG Code during the year ended 31 August 2024 and up to the date of this report. 

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the Company with an aim to maintaining a high standard of 
corporate governance.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on 
pages 29 to 40 of this annual report.

AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period have been audited by BDO Limited, Certified Public Accountants, 
who was appointed to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of PricewaterhouseCoopers on 26 July 2023, and are 
proposed for reappointment at the forthcoming 2025 AGM.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no change in the auditor of the Company in any preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board
Huang Yulin
Chairman

Nanchang the PRC
29 November 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHEN LIN EDUCATION GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Chen Lin Education Group Holdings Limited (“the Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) set out on pages 67 to 146, which comprise the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 31 August 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to 
the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group 
as at 31 August 2024, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IFRS Accounting 
Standards”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” 
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Assessment of goodwill impairment
Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements

We identified assessment of goodwill impairment as a key audit matter due to the high degree of uncertainties associated with 
estimating the future operating performance of the cash generating units (“CGUs”), and the complexity and subjectivity of 
management estimates involved and the appropriateness of the significant assumptions adopted in the value-in-use calculation of 
the CGUs.

In assessing the recoverable amounts of the Group’s CGUs that include goodwill, management engaged external valuation expert 
to assist in determining the value-in-use calculation of the CGUs, being the present value of the future cash flows expected 
to be derived from the CGUs. Such valuation involved developing assumptions and estimates about the future results of the 
relevant businesses, including: number of students, growth rates of number of students and fees, and discount rate. Management 
considered no impairment on goodwill based on the impairment assessment.

The Group had goodwill amounted to RMB261,519,000 as at 31 August 2024. The goodwill was derived from acquisitions of 
various schools in the past years.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Assessment of goodwill impairment (continued)

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Our response:

Our performed audit procedures in relation to assessment of goodwill impairment which included:

—	 Obtained an understanding of the management’s internal controls and assessment process of the impairment assessment 
of goodwill, and assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty 
and level of other inherent risk factors such as the management estimates involved and appropriateness of significant 
assumptions adopted in determining the value-in-use calculation of the CGUs;

—	 Assessed the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the external valuation expert who assisted management in 
determining the value-in-use calculation of the CGUs;

—	 Assessed management’s future cash flow forecasts and calculations of value-in-use of the CGUs with the assistance of our 
external valuation specialist. Our procedures included:

•	 Assessing the appropriateness of the methodology adopted by reference to market practices;

•	 Assessing and challenging the key assumptions, including the projected number of students and fees including the 
growth rates, by comparing with the historical operating results and future operating plans with reference to the 
future capital expansion of the CGUs;

•	 Assessing the discount rate by reference to external data, including the risk factor of comparable school and market 
risk premium;

•	 Assessing and challenging the appropriateness of other key input data by comparing with the approved budget and 
historical data; and

•	 Testing the mathematical accuracy of the discounted cash flows calculations.

—	 Assessed management’s sensitivity analysis to evaluate the assumptions to which the outcome of the discounted cash flows 
is more sensitive and the likelihood that an impairment may be resulted.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Payables to government authority in respect of government grants received
Refer to note 32 to the consolidated financial statements

We identified payables to government authority in respect of government grants received as a key audit matter due to significant 
management’s judgement and estimate involved in the determination of the existence of the repayment obligation and the 
amount and timing of repayment of the payables to government authority.

The payables to government authority were related to government grants received for the construction of the school campus of 
the predecessor school of Guizhou Vocational College of Industry and Trade (“Guizhou College”) in the past years. Guizhou 
College and its sponsor, both are subsidiaries of the Group, assessed the government grants to be with ongoing conditions and 
requirements that have not been fully fulfilled, and accordingly the grants were recognised as payables to government authorities.

During the year ended 31 August 2024, the management of the Group re-assessed the payables based on latest available 
information obtained from discussion between the management and government authority including the updated approximate 
time for the completion of the conversion from not-for-profit school to for-profit school (applied since October 2022). As 
the local government authority expressed that it has to take more time to complete the application process, the time for the 
completion of the conversion has taken longer than its previous expectation. Therefore, the directors and management estimated 
approximate time for the completion of the conversion was extended from 31 December 2024 to 31 December 2027 and the 
repayment amount was reduced from RMB280,280,000 to RMB259,409,000. These changes led to a gain of RMB21,158,000, net 
of imputed interest expense for the year.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Payables to government authority in respect of government grants received (continued)

Refer to note 32 to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Our response:

Our performed audit procedures in relation to payables to government authority in respect of government grants received which 
included:

—	 Obtained an understanding from management the history, nature and purpose of the government grants, and the 
judgement and estimate involved in the assessment of the existence of repayment obligation, and the timing and amount 
of repayment that attribute to the recording of the payables to government authority;

—	 Reviewed the relevant investment agreements with the government authority upon the establishment of the predecessor 
school of Guizhou College, and other supporting evidences obtained subsequently that support the nature, purpose and 
existence of the government grants received by Guizhou College during the construction stage of the school.

We performed audit procedures in relation to payables to government authority in respect of government grants received which 
included:

—	 Procedures addressing the latest circumstances attributing to the payables included:

•	 Reviewed the latest available documents issued by the relevant government authority in connection with the 
government grants received by Guizhou College;

•	 Reviewed the latest available documents issued by the relevant government authority in respect of the procedures 
addressing the Conversion;

•	 Reviewed the written opinion from the Company’s PRC external legal counsel and discussed with them to 
understand their analysis and views about the impact of the Conversion to the repayment obligation of the 
government grants with reference to the latest documents issued by the relevant government authority and the 
relevant laws and requirements; and

•	 Conducted interviews with the relevant government authority to confirm the nature and existence of the 
government grants, and the related conditions and requirements.

—	 Checked the calculation of management’s estimate of the amount of payables to government authority as at 31 August 
2024.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for 
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the 
directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is 
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume 
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout 
the audit. We also:

•	 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control.

•	 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•	 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

•	 conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

•	 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

•	 obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the 
Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Chow Tak Sing, Peter
Practising Certificate Number P04659

Hong Kong, 29 November 2024
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2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Revenue 6 599,452 563,330
Cost of revenue 9 (411,093) (334,861)
    

Gross profit 188,359 228,469
Other income 7 44,427 36,434
Other expenses 9 (2,765) (3,124)
Other gain/(losses), net 8 28,556 (2,927)
Net impairment losses on financial assets 9 (680) (394)
Selling expenses 9 (5,324) (14,071)
Administrative expenses 9 (138,133) (133,480)
    

Operating profit 114,440 110,907
    

Finance income 11 368 560
Finance costs 11 (98,404) (78,211)
    

Finance costs, net 11 (98,036) (77,651)
    

Profit before income tax 16,404 33,256
Income tax (expense)/credit 12 (1,037) 417
    

Profit for the year 15,367 33,673
    

Profit and total comprehensive income 
  for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company 15,367 33,673
    

RMB RMB

Earnings per share
— Basic 13 0.02 0.04
    

— Diluted 13 0.02 0.03
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At 31 August 
2024

At 31 August 
2023

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15 3,230,559 2,786,752
Right-of-use assets 16 441,987 460,741
Intangible assets 17 267,938 265,641
Other non-current assets 18 108,030 124,196
Deferred income tax assets 31 1,242 1,834
Other receivables 21 30,991 –
    

4,080,747 3,639,164
    

Current assets
Trade receivables 20 7,265 12,370
Other receivables and prepayments 21 95,052 96,044
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 22 90 105
Restricted bank balances 23 45 3,887
Cash and cash equivalents 23 287,976 374,618
    

390,428 487,024
    

Total assets 4,471,175 4,126,188
    

Current liabilities
Accruals and other payables 27 305,113 265,160
Amount due to a related party 36(c) 42,267 27,463
Borrowings 28 841,109 594,890
Current income tax liabilities 43,481 43,222
Deferred revenue 29 7,744 5,782
Contract liabilities 6 374,329 454,025
Lease liabilities 30 2,899 19,694
    

1,616,942 1,410,236
    

Net current liabilities (1,226,514) (923,212)
    

Total assets less current liabilities 2,854,233 2,715,952
    



69CHEN LIN EDUCATION GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 
Annual Repor t 2024

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 August 2024

At 31 August 
2024

At 31 August 
2023

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 28 1,576,982 1,457,080
Deferred revenue 29 108,822 78,560
Contract liabilities 6 933 1,333
Lease liabilities 30 73,415 72,150
Other non-current payables 32 233,349 261,464
    

1,993,501 1,870,587
    

Total liabilities 3,610,443 3,280,823
    

Net assets 860,732 845,365
    

Capital and reserves
Share capital 24 89 89
Share premium 24 433,763 433,763
Capital reserve 25 30,000 30,000
Statutory surplus reserves 25 142,732 138,026
Share-based payments reserve 26 53,382 53,382
Retained earnings 25 200,766 190,105
    

Total equity 860,732 845,365
    

The consolidated financial statements on pages 67 to 146 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 
29 November 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Huang Yulin Gan Tian
Chairman Director
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Attributable to owners of the Company 

Share 
capital

Share 
Premium

Capital 
reserve

Statutory 
surplus 

reserves

Share-based 
payment 

reserve
Retained 
earnings Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note 25(a)) (Note 25(b)) (Note 25(c))
        

At 1 September 2022 89 433,763 30,000 130,539 52,769 163,919 811,079

Loss and total comprehensive income for the year – – – – – 33,673 33,673
Share-based payments expense (note 26) – – – – 613 – 613
Profit appropriation to statutory reserve – – – 7,487 – (7,487) –        

At 31 August 2023 and 1 September 2023 89 433,763 30,000 138,026 53,382 190,105 845,365
        

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year – – – – – 15,367 15,367
Profit appropriation to statutory reserve – – – 4,706 – (4,706) –        

At 31 August 2024 89 433,763 30,000 142,732 53,382 200,766 860,732
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2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 34(a) 113,925 223,976
    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of right-of-use assets (1,771) –
Purchases of land use right (16,551) (26,281)
Government grants received relating to purchase of land use right and 
  property, plant and equipment 29 38,528 18,494
Proceeds from lawsuit claims of an acquired subsidiary initiated prior to 
  acquisition by the Group 10,697 –
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (499,843) (747,313)
Repayment from a corporate project 36,530 –
Interest paid for capitalised on qualifying assets (53,293) (36,147)
Purchases of intangible assets (3,699) (2,105)
    

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (489,402) (793,352)
    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from borrowings 974,890 1,105,900
Repayments of borrowings (617,087) (385,418)
Decrease in restricted bank balances 23 3,842 8,096
Borrowings from a related party 11,858 11,029
Payments of lease liabilities (3,671) (4,963)
Interest paid (80,997) (76,856)
    

NET CASH GENERATED FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 288,835 657,788
    

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND 
  CASH EQUIVALENTS (86,642) 88,412

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF 
  THE YEAR 374,618 286,206
    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 23 287,976 374,618
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1.	 GENERAL
Chen Lin Education Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 25 May 2018 
as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Act (2023 Revision, as consolidated and revised) (the 
“Companies Act”) of the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is 190 Elgin Avenue, George Town, Grand 
Cayman KY1-9008, Cayman Islands. The headquarters and principal business operations of the Group is located at No. 1, 
Lianfu Avenue, Xinjian District, Nanchang City, Jiangxi Province, the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) provide 
comprehensive educational services in Jiangxi province, Guizhou province and Henan province of the PRC. The Group 
has been operating Jiangxi Institute of Applied Science and Technology (江西應用科技學院) (“JXIAS”) since 1984. 
In December 2020, the Group acquired Jiangxi College of Arts and Sciences Technicians(江西文理技師學院) (“Jishi 
College”) from a third party. In April and July 2021, the Group further acquired Guizhou Vocational College of Industry 
and Trade (貴州工貿職業學院) (“Guizhou College”) and Zhengzhou Airport Economy Zone Chen Lin High School 
(鄭州航空港區辰林高級中學) (“Chen Lin High School”) from third parties, respectively. In June 2022, Guizhou 
Provincial People’s Government approved the establishment of Guizhou Jishi Institute of Industry and Trade (貴州工貿技
師學院) (“Guizhou Jishi”), which is held by Guizhou Xikai Education Investment Company Limited (“貴州西凱教育投
資有限公司”).

The ultimate controlling party of the Group is Mr. Huang Yulin, who is an executive director (the “Director(s)”) and the 
chairman of the board (the “Board”) of Directors (the “Controlling Shareholder”).

The shares of the Company have been listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 13 December 2019.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and rounded to the nearest thousand yuan 
(“RMB’000”), unless otherwise stated.

2.	 ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)
(a)	 New or amended standards adopted by the Group — effective 1 September 2023

Amendments to IAS 1 and 
  IFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosures of Accounting Policies

Amendments to IAS 8 Disclosures of Accounting Estimates
Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from 

  a Single Transaction
Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

None of these amendments has a material impact on the Group’s results and financial position for the current 
or prior period except for the adoption of Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of 
Accounting Policies” and Amendments to IAS 12 “Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 
Transaction” which are discussed below. The Group has not early applied any new or amended IFRSs that is not yet 
effective for the current accounting period.
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2.	 ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) 
(continued)

(a)	 New or amended standards adopted by the Group — effective 1 September 2023 
(continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 — Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments require the disclosure of “material” rather than “significant”, accounting policies. Although the 
amendments did not result in any changes to the accounting policies themselves, they impacted the accounting 
policy information disclosed in the financial statements. The Group has revisited its accounting policy disclosures and 
removed certain immaterial accounting policy information.

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 
Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition exception in IAS 12 so that it no longer applies to 
transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning 
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is 
available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising from these transactions.

Prior to the initial application of these amendments, the Group applied the initial recognition exception and did 
not recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences for transactions related to 
leases. Upon initial application of these amendments, the Group recognised (i) a deferred tax asset for all deductible 
temporary differences associated with lease liabilities (provided that sufficient taxable profit is available), and (ii) a 
deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences associated with right-of-use assets as at 1 September 2023, 
if any. The amendments did not have significant impact on the Group’s financial statements due to effect of the 
preferential tax exemption applicable for the Group.

(b)	 New or amended IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective
The following new or amended IFRSs, potentially relevant to the Group’s financial statements, have been issued, but 
are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group. The Group’s current intention is to apply these 
changes on the date they become effective.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements1

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of exchangeability2

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current1

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants1

1	  Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
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2.	 ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) 
(continued)

(b)	 New or amended IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Further details about those IFRSs that are not yet effective and are expected to be applicable to the Group are as 
follows:

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 — Supplier Finance Arrangements

The amendments clarify the characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure of such 
arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements 
in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to 
liquidity risk. Earlier application of the amendments is permitted. The amendments provide certain transition reliefs 
regarding comparative information, quantitative information as at the beginning of the annual reporting period and 
interim disclosures.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the future will have an 
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 21, Lack of Exchangeability

The Amendments specify how an entity shall assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and 
how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments 
require disclosures of information that enable users of financial statements to understand the impact of a currency 
not being exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot restate 
the comparative information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised as 
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation differences 
accumulated in a separate component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the future will have an 
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 — Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current is based on rights that are in 
existence at the end of the reporting period, specify that classification is unaffected by expectations about whether 
an entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of a liability and explain that rights are in existence if covenants are 
complied with at the end of the reporting period. The amendments also introduce a definition of ‘settlement’ to make 
clear that settlement refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets or services.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments and revision in the future 
will have an impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1, Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

The amendments clarify that covenants to be complied with after the reporting date do not affect the classification 
of debt as current or non-current at the reporting date. An entity is required to disclose information about these 
covenants in the notes to the financial statements.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the future will have an 
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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2.	 ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) 
(continued)

(c)	 New guidance on accounting for the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong 
issued by HKICPA
In June 2022, Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 
2022 (“the Amendment Ordinance”) was enacted. The Amendment Ordinance abolishes the use of the 
accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory contributions under the mandatory provident fund (“MPF”) 
scheme to offset severance payment (“SP”) and long service payments (“LSP”) (“the Abolition”). Subsequently, 
the Government of HKSAR announced that the Abolition will take effect on 1 May 2025 (“the Transition Date”).

The following key changes will take effect since the Transition Date:

—	 Accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions cannot be used to offset the LSP/SP 
in respect of the employment period after the Transition Date.

—	 The pre-transition LSP/SP is calculated using the last month’s salary immediately preceding the Transition Date, 
instead of using the last month’s salary of employment termination date.

Due to the complexities of the accounting for the offsetting of accrued benefits derived from an employer’s 
mandatory MPF contributions and its LSP obligation and the accounting for the offsetting mechanism could become 
material in light of the Abolition, the HKICPA published ‘Accounting implications of the abolition of the MPF-
LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong’ (“the Guidance”) in July 2023 to provide guidance to account for 
the offsetting mechanism and the Abolition. The HKICPA concluded that there are two acceptable accounting 
approaches for the offsetting mechanism, being:

—	 Approach 1: Account for the amount expected to be offset as a deemed employee contribution towards that 
employee’s LSP benefits in terms of HKAS 19.93(a)

—	 Approach 2: Account for the employer MPF contributions and the offsetting mechanism as a funding 
mechanism for the LSP obligation

For the years ended 31 August 2023 and 2024, the Group’s LSP liability before the expected offsetting under the 
MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism is immaterial. Application of the Guidance had no material effect on the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group.

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION
(a)	 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with all applicable 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by International Accounting Standards Board and the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622.

(b)	 Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the 
revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, which are carried at fair value.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(c)	 Going concern
The Group’s current liabilities exceeded current assets by RMB1,226,514,000 as at 31 August 2024. The Group’s 
current liabilities included deferred revenue and contract liabilities with a total amount of RMB382,073,000 that are 
not liabilities that require future cash outflows. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents as at 31 August 2024 was 
RMB287,976,000.

As at 31 August 2024, the Group’s current liabilities included current borrowings amounting to RMB841,109,000 
in total, comprising bank borrowings of RMB334,647,000, borrowings under finance lease arrangement of 
RMB459,455,000 and borrowings under financial institution of RMB47,007,000. In addition, as at 31 August 2024, the 
Group had capital commitments that had been contracted but not provided for amounting to RMB182,547,000.

In view of such circumstances, the Directors of the Company have given careful consideration to the future liquidity, 
performance and the available sources of financing of the Group in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient 
financial resources to continue as a going concern. A number of plans and measures have been taken to mitigate the 
liquidity pressure and to improve the Group’s financial position and its operations. These include the following:

(i)	 The Group will continue to make efforts to keep the schools in operation in anticipation of the potential 
changes in government policies and to manage the progress of conversion from not-for-profit school to for-
profit school as required by the relevant government authorities;

(ii)	 The Group will continue to make investments on new teaching buildings and dormitories so as to expand the 
capacity of the schools for taking more students upon approval by the relevant government authorities, and at 
the same time to control costs in order to improve the Group’s net operating cash inflows;

(iii)	 The Group has been actively negotiating with the banks and other financial institutions for the renewal of 
existing loans or application of new loans. As at date of approval of these consolidated financial statements, the 
Group has reached consensus with several banks and other financial institutions to renew the existing loans or 
grant new facilities to the Group; and

(iv)	 The Group has been in active communications with banks and other financial institutions to secure the 
necessary borrowings and to obtain new facilities to fund the Group’s capital expenditures and operations. 
Subsequent to 31 August 2024, the Group obtained borrowings and facilities from banks and other financial 
institutions in the total amount of RMB294 million.

The Directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections prepared by the management, 
covering a period of not less than twelve months from 31 August 2024, and are of the view that, taking into account 
the abovementioned plans and measures, the Group will have sufficient funds to finance its capital expenditures and 
operations and to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due within twelve months from 31 August 2024. 
Accordingly, the Directors of the Company are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial 
statements as a going concern basis.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity 
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

(a)	 Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual Arrangements

A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Chen Lin Education Science (Jiangxi) Co., Ltd. (“辰林教育科技(江西)
有限責任公司”, “Chen Lin Education Science”), has entered into a series of contractual agreements (the “Contractual 
Agreements”) with Nanchang Di Guan Education Consultancy Co., Ltd. (“南昌迪冠教育諮詢有限公司”, “Nanchang 
Di Guan”), Gan Zhou Chen Lin Education Investment Co., Ltd. (“贛州辰林教育投資有限公司”, “Gan Zhou Chen 
Lin”) ,Nanchang Ruicheng Education Consulting Company Limited (“南昌瑞誠教育諮詢有限公司”), Guizhou Xikai 
Education Investment Company Limited, Henan Kun Ren Education Science Technology Company Limited (“河南
坤仁教育科技有限公司”), JXIAS, Jishi College, Guizhou College, Guizhou Jishi and Chen Lin High School (“the 
Schools”), (collectively the “Consolidated Affiliated Entities”) and the equity shareholders including Mr. Huang Yulin, 
Ms. Huang Yuan and Mr. Huang Guandi. The contractual agreements enable Chen Lin Education Science and the 
Group to:

•	 exercise effective financial and operational control over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities;

•	 exercise equity voting rights of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities;

•	 receive substantially all of the economic interest returns generated by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities 
in consideration for the corporate management and educational management consultancy services, as well 
as technical and business support services provided by Chen Lin Education Science. Such services include 
development, design, upgrade and ordinary maintenance on educational software and website; design on 
college course and major; compilation and selection and/or recommendation on college course materials; 
recruitment and training supporting on teachers and other employees; admission and enrolment supporting 
services; public relation services; market research and development services; management and marketing 
consulting and related services; and other additional services as the parties may mutually agree from time to 
time;

•	 obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase all of equity interests in the Consolidated Affiliated 
Entities from the respective equity holders at nil consideration or a minimum purchase price permitted under 
PRC laws and regulations. Chen Lin Education Science may exercise such options at any time until it has 
acquired all equity interests in and/or all assets of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities permitted under the PRC 
laws and regulations. In addition, the Consolidated Affiliated Entities are not allowed to sell, transfer, or dispose 
any assets, or make any distributions to their equity holders without prior consent of Chen Lin Education 
Science; and

•	 obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities from their equity holders 
to secure performance of the obligations of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities under the Contractual 
Agreements.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

(a)	 Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual Arrangements (continued)

The Group does not have any equity interest in the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. However, as a result of the 
Contractual Agreements, the Group has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the Consolidated 
Affiliated Entities and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities 
and is considered to control the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. Accordingly, the Company regards the Consolidated 
Affiliated Entities as indirect subsidiaries under IFRSs. The Group has consolidated the financial position and financial 
results of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities in the consolidated financial statements during all the years presented or 
since the date the entity first come under the control of the Group.

Nevertheless, the Contractual Agreements may not be as effective as direct legal ownership in providing the Group 
direct control over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities, due to the uncertainties presented by the PRC legal system 
to impede the Group’s beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. 
The directors, based on the advice of the Company’s legal counsel, consider that the Contractual Agreements with 
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and their equity shareholders are in compliance with the relevant PRC laws and 
regulations and are legally enforceable.

(b)	 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of 
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and 
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend from these investments 
if the dividends exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the dividends is declared 
or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the 
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net assets including goodwill. Investments in subsidiaries are also 
assessed for impairment and written down to their recoverable amounts in accordance with Note 4(h).

(c)	 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision-maker (“CODM”). CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance 
operating segments, has been identified as the Company’s board of directors that makes strategic decisions.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

(d)	 Foreign currency translation

(i)	 Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The 
consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the Company’s functional and the Group’s 
presentation currency.

(ii)	 Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates 
of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation 
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised 
as profit or loss in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
within ‘other gains/(losses) — net’

(e)	 Leases

The Group leases various properties as school premises. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 
3 to 15 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and 
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased assets may not be used as security for 
borrowing purposes.

Favorable leases represent leases where the lease terms are more favorable as compared to market prices. Favorable 
leases are recognised at fair value upon the acquisition of subsidiaries.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is 
available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance 
cost is charged to consolidated statements of comprehensive loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use assets except for 
prepayments for land use rights are depreciated over the shorter of an asset’s useful life and the lease term on a 
straight-line basis.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net 
present value of the fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

(e)	 Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

•	 the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

•	 any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received

•	 any initial direct costs, and restoration costs.

The lease payments are discounted using the respective incremental borrowing rate. Payments associated with short-
term leases are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. 
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.

The Group’s right-of-use assets also consist of up-front payments to acquire long-term interest in the usage of 
land, which are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost represents 
consideration paid for the rights to use the land and other direct related costs from the date when the respective
rights were granted. Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments is calculated on a straight-line basis over the lease 
terms as stated in the relevant land use right certificates granted for usage by the Group in the PRC or the best 
estimate based on the normal terms in the PRC and is charged to profit or loss in the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income.

The depreciation periods of the Group’ right of use assets are:

Land use rights 50 years
Lease of buildings including favorable lease 11–15 years
Lease of equipment 8 years

(f)	 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction in progress) are stated at historical cost less depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of 
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset is 
derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting 
year in which they are incurred.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

(f)	 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their costs, net of their residual values, over their 
estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings and building improvements 5–50 years
Office furniture and fixtures 6–20 years
Electronic equipment 3–12 years
Vehicles 12 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of year.

Building improvements are mainly costs for painting the walls of buildings with new environmental protection 
materials. The useful life of building improvements is estimated to be 5 years.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (note 4(h)).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in 
profit or loss.

Construction in progress represents properties under construction and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses. This includes cost of construction and other direct costs. Construction in progress is not depreciated until 
such time as the assets are completed and are ready for operational use.

(g)	 Intangible assets

(i)	 Goodwill

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is 
allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
acquisition. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, and 
whenever there is an indication that the unit may be impaired (see Note 4(h)).

(ii)	 Student base

The student base intangible assets refer to the registered and existing students of Schools that were acquired 
by the Group. The students are expected to pay tuition and boarding fees until their graduation.

The student base will be generating income for schools in the tuition periods, thus it is identified as an 
intangible asset based on its fair value on the acquisition date. The student base is amortised using the straight-
line method over the respective periods until the graduation of the existing students ranging from 1.5 to 2 
years.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

(g)	 Intangible assets (continued)

(iii)	 Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring 
the specific software into usage. These costs are amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated 
useful lives varying from 8 to 12 years. Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are 
recognised as expense as incurred.

The length of useful life of an intangible asset is determined based on (i) estimated period during which such 
assets can bring economic benefits to the Group; and (ii) the useful life estimated on software of similar nature 
and functions. The Group reviews the length of useful life at each year end.

(h)	 Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be 
impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value 
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest 
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from 
other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an 
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

(i)	 Investments and other financial assets

(i)	 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories:

•	 those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income, or 
through profit or loss), and

•	 those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual 
terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or other 
comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets 
changes.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

(i)	 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

(ii)	 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset 
not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their 
cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest.

Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the asset 
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which the Group 
classifies its debt instruments:

•	 Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows 
represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income 
from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any 
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other losses, 
together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in 
profit or loss of the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

•	 FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain 
or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and 
presented net within “other losses — net” in the period in which it arises.

(iii)	 Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments 
carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected 
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.

Impairment on other receivables and loan receivable is measured as either 12-month expected credit losses 
or lifetime expected credit loss, depending on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since initial recognition, then 
impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit losses.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

(j)	 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from students of the university and customers for services provided in the 
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the 
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets, if not, they are presented as 
non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment.

(k)	 Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a 
customer before the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue 
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to the 
customer).

(l)	 Accrual and other payables

Accrual and other payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or within the 
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Accrual and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.

If the Group revises its estimates of payments (excluding modification), it adjusts the gross carrying amount of 
the financial liability to reflect the actual and revised estimated contractual cash flows. The Group recalculates the 
amortised cost of the financial liability as the present value of the estimated future contractual cash flows that are 
discounted at the financial liability’s original effective interest rate.

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled 
or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the 
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are modified, the Group assess whether the revised terms result 
in a substantial modification from original terms taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances including 
qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers that the terms are substantially 
different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any 
fees received, and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the 
discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. Accordingly, such modification of 
terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on 
the extinguishment. The exchange or modification is considered as non-substantial modification when such difference 
is less than 10 per cent.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

(l)	 Accrual and other payables (continued)

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the 
relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at the present value of the modified contractual cash flows discounted 
at the financial liabilities’ original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying 
amount of the modified financial liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying 
amount of the financial liability is recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.

(m)	 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption 
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees 
paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is 
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down 
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, 
the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it 
relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated balance sheets when the obligation specified in the contract is 
discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been 
extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or 
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other income or finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting year.

(n)	 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 
a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its 
intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for 
their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the year in which they are incurred.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

(o)	 Current and deferred income tax

Income taxes for the year comprise current income tax and deferred income tax. Income taxes are recognised in 
profit or loss except when they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income in which case the taxes 
are also recognised in other comprehensive income or when they relate to items recognised directly in equity in 
which case the taxes are also recognised directly in equity.

Current income tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable 
or disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of each reporting period. The amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of 
the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty related to income tax.

Deferred income tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences. Except for goodwill not deductible for tax 
purposes and initial recognition of assets and liabilities that are not part of the business combination which affect 
neither accounting nor taxable profits and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, 
taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates where the Group is able to 
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future, deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred 
income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates appropriate to the 
expected manner in which the carrying amount of the asset or liability is realised or settled and that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period, and reflects any uncertainty related to income 
taxes.

(p)	 Employee benefits

(i)	 Pension obligations

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the PRC based employees of the Group participate 
in various defined contribution retirement benefit plans organised by the relevant municipal and provincial 
governments in the PRC under which the Group and the employees are required to make monthly 
contributions to these plans calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries, subject to certain ceilings. 
The municipal and provincial governments undertake to assume the retirement benefit obligations of all 
existing and future retired PRC based employees payable under the plans described above. Other than the 
monthly contributions, the Group has no further obligation for the payment of retirement and other post-
retirement benefits of its employees. The assets of these plans are held separately from those of the Group 
in an independent fund managed by the PRC government. The Group’s contributions to these plans are 
expensed as incurred.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

(p)	 Employee benefits (continued)

(ii)	 Housing funds, medical insurances and other social insurances

The PRC employees of the Group are entitled to participate in various government-supervised housing funds, 
medical insurance and other employee social insurance plan. The Group contributes on a monthly basis to 
these funds based on certain percentages of the salaries of the employees, subject to certain ceilings. The 
Group’s liability in respect of these funds is limited to the contributions payable in each period.

(iii)	 Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that are expected 
to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related 
service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as 
current employee benefit obligations in the balance sheet.

(iv)	 Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlement to annual leave are recognised when they have accrued to employees. A provision is 
made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of 
the reporting period. Employees entitlement to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time 
of leave.

(v)	 Bonus plan

The expected cost of bonus is recognised as a liability when the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation for payment of bonus as a result of services rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of 
the obligation can be made. Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled within 12 months and are 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when they are settled.

(q)	 Share-based payments

The Company set up a Restricted Share Units (“RSUs”) Scheme as incentive to the eligible employees, including 
certain directors, senior management and employees of the Group, in exchange for their services for the Group.

For grant of RSUs, the total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the Company’s 
shares at the grant date.

In addition, in some circumstances employees may provide services in advance of the grant date and therefore the 
grant date fair value is estimated for the purposes of recognising the expense during the period between service 
commencement period and grant date.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

(r)	 Revenue recognition

(i)	 Tuition and boarding fees

Tuition and boarding fees of the Group’s schools are generally received in advance prior to the beginning of 
each academic year. Tuition and boarding fees are recognised proportionately over the relevant period in 
which the services are rendered. The portion of tuition and boarding payments received from students but 
not earned is recorded as contract liabilities. Amounts which will be earned within one year is reflected as a 
current liability, and which will be earned beyond one year is reflected as a non-current liability.

(ii)	 Revenue from internship management services

The Group introduces qualified students from the Group’s schools and other schools to participate in the 
Group’s cooperative enterprises’ internship programmes and receives management fees from the enterprises 
with respect to each student the Group introduced. The fee is recognised as revenue over the period of the 
relevant programmes.

The Group also receives the application fees from providing internship placement service for student. The 
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the service obligation are fulfilled.

(iii)	 Revenue from tutoring and programme management services

The Group recognises revenue based on the provision of tutoring services to students from the Group’s 
schools and other schools. These include provision of tutoring or career development related courses. The fee 
is recognised as revenue over the period of the relevant tutoring programmes.

The Group also receives the revenue from providing programme orientation and student referral services for 
enterprises. The revenue is recognised at a point in time when the service obligations are fulfilled and the fee is 
calculated based on the number of students participating in the programmes.

(iv)	 Revenue from other education related services

The Group provides several kinds of education related services to students and other parties. Revenue is 
measured at the consideration received or receivable for the service provided. The Group recognises revenue 
when it transfers services to a customer.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

(r)	 Revenue recognition (continued)

(v)	 Other income

Other income consists of government grants, sub-contracting income, commission income and others.

The Group receives income from sub-contracting the canteen catering operations and the campus stores in 
the school campus to other parties. Income from sub-contracting is recognised evenly over the period of the 
respective agreements.

Principal versus agent
When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, the Group determines whether 
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the 
Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the 
Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service before that good or service is transferred to 
a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the provision of the specified good or 
service by another party. When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or 
commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to 
be provided by the other party.

(s)	 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant 
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary to 
match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities 
as deferred revenue and are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related 
assets.
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5.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal the 
actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the Group and that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

Judgements
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgement, apart from 
those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

(a)	 Contractual Arrangements

The Group conducts a substantial portion of the business through the Consolidated Affiliated Entities in the PRC 
due to regulatory restrictions on the foreign ownership in the Group’s schools in the PRC (note 4(a)). The Group 
does not have any equity interest in the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. The directors assessed whether or not the 
Group has control over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities by assessing whether it has power over the Consolidated 
Affiliated Entities, has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and 
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. After assessment, 
the directors concluded that the Group has control over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities as a result of the 
Contractual Agreements and accordingly the financial position and the operating results of the Consolidated Affiliated 
Entities are included in the Group’s consolidated financial statements throughout the reporting period or since the 
respective dates of incorporation/establishment, whichever is the shorter period.

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective as direct legal ownership in providing the Group 
with direct control over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. There are still uncertainties regarding the interpretation 
and application of current and future PRC laws and regulations which could impede the Group’s power over the 
Consolidated Affiliated Entities and its beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities of the Consolidated 
Affiliated Entities.

Whenever there is any event which may impact the validity and enforceability of the Contractual Arrangements, the 
Directors would reassess whether or not the Contractual Arrangements continue to be legally enforceable.

The Directors, based on the advice of its legal counsel, consider that the Contractual Arrangements among the Chen 
Lin Education Science, the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and their equity shareholders continue to be in compliance 
with all relevant PRC laws and regulations officially promulgated, publicly available and publicly known, and are valid 
and legally enforceable.

Considering all the facts and circumstances, the Company continue to control and consolidate the Consolidated 
Affiliated Entities for the year ended 31 August 2024.
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5.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Judgements (continued)

(b)	 Income taxes

According to the Implementation Rules for the Law for Promoting Private Education (“Implementing Rules”), 
private schools, whether requiring reasonable returns or not, may enjoy preferential tax treatment. The Implementing 
Rules provide that the private schools for which the sponsors do not require reasonable returns are eligible to 
enjoy the same preferential tax treatment as public schools, and relevant authorities under the State Council may 
introduce preferential tax treatments and related policies applicable to private schools requiring reasonable returns. 
However, as of the date of issuance of these consolidated financial statements, no separate policies, regulations or 
rules have been introduced by the authorities in this regard. Based on the historical tax returns filed to the relevant 
tax authorities, the Schools has historically enjoyed preferential tax treatment since its establishment.

Significant judgement is required in interpreting the relevant tax rules and regulation so as to determine whether the 
Group is subject to enterprise income tax. New information may become available that causes the Group to change 
its judgement regarding the adequacy of the tax liabilities. Such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the 
period that such determination is made.

(c) 	 Assessment of payables to government authority in respect of government grants received

Regarding the payables to government authority (note 32), the Group have an obligation to repay the government 
grants received. The final amount of payable repay to government authority was updated and the timing of the 
payment (subject to the finalisation of the conversion process) was also updated to be beyond twelve months from 
31 August 2024. The directors’ basis for the above updates are latest available information obtained from discussion 
between the management and the government authority.

Estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year, are described below.

(a)	 Estimated useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives and residual values and consequently the related 
depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment, and reviews the useful lives and residual values periodically 
to ensure that the method and rates of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of realisation of 
economic benefits from property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of the 
actual useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions. If there are 
significant changes from previously estimated useful lives and residual values, the amount of depreciation expenses 
may change.
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5.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(b)	 Useful life and impairment of right-of-use assets

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives and the amortisation method in determining the 
related amortisation charges for its right-of-use assets. This estimate is based on the management’s experience of 
the actual practice of similar nature and functions and normal terms in the PRC. In addition, management assesses 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an item of right-of-use 
assets may not be recoverable. Management will increase the amortisation charge where useful lives are estimated to 
be shorter than previously estimated or will write off or write down obsolete assets that have been abandoned or 
impaired.

(c)	 Impairment of goodwill

The goodwill arose from the acquisition of subsidiaries. The Group tests whether goodwill has suffered impairment 
on an annual basis in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 4(f)(g). The recoverable amount of a 
CGU is determined based on the higher of fair value less cost of disposal (“FVLCD”) and value in use (“VIU”) 
which requires the use of estimates and valuation techniques. When applying valuation technique, the Group relies 
on a number of factors and judgements, including, among others, historical results, business plans, forecasts and 
market data.

(d)	 Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The 
Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on 
the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting 
period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in the note 39(a)(ii).

6.	 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(a)	 Description of segment and principal activities

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of private tertiary education services in the PRC. The Group’s chief 
operation decision maker has been identified as the chairman and executive directors of the Board who consider the 
business from the service perspective. For the purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment, the chief 
operation decision maker reviews the overall results and financial position of the Group as a whole prepared based 
on the same accounting policies set out in note 4. Accordingly, their segment information is aggregated as a single 
reportable segment. Management of the Group assesses the performance of the reportable segment based on the 
revenue and gross profit for the year of the Group as presented in the consolidated statements of comprehensive 
income.
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6.	 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(b)	 Segment revenue
Revenue for the years ended 31 August 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Tuition fees 530,370 496,177
Boarding fees 60,272 57,078
Internship management fees 1,478 1,780
Tutoring and programme management services 2,332 1,838
Others 5,000 6,457
   

599,452 563,330
   

During 2024 and 2023, all of the Group’s revenue were generated in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) and 
all of its non-current assets were located in the PRC.

The analysis of revenue recognised over time and at a point in time as required by IFRS 15 is set out below:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Recognised over time
Tuition fees 530,370 496,177
Boarding fees 60,272 57,078
Internship management fees 1,478 1,653
Tutoring and programme management services 2,332 1,723

Recognised at a point in time
Internship management fees – 127
Tutoring and programme management services – 115
Others 5,000 6,457
   

599,452 563,330
   

The Group’s revenue is subject to seasonal fluctuations. Tuition and boarding fees of the Group’s schools are 
generally received in advance prior to the beginning of academic year commencing from September each year. 
Tuition and boarding fees revenues are recognised proportionately over the relevant period in which the services are 
rendered excluding school term breaks and vacation periods.

The Group’s subsidiaries provide educational services to a large number of students who are regarding as customers 
of the Group. No single customer accounted for more than 10% of the Group’s revenue during the year.
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6.	 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(c)	 Contract liabilities

The Group has recognised the following contract liabilities:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Contract liabilities related to tuition fees 323,574 390,265
Contract liabilities related to boarding fees 39,276 48,699
Contract liabilities related to other revenue 11,079 14,661
Contract liabilities related to other income 1,333 1,733
   

375,262 455,358
   

The following table shows how much of the revenue and other income recognised in the current year relates to 
carried-forward contract liabilities:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Revenue recognised that was included in the balance of 
  contract liabilities at the beginning of the year
Tuition fees 388,440 353,854
Boarding fees 48,699 44,297
Other revenue 14,587 11,987

Other income recognised that was included in the balance of 
  contract liabilities at the beginning of the year
Other income 400 400
   

452,126 410,538
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6.	 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(d)	 Unsatisfied contracts
The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations resulting from contracts with students or companies:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Expected to be recognised within one year
Tuition fees 323,574 390,265
Boarding fees 39,276 48,699
Other revenue 11,079 14,661
Other income 400 400
   

374,329 454,025
   

Expected to be recognised within one to two years
Other income 933 400

Expected to be recognised more than two years
Other income – 933
   

933 1,333
   

375,262 455,358
   

(e)	 Movements in contract liabilities
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Balance at 1 September 455,358 416,442
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising revenue and 
  other income during the year that was included in the contract liabilities 
  at the beginning of the year (452,126) (411,168)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of advanced consideration received 
  from customers 372,030 450,084
   

Balance at 31 August 375,262 455,358
   

(f)	 Pledge of revenue proceeds
The Group’s long-term and short-term bank borrowings of RMB1,254,937,000 (2023: RMB798,905,000), long-term 
borrowings from a financial institution of RMB47,007,000 (2023: RMB71,355,000) and borrowings under finance 
lease arrangement of nil (2023: RMB53,709,000) were secured by the pledge of the rights over the collection of 
tuition fees and boarding fees of the Group’s schools.
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7.	 OTHER INCOME

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Government grants and subsidies (note a)
— Recognised from deferred revenue (notes 29 and 32) 13,261 13,375
— Recognised during the year 510 7,805
Gain/(loss) on remeasurement of payables to government authority in respect of 
  government grants received, net (note 32) 21,158 (2,167)
Sub-contracting income (note b) 3,964 5,874
Management service fee income (note c) 1,979 2,119
Others (note d) 3,555 9,428
   

44,427 36,434
   

(a)	 Government grants and subsidies mainly represent subsidies from government for procurement of laboratory 
apparatus and equipment for conducting educational service.

(b)	 The Group receives income from sub-contracting the canteen catering operations, the hotel and the campus stores 
in JXIAS campus to other parties.

(c)	 Management service fee income mainly includes management fee related to campus operation management.

(d)	 Others mainly include income from the electricity price difference between selling to canteen and purchasing from 
power stations, income from selling daily necessities to students, and miscellaneous income related to operations.

The analysis of other income, excluding government grants and subsidies, recognised over time and at a point in time as 
required by IFRS 15 is set out below:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Recognised over time
Sub-contracting income 3,964 5,874
Others 3,555 9,428
   

Recognised at a point in time
Others 1,979 2,119
   

9,498 17,421
   



97CHEN LIN EDUCATION GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 
Annual Repor t 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 August 2024

8.	 OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES) — NET

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Net fair value (losses)/gains on financial assets at FVPL (note 22) (14) 4
Donations 115 (1,185)
Net foreign exchange losses (91) (865)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (748) –
Write-back of other payable 8,058 –
Lawsuit claims of an acquired subsidiary initiated prior to acquisition 
  by the Group (note a) 22,313 –
Others (1,077) (881)
   

28,556 (2,927)
   

Note (a):	A former shareholder of a wholly-owned subsidiary (the “Subsidiary”) of the Company was sued by the Subsidiary for a claim since 2011 and such 

claim was treated as unrecoverable. Following the final decision of the court in the PRC, the Subsidiary won the lawsuit case and recognised a gain of 

RMB22,313,000 for the claim during the year ended 31 August 2024 (note 21).
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9.	 EXPENSES BY NATURE
The detailed analysis of cost of revenue, other expenses, selling expenses, administrative expenses and net impairment 
losses on financial assets is as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Employee benefit expenses (note 10) 252,322 226,642
Depreciation expenses(note 15) 98,437 84,588
Amortisation expenses (note 17) 1,402 8,385
Depreciation expenses of right-of-use assets (note 16) 20,525 20,117
Students activities expenses 55,081 36,676
Promotion expenses 4,945 13,742
Repair and maintenance fees 37,254 26,679
Electricity and water expenses 11,780 13,161
Office expenses 21,795 20,428
Professional service fees 13,798 8,808
Net impairment losses on financial assets 680 394
Auditor’s remuneration — audit services 2,580 2,625
Educational supplies and consumables 7,164 3,228
Others 30,232 20,457
   

557,995 485,930
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10.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Salaries and wages 196,510 185,822
Discretionary bonuses 5,661 439
Share-based payments (note 26) – 613
Contributions to pension plan (note a) 24,160 18,870
Housing fund, medical insurance and other social benefits 25,991 20,898
   

Total employee benefit expenses (note 9) 252,322 226,642
   

(a)	 Contributions to pension plan
The employees of the subsidiaries of the Group established in the PRC (other than Hong Kong) participate in 
defined contribution retirement benefit schemes managed by the local government authorities, whereby these 
subsidiaries are required to contribute to the schemes at a rate of 16% (2023: 16%) of the basic salary. Employees of 
these subsidiaries are entitled to retirement benefits, calculated based on a percentage of the average salaries level in 
the PRC (other than Hong Kong), from the above mentioned retirement schemes at their normal retirement age.

The Group also participates in a pension scheme under the rules and regulations of Mandatory Provident Fund 
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for all its qualifying employees in Hong Kong. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer 
and its employees are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, 
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HKD30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest immediately.

The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution schemes vest fully and immediately with the employees. 
Accordingly, (i) for the years ended 31 August 2024 and 2023, there was no forfeiture of contributions under the 
defined contribution schemes; and (ii) there were no forfeited contributions available for the Group to reduce its 
existing level of contributions to the defined contribution schemes as at 31 August 2024. No forfeited contributions 
may be used if there is forfeited contributions.
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10.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued)

(b)	 Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year ended 31 August 2024 include 
three (2023: three) directors. Their emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in note 38. Details of the 
remunerations of the remaining highest paid non-director individuals during the year are set out as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Salaries and wages 1,513 1,401
Discretionary bonuses – –
Share-based payments – 186
Contributions to pension plan 64 56
Housing fund, medical insurance and other social benefits 75 68
   

1,652 1,711
   

The remaining non-director individuals whose remuneration for the year fell within the following band are as follows:

2024 2023
   

Emolument band (HKD500,001 to HKD1,000,000) 1 1
Emolument band (HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000) 1 1
   

During the year, none of the five highest paid individuals waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments, and 
received emoluments from the Group as inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss 
of office.
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11.	 FINANCE COST — NET

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Finance income
— Interest income derived from deposits 368 560
   

Finance costs
— Interest expenses on bank borrowings (61,495) (58,059)
— Interest expenses on other borrowings (81,481) (51,826)
— Imputed interest expenses on other receivables (non-current portion) (1,083) –
— Finance cost on lease liabilities (note 30) (4,692) (4,473)
— Interest expenses on amount due to a related party (2,946) –
Less: borrowing costs capitalised on qualifying assets (note 15) 53,293 36,147
   

(98,404) (78,211)
   

Finance costs — net (98,036) (77,651)
   

The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs to be capitalised is the weighted average interest 
rate applicable to the Group’s borrowings for construction in progress during the year ended 31 August 2024, in this case 
was 6.70% per annum.
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12.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)
The amount of income tax expense charged/(credited) to profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income represents:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Current income tax
— Current income tax for the year 445 1,417
— Deferred income tax (note 31) 592 (1,834)
   

Income tax expense/(credit) 1,037 (417)
   

The Group’s principal applicable taxes and tax rates are as follows:

(a)	 Cayman Islands
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability under the 
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.

(b)	 British Virgin Islands
The Company’s direct subsidiary in the BVI was incorporated under the BVI Companies Act, 2004 and accordingly, is 
exempted from BVI income tax.

(c)	 Hong Kong
No provision for Hong Kong profit tax was provided as the Group did not have assessable profits derived from 
Hong Kong during the year ended 31 August 2024. The applicable Hong Kong profit tax rate is 16.5%.

(d)	 Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”)
EIT is provided on assessable profits of entities incorporated in the PRC at the rate of 25% during the year ended 31 
August 2024.

According to the Implementation Rules for the Law for Promoting Private Education, private schools for which 
the sponsors do not require reasonable returns are eligible to enjoy the same preferential tax treatment as public. 
As a result, private schools providing academic qualification education are eligible to enjoy income tax exemption 
treatment if the sponsors of such schools do not require reasonable returns. The Group’s schools currently have 
been granted enterprise income tax exemption for the tuition and boarding income from the relevant local tax 
authorities. For other profits that were not related to providing academic qualification education, the applicable tax 
rate is 25% (2023: 25%) during the year ended 31 August 2024.
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12.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (continued)

(e)	 PRC Withholding Income Tax
The profits of subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC are subject to PRC withholding income tax at a rate of 10% (2023: 
10%) upon the distribution of such profits to the foreign investors in Hong Kong. Deferred income tax liabilities 
have not been provided for in this regard since it is not expected that dividends will be distributed from the Group’s 
subsidiaries in the PRC to foreign investors in the foreseeable future. In the opinion of the Directors, such remaining 
earnings will be retained in Mainland China for the expansion of the Group’s operation.

The income tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using 
the statutory tax rate applicable to profit of the consolidated entities as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Profit before income tax 16,404 33,256
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to profits 
  in the respective countries 5,114 10,957

Tax effects of:
Preferential tax exemption for the Group’s schools (8,974) (15,887)
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 2,685 219
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset has been recognised 2,212 4,294
   

Income tax expense/(credit) 1,037 (417)
   

The unused tax losses of the Group’s companies for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised have the 
following expiry dates:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Year of expiry
2024 – 4,387
2025 12,455 12,455
2026 932 932
2027 3,267 3,267
2028 11,802 11,802
2029 8,847 –

No expiry date 15,982 15,982
   

53,285 48,825
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13.	 EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a)	 Basic

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the Company by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period.

2024 2023
   

Profit attributable to owners of the Company (RMB’000) 15,367 33,673
   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 
  calculating basic earnings per share 960,000,000 960,000,000
   

Basic earnings per share (expressed in RMB per share) 0.02 0.04
   

(b)	 Diluted
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
to assume conversation of all dilutive potential ordinary shares for the year ended 31 August 2024 and 2023. The 
Company’s potentially dilutive ordinary shares comprised of RUSs granted under the RSUs scheme.

2024 2023
   

Profit attributable to owners of the Company (RMB’000) 15,367 33,673
   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 
  calculating basic earnings per share 960,000,000 960,000,000
   

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares in respect of 
  share options outstanding (note 26) 26,094,700 26,094,700
   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 
  calculating diluted earnings per share 986,094,700 986,094,700
   

Diluted earnings per share (expressed in RMB per share) 0.02 0.03
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14.	 SUBSIDIARIES
The Group’s principal subsidiaries at 31 August 2024 are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital 
consisting solely of ordinary shares that are held by the Group, and the proportion of ownership interests held equals the 
voting rights held by the Group.

Company name
Date of 
incorporation

Country/Place of 
incorporation, legal status

Particulars of 
issued share capital

Ownership interest held 
by the Group

Principal activities and 
place of operation

2024 2023
       

Chen Lin Education Development 
Limited

4 June 2018 The British Virgin Islands 
(“BVI”), limited liability 
company

US$1 100% 100% Investment holding in BVI

Hong Kong Chen Lin Education 
Development Limited

14 June 2018 Hong Kong, limited liability 
company

HKD0.10 100% 100% Investment holding in 
Hong Kong

Chen Lin Education Science 
(Jiangxi) Co., Ltd

5 September 2018 PRC, limited liability company RMB300,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding in PRC

Yunnan Chen Lin Human 
Resources Management 
Company Limited

17 June 2019 PRC, limited liability company RMB2,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding in PRC

Nanchang Di Guan Education 
Consultancy Company 
Limited#

17 September 2009 PRC, limited liability company RMB10,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding in PRC

Jiangxi University of Applied 
Science#

11 April 2002 PRC, school RMB20,000,000 100% 100% College operations in PRC

Nanchang Angyue Vocational 
Skills Training School 
Company Limited

9 April 2020 PRC, limited liability company RMB2,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding in PRC

Nanchang Ruicheng Education 
Consultancy Company 
Limited#

24 June 2020 PRC, limited liability company RMB500,000 100% 100% Investment holding in PRC

Jiangxi Minzhuo Consulting 
Management Company 
Limited

29 September 2020 PRC, limited liability company RMB2,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding in PRC

Jiangxi Wenli Jishi College# 4 November 2019 PRC, school RMB500,000 100% 100% Full-time vocational college 
operations in PRC
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Company name
Date of 
incorporation

Country/Place of 
incorporation, legal status

Particulars of 
issued share capital

Ownership interest held 
by the Group

Principal activities and 
place of operation

2024 2023
       

Guizhou Vocational College of 
Industry and Trade#

6 June 2016 PRC, school RMB300,000,000 100% 100% Higher vocational college 
operations in PRC

Guizhou Xikai Education 
Investment Company Limited#

5 September 2011 PRC, limited liability company RMB20,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding in PRC

Zhengzhou Airport Economy 
Zone Chen Lin High School#

25 May 2017 PRC, school RMB100,000 100% 100% Private high school 
operations in PRC

Henan Kun Ren Education 
Science Technology Company 
Limited#

18 March 2021 PRC, limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding in PRC

Ganzhou Chen Lin Education 
Investment Company Limited#

20 August 2021 PRC, limited liability company RMB50,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding in PRC

#	 These entities are owned through contractual arrangement.

14.	 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
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15.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings 
and building 

improvements
Office furniture 

and fixtures
Electronic 
equipment Vehicles

Construction in 
progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
       

Cost

At 1 September 2022 1,683,078 146,562 177,748 7,348 493,495 2,508,231
Additions 18,160 81,298 22,559 3,485 560,192 685,694
Transfers 455,048 – – – (455,048) –
       

At 31 August 2023 2,156,286 227,860 200,307 10,833 598,639 3,193,925
Additions 92,815 43,067 19,125 – 387,985 542,992
Disposals – – – (2,844) – (2,844)
Transfers 208,768 14,188 15,475 – (238,431) –
       

At 31 August 2024 2,457,869 285,115 234,907 7,989 748,193 3,734,073
       

Depreciation and impairment
At 1 September 2022 196,868 67,584 54,632 3,501 – 322,585
Provided for the year 36,951 24,709 22,148 780 – 84,588
       

At 31 August 2023 233,819 92,293 76,780 4,281 – 407,173
Provided for the year 55,873 28,331 13,319 914 – 98,437
Eliminated on disposals – – – (2,096) – (2,096)
       

At 31 August 2024 289,692 120,624 90,099 3,099 – 503,514
       

Carrying values
At 31 August 2024 2,168,177 164,491 144,808 4,890 748,193 3,230,559
       

At 31 August 2023 1,922,467 135,567 123,527 6,552 598,639 2,786,752
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15.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Certain subsidiaries of the Group entered into a number of financing arrangement, in a form of sales and leaseback 
arrangements, with certain finance leasing companies (note 28). Whereby certain property, plant and equipment of the 
Group’s schools were sold and leased back over thirty to thirty-six months lease terms. The Group has the option to re-
acquire the property, plant and equipment on completion of the leases at nominal values. During such lease term and 
before the exercise of repurchase options at the expiry of lease term, such property, plant and equipment are effectively 
pledged as security for the borrowings, and are restricted for pledge or disposal under the agreements where lessors’ prior 
consent must be obtained. As at 31 August 2024, the cost of assets under this restriction amounted to approximately 
RMB1.52 billion (2023: RMB900 million).

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment was included in the following categories in the consolidated statements of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income:

31 August 
2024

31 August 
2023

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Cost of revenue 88,121 76,672
Administrative expenses 8,220 7,916
   

Total 96,341 84,588
   

During the year ended 31 August 2024, the Group capitalised interest on borrowings amounting to approximately 
RMB53,293,000 (2023: RMB36,147,000) on qualifying assets (note 11).

Construction-in-progress mainly comprises buildings and building improvements under construction in the PRC.

As at 31 August 2024, the carrying amount of certain buildings without building ownership certificates is approximately 
RMB41,050,000 (2023: RMB319,807,000).
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16.	 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Land use 
rights

Favorable 
lease

Lease of 
buildings

Lease of 
equipment

Lease of 
vehicle Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
       

Cost

At 1 September 2022 374,727 27,959 86,399 7,315 – 496,400
Additions 42,832 – – – – 42,832
Effect of lease modification – – 4,004 – – 4,004
       

At 31 August 2023 417,559 27,959 90,403 7,315 – 543,236
Additions – – – – 1,771 1,771
       

At 31 August 2024 417,559 27,959 90,403 7,315 1,771 545,007
       

Depreciation and impairment

At 1 September 2022 44,086 6,051 10,833 1,408 – 62,378
Provided for the year 8,013 3,631 7,243 1,230 – 20,117
       

At 31 August 2023 52,099 9,682 18,076 2,638 – 82,495
Provided for the year 8,699 3,631 6,888 1,189 118 20,525
       

At 31 August 2024 60,798 13,313 24,964 3,827 118 103,020
       

Carrying values
At 31 August 2024 356,761 14,646 65,439 3,488 1,653 441,987
       

At 31 August 2023 365,460 18,277 72,327 4,677 – 460,741
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16.	 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The land use rights represent the Group’s interest in leasehold land that the Group has made prepayment for the lease of 
the land. These include the land lots for JXIAS at Xinjian district of Nanchang city, Jiangxi province, the PRC, Jishi College 
at Longnan district of Nanchang city, Jiangxi province, the PRC, and Guizhou College at Weining Yi and Hui and Miao 
Autonomous County of Bijie city, Guizhou province, the PRC. The land use rights are under leases of 50 years.

Jishi College and Chen Lin High School lease buildings for educational services under finance leases. The respective right-of-
use assets are recorded in favorable leases and lease of buildings.

The impact to profit or loss and cash flows of the right-of-use assets is as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Profit or loss:
Depreciation of right-of-use assets, charged to cost of revenue and 
  administrative expenses 20,525 20,117
Interest expenses relating to lease liabilities, charged to finance costs (note 11) 4,692 4,473

Cash flow:
The cash outflow for settlement of leases related to land use rights presented 
  as investing activities (16,551) (26,281)
The cash outflow for leases presented as financing activities (3,671) (4,963)
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17.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill Student base
Computer 
software Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

Cost

At 1 September 2022 261,519 38,295 3,703 303,517
Additions – – 2,105 2,105
     

At 31 August 2023 261,519 38,295 5,808 305,622
Additions – – 3,699 3,699
     

At 31 August 2024 261,519 38,295 9,507 309,321
     

Depreciation and impairment

At 1 September 2022 – 28,891 2,705 31,596
Provided for the year – 8,145 240 8,385
     

At 31 August 2023 – 37,036 2,945 39,981
Provided for the year – 1,259 143 1,402
     

At 31 August 2024 – 38,295 3,088 41,383
     

Carrying values
At 31 August 2024 261,519 – 6,419 267,938
     

At 31 August 2023 261,519 1,259 2,863 265,641
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17.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Amortisation of the intangible assets was included in the following categories in the consolidated statements of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Cost of revenue 1,306 8,247
Administrative expenses 96 113
Other expenses – 25
   

Total 1,402 8,385
   

Impairment test for goodwill
Goodwill was derived from the acquisition of Jishi College in December 2020, Guizhou College in April 2021 and Chen Lin 
High School in July 2021.

The carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to the cash generating units (CGUs) as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Jishi College 152,485 152,485
Guizhou College 40,802 40,802
Chen Lin High School 68,232 68,232
   

261,519 261,519
   

The Group has performed an impairment review of the carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 August 2024 and have 
concluded that no provision for impairment is required.
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17.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment test for goodwill (continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill acquired has been allocated to the lowest level of CGUs identified. 
The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. The calculation of recoverable 
amount of the CGU uses cash flow projections based on the financial estimates made by the Group, with reference to the 
prevailing market conditions, covering a period of five years and based on the following key assumptions.

As at 31 August 2024

Jishi College
Guizhou 
College

Chen Lin 
High School

    

Revenue annual growth rate
— average of the forecast period 36.53% 23.19% 25.68%
Average gross profit margins 54.77% 51.24% 27.78%
Annual average capex expenditure (RMB) 897,034 2,874,563 1,232,620
Long term annual growth rate 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%
Pre-tax discount rate 12.89% 13.28% 13.61%
    

As at 31 August 2023

Jishi College
Guizhou 
College

Chen Lin 
High School

    

Revenue annual growth rate
— average of the forecast period 36.67% 20.26% 31.83%
Average gross profit margins 56.97% 57.17% 32.54%
Annual average capex expenditure (RMB) 1,550,000 4,105,870 2,205,858
Long term annual growth rate 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%
Pre-tax discount rate 14.71% 14.77% 14.10%
    

As at 31 August 2023, the recoverable amount of RMB621,107,000, RMB1,052,500,000 and RMB150,400,000 of 
Jishi College, Guizhou College and Chen Lin High School based on VIU calculation exceeded their carrying value of 
RMB588,157,000, RMB1,033,000,000 and RMB139,900,000 by RMB32,950,000, RMB19,500,000 and RMB10,500,000, 
respectively.

As at 31 August 2024, the recoverable amount of 1,007,541,000 RMB1,130,379,000 and RMB150,185,000 of Jishi College, 
Guizhou College and Chen Lin High School based on VIU calculation exceeded their carrying value of RMB955,914,000, 
RMB1,060,335,000 and RMB131,988,000 by RMB51,627,000, RMB70,044,000 and RMB18,197,000, respectively.
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17.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment test for goodwill (continued)

Management has undertaken sensitivity analysis on the impairment test of goodwill. The following table sets forth all 
possible changes to the key assumptions of the impairment test and the changes taken in isolation in the VIU calculations 
that would remove the remaining headroom as at 31 August 2024 and 31 August 2023:

As at 31 August 2024

Jishi College
Guizhou 
College

Chen Lin 
High School

    

Revenue annual growth rate –1.6% –1.1% –3.8%
Gross profit margin (% of revenue) –8.9% –4.2% –2.7%
Pre-tax discount rate +0.9% +1.0% +2.1%
    

As at 31 August 2023

Jishi College
Guizhou 
College

Chen Lin 
High School

    

Revenue annual growth rate –2.9% –1.0% –1.4%
Gross profit margin (% of revenue) –3.2% –1.6% –1.5%
Pre-tax discount rate +5.7% +2.5% +11.2%
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18.	 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Prepayments for purchases of property, plant and equipment 108,030 66,666
Prepayments to a cooperate project (note a) – 36,530
Deposits for cooperate project (note b) – 21,000
   

108,030 124,196
   

(a)	 In November 2021, Nanchang Di Guan and Junyiyuan Technology Development Group Limited (君億園科技
發展集團有限公司) (“Junyiyuan”), an independent third party, entered into an agreement, pursuant to which 
Nanchang Di Guan acquired from Junyiyuan the right to operate and manage Jiangxi Aviation Technician College (江
西航空技師學院) for a term of 10 years at a consideration of RMB49,530,000. In August 2023, Nanchang Di Guan 
and Junyiyuan have been working on obtaining the approval of the transfer of operating rights from the relevant 
authorities but in vain. Therefore, in October 2023, Nanchang Di Guan entered into an agreement with Junyiyuan to 
terminate the transaction due to government policy on areas for education development and all consideration paid 
to Junyiyuan was refunded to Nanchang Di Guan during the year.

(b)	 In December 2021, Chen Lin Education Science and Jiangxi Henghuida Agricultural Science and Technology Co., 
Ltd. (江西恆暉大農業科技有限公司) (“Henghuida”), an independent third party, signed a non-legally binding 
memorandum which set out the intention of the parties to cooperate in education projects relating to agriculture, 
health care, ecology and sustainable development. The Group made a deposit amounting to RMB21,000,000 to 
Henghuida according to the memorandum. In October 2023, Chen Lin Education Science entered into an agreement 
with Henghuida to terminate the transaction due to government policy on areas for education development and the 
part of deposit paid to Henghuida amounting to RMB19,470,000 was refunded to Chen Lin Education Science during 
the year. The remaining outstanding balance due from Henghuida amounting to RMB1,530,000 was reclassified to 
other receivables under current asset.
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19.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
The Group holds the following financial instruments:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Financial assets
At amortised cost:

Cash and cash equivalents (note 23) 287,976 374,618
Restricted bank balances (note 23) 45 3,887
Trade receivables (note 20) 7,265 12,370
Loan receivable (note 21) 9,934 –
Other receivables excluding prepayments (note 21) 89,053 83,484

   

394,273 474,359

Financial assets at FVPL (note 22) 90 105
   

394,363 474,464
   

Financial liabilities
At amortised cost:

Borrowings (note 28) 2,418,091 2,051,970
Accruals and other payables excluding non-financial liabilities (note 27) 263,604 226,275
Amount due to a related party (note 36(c)) 42,267 27,463
Other non-current payables (note 32) 233,349 261,464
Lease liabilities (note 30) 76,314 91,844

   

3,033,625 2,659,016
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20.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Trade receivables
— related to students fees 3,306 15,282
— related to other services 5,878 7,953
   

9,184 23,235

Loss allowance (1,919) (10,865)
   

7,265 12,370
   

(a)	 Ageing analysis of the trade receivables
The Group’s students are required to pay tuition fees and boarding fees in advance for the upcoming school years, 
which normally commences in September of the year. The trade receivables represent tuition and boarding fees 
receivable from students and other service fee receivable who have not settled the fees on time. There is no 
significant concentration of credit risk.

As at 31 August 2024 and 2023, the ageing analysis of the trade receivables based on the transaction date is as 
follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Up to 1 year 4,717 15,238
1 to 2 years 3,778 2,534
2 to 3 years 211 3,399
Over 3 years 478 2,064
   

9,184 23,235
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20.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b)	 Impairment of trade receivables
Movements of loss allowance for trade receivables are as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

At the beginning of the year 10,865 12,991
Expected credit loss reversed during the year (note 9) (639) (2,126)
Written-off of uncollectible receivables (8,307) –
   

At the end of the year 1,919 10,865
   

(c)	 Fair values of trade receivables
The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximated their fair values as at 31 August 2024 and were 
denominated in RMB.

21.	 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS AND LOAN RECEIVABLE

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Deposit for campus constructions (note a) 43,407 35,133
Other receivables (notes b and c) 59,347 51,215
Input value added tax to be deducted 21,417 6,825
Prepayments to suppliers 5,639 5,735
   

129,810 98,908

Less: Loss allowance on other receivables (3,767) (2,864)
   

126,043 96,044
   

Non-current 30,991 –
Current 95,052 96,044
   

126,043 96,044
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21.	 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS AND LOAN RECEIVABLE (continued)

(a)	 The deposit for campus construction were paid to government authorities and will be refunded to the Group upon 
certain stage of completion of campus constructions.

(b)	 The other receivables mainly included amounts due from a former shareholder of a subsidiary of the Company and 
loan receivables from third parties.

(c)	 The former shareholder A* of a wholly-owned subsidiary (the “Subsidiary”) of the Company was sued by the 
Subsidiary for a claim since 2011 and such claim was treated as unrecoverable. Following the final decision of the 
court in the PRC, the Subsidiary won the lawsuit case and recognised a gain of RMB22,313,000 for the claim during 
the year ended 31 August 2024 (note 8). The former shareholder A settled RMB10,697,000 of the claim in February 
2024 and then a tripartite agreement was entered by the former shareholder A, a former shareholder B^ and the 
Subsidiary to arrange for assignment of debt that the remaining claim of RMB11,616,000 to be repaid by the former 
shareholder B. The former shareholder B also entered into a loan agreement with the Subsidiary for the amount of 
RMB11,616, 000 with terms of unsecured, interest free and repayable after three years from December 2023.

The management of the Group assessed the loss allowances for the loan receivable individually. As at 31 August 
2024, approximately HK$599,000 impairment loss was made against loan receivables on an individual assessment 
basis. Details of impairment assessment of loan receivables are set out in note 39.

*	 Former shareholder A represents an ex-shareholder of the Subsidiary

^	 Former shareholder B represents an ex-ex-shareholder of the Subsidiary

The carrying amounts of other receivables and prepayments approximated their fair values as at the balance sheet date. 
Other receivables, prepayments and loan receivables were denominated in RMB.
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22.	 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Current assets
Financial assets at FVPL
— Equity investments, listed 90 105
   

Movements in the equity investments are as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Securities listed on the Hong Kong Stocks Exchange
At the beginning of the year 105 96
Net fair value (losses)/gains (note 8) (14) 4
Foreign exchange (losses)/gains (1) 5
   

At the end of year 90 105
   

The financial assets at FVPL are denominated in the following currencies:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

HKD 90 105
   

23.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents (note 19) 287,976 374,618
Restricted bank balances (note 19) 45 3,887
   

288,021 378,505
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23.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank balances are denominated in the following currencies:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

RMB 287,472 377,987
HKD 533 518
USD 16 –
   

288,021 378,505
   

The restricted bank balances of RMB3,277,000 as at 31 August 2023 represented letter of credit to a bank pledged for 
purchases of property, plant and equipment. As at 31 August 2024, there were no restricted bank balances represented 
letter of credit to a bank pledged for purchases of property, plant and equipment.

The restricted bank balances of RMB45,000 as at 31 August 2024 represented restricted cash due to certain lawsuits (2023: 
RMB610,000).

24.	 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

Number of 
shares

Nominal value 
HKD

   

Authorised:
As at 1 September 2022, 31 August 2023 and 31 August 2024, 
  at HKD0.0001 each 3,800,000,000 380,000
   

Number of 
share

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Issued:
As at 1 September 2022, 31 August 2023 and 31 August 2024 1,000,000,000 89 433,763
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25.	 RESERVES
(a)	 Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the aggregate paid-in capital of the subsidiaries acquired, offset by investment costs in 
subsidiaries of the Company during the reorganisation.

(b)	 Statutory surplus reserves
Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC shall make 
appropriations from after-tax profit to non-distributable reserve funds as determined by the boards of directors of 
the relevant PRC subsidiaries. These reserves include:

(i)	 statutory reserve fund of the limited liability companies;

(ii)	 general reserve fund of foreign invested enterprise; and

(iii)	 the development fund of the Schools.

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and Articles of Association of the companies 
incorporated in the PRC now comprising the Group (the “PRC Subsidiaries”), it is required to appropriate 10% 
of the annual statutory net profits of the PRC Subsidiaries, after offsetting any prior years’ losses as determined under 
the PRC accounting standards, to the statutory reserve fund before distributing the net profit. When the balance of 
the statutory reserve fund reaches 50% of the registered capital of the PRC Subsidiaries, any further appropriation is 
at the discretion of shareholders. The statutory reserve fund can be used to offset prior years’ losses, if any, and may 
be converted into share capital by issuing new shares to shareholders in proportion to their existing shareholding, 
provided that the remaining balance of the statutory reserve fund after such issue is not less than 25% of registered 
capital.

Pursuant to the laws applicable to China’s Foreign Investment Enterprises, the Company’s subsidiary that is a wholly 
foreign-owned enterprise in China has to make appropriations from its after-tax profit (as determined under PRC 
accounting standards) to reserve funds including (1) general reserve fund, (2) enterprise expansion fund and (3) 
staff bonus and welfare fund. The appropriation to the general reserve fund must be at least 10% of the after-tax 
profits calculated in accordance with PRC accounting standards. Appropriation is not required if the reserve fund has 
reached 50% of the registered capital of the respective company. Appropriations to the other two reserve funds are 
at the respective company’s discretion.

According to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, for a private school that the sponsor does not require 
reasonable return, it is required to appropriate to development fund of not less than 10% of the annual increase of 
net assets of the relevant school as determined in accordance with PRC accounting standards. The development 
fund is for the construction or maintenance of the school or procurement or upgrading of educational equipment.
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25.	 RESERVES (continued)

(c)	 Retained earnings
The sponsor of non-profit private schools shall not receive proceeds from the running of the school, and the cash 
surplus of the non-profit private schools shall be retained for the school development only. As a result of these and 
other restrictions under PRC laws and regulations, the Group’s schools incorporated in the PRC are restricted in 
their ability to transfer profit or a portion of their net assets to the Company either in the form of dividends, loans or 
advances. The retained earnings of the Group as at 31 August 2024 of RMB200,766,000 (2023: RMB190,105,000) 
included RMB340,443,000 (2023: RMB334,049,000) retained surplus of the Group’s schools in the PRC and their 
surplus is not distributable.

(d)	 Other reserve
Other reserve represents the fair values of the subsidiaries acquired by the Company pursuant to reorganisation of 
group entities during the Initial Public Offering incurred in 2019.

26.	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
RSUs Scheme
On 20 August 2019, the Company set up a RSUs Scheme (note 4(q)) to incentivise the eligible employees, including 
certain directors, senior management and employees of the Group, in exchange for their services for the Group. Pursuant 
to the RSUs Scheme, on 20 August 2019, approximately 4.00% of the total issued share capital of the Company for the 
RSUs Scheme, and the board of directors of the Company has the discretion to select RSUs eligible persons to receive 
RSUs under the RSUs Scheme.

The RSUs awards vest in tranches from the grant date over a certain service period, on the condition that employees 
remain in service without any performance requirements. Once the vesting conditions of the respective RSUs are met, the 
RSUs are considered duly and validly issued to the RSU holders.

Movements in the number of RSUs granted and the respective weighted average fair value at grant date are as follows:

2024 2023
   

As at 1 September 26,094,700 26,094,700
Forfeited during the year – –
   

Exercisable as at the end of year 26,094,700 26,094,700
   

The fair value of each RSU at the grant date is determined by reference to the fair value of the underlying ordinary shares 
on the date of grant.

The total share-based payments expenses recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income was 
RMB613,000 for the year ended 31 August 2023. There was no share-based payments expenses recognised in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 August 2024 (note 10).
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27.	 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

As at 31 August

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Payables for purchases of property, plant and equipment 153,840 143,620
Employee benefit payables 35,880 32,756
Payables to suppliers on behalf of students 12,164 9,390
Letter of credit 2,332 3,777
Payables to students:
— Prepayments received from students (note a) 8,784 6,318
— Government subsidies and other payables to students (note b) 27,357 14,485
— Insurance fund from government (note c) – 4,917
Other taxes payable 5,629 6,129
Payables for purchases of services 14,214 5,148
Retention money payables for campus constructions 6,420 5,146
Others 38,493 33,474
   

305,113 265,160
   

(a)	 The Group purchases books and other materials from suppliers on behalf of students and receives prepayments 
from students.

(b)	 The Group receives subsidies from government for distribution to students as scholarship, subsidies or other forms 
of incentives to students.

(c)	 The Group receives medical insurance funds from government for payment to students when they apply with related 
reimbursement supporting.

The carrying amounts of accruals and other payables approximated their fair value as at 31 August 2024 and were 
dominated in RMB.
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28.	 BORROWINGS

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Non- current:
Long-term bank borrowings, secured 953,290 565,800
Long-term bank borrowings, unsecured – 300,000
Long-term borrowings from a financial institution, secured – 47,007
Borrowings under finance lease arrangement 623,692 544,273
   

1,576,982 1,457,080
   

Current:
Current portion of long-term bank borrowings, secured 166,647 133,003
Current portion of long-term bank borrowings, unsecured 13,000 39,122
Current portion of long-term borrowings from a financial institution, secured 47,007 24,348
Short-term bank borrowings, secured 135,000 100,102
Short-term bank borrowings, unsecured 20,000 –
Borrowings under finance lease arrangement 459,455 298,315
   

841,109 594,890
   

Total borrowings (note 19) 2,418,091 2,051,970
   

(a)	 Details of securities and guarantees to the borrowings
The Group’s long-term and short-term bank borrowings, secured as at 31 August 2024 of RMB1,254,937,000 (31 
August 2023: RMB798,095,000) were obtained in the PRC, secured by the pledge of the rights over the tuition 
fees and boarding fees of the Group’s schools (note 6(f)) and shares of a subsidiary and supported by guarantees 
provided by subsidiaries of the Group, Mr. Huang Yulin and his family members.

The Group’s long-term and short-term bank borrowings, unsecured as at 31 August 2024 of RMB33,000,000 (31 
August 2023: RMB339,122,000) were obtained in the PRC and supported by guarantees provided by Mr. Huang 
Yulin and his family members.

The Group’s long-term borrowings from a financial institution of RMB47,007,000 (31 August 2023: RMB71,355,000) 
were obtained in the PRC, secured by the pledge of the rights over the tuition fees and boarding fees of the 
Group’s schools, and supported by guarantees provided by subsidiaries of the Group, Mr. Huang Yulin and his family 
members.

The Group’s borrowing under finance lease arrangement of RMB1,083,147,000 (31 August 2023: RMB842,588,000) 
were secured by the pledge of the Group’s property, plant and equipment and supported by guarantees provided by 
subsidiaries of the Group, Mr. Huang Yulin and his family members.
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28.	 BORROWINGS (continued)

(b)	 Repayment periods, interest and denomination currency
The Group’s borrowings as at 31 August 2024 are repayable as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Within 1 year 841,109 594,890
Between 1 and 2 years 799,352 580,242
Between 2 and 5 years 642,140 876,838
Over 5 years 135,490 –
   

Total 2,418,091 2,051,970
   

The borrowings from banks and financial institution of the Group are mainly variable rate borrowings which carry 
interest at LPR plus a spread, ranging from 4.05% to 5.70% (31 August 2023: 4.05% to 5.70%).

The Group’s borrowing under finance lease arrangement and the borrowings from a financial institution carry interest 
fixed rate ranging from 6.56% to 11.43% (2023: 6.56% to 11.43%).

The Group’s borrowings are denominated in the following currency as:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

RMB 2,418,091 2,051,970
   

The carrying amounts for majority of the borrowings approximated their fair values as at 31 August 2024 as they 
were carried at floating interest rates.
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29.	 DEFERRED REVENUE

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Government grants
Non-current 108,822 78,560
Current 7,744 5,782
   

Total 116,566 84,342
   

The government grants were received from the local government as subsidies to the Group’s purchase of land use right 
and property, plant and equipment. They are amortised to the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected 
useful lives of the related assets.

The movements of the above deferred revenue during the year are as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

As at 1 September 84,342 72,266
Additions 38,528 18,494
Released to other income (6,304) (6,418)
   

As at the end of year 116,566 84,342
   

30.	 LEASE LIABILITIES

2024 2023

Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

       

Buildings 1,775 71,167 72,942 1,686 68,779 70,465
Equipment 1,124 2,248 3,372 1,457 3,371 4,828
Land use right – – – 16,551 – 16,551
       

Total 2,899 73,415 76,314 19,694 72,150 91,844
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30.	 LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

The Group leases buildings and equipment for its operations and these liabilities were measured at the net present value 
of the lease payments during the lease terms that are not yet paid.

Land 
use rights

Lease of 
buildings

Lease of 
equipment Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

Cost
At 1 September 2022 – 64,637 7,142 71,779
Additions 16,551 – – 16,551
Interest expense – 4,165 308 4,473
Lease payments – (2,341) (2,622) (4,963)
Effect on modification of lease term – 4,004 – 4,004
     

At 31 August 2023 16,551 70,465 4,828 91,844
Interest expense – 4,447 245 4,692
Lease payments (16,551) (1,970) (1,701) (20,222)
     

At 31 August 2024 – 72,942 3,372 76,314
     

31.	 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS
The analysis of deferred income tax assets is as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Deferred income tax assets:
— to be recovered within 12 months 1,242 1,834
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31.	 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS (continued)

The gross movements in the deferred income tax account are as follows:

Temporary 
different in 
respect of 

allowance for 
doubtful debts

RMB’000
  

Deferred income tax assets
As at 31 August 2022 –
Credited to the profit or loss (note 12) 1,834
  

As at 31 August 2023 1,834
Charged to the profit or loss (note 12) (592)
  

As at 31 August 2024 1,242
  

32.	 OTHER NON-CURRENT PAYABLES

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

At the beginning of the year 261,464 266,254

Reduction due to fulfilment of ongoing conditions and requirement imposed by 
government (6,957) (6,957)

   

Imputed interest expenses 14,337 14,599
Gain on modification on financial liabilities (35,495) (12,432)
   

(Gain)/loss on remeasurement of payables to government authority in respect 
  of government grants received, net (note a) (21,158) 2,167
   

At the end of the year 233,349 261,464
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32.	 OTHER NON-CURRENT PAYABLES (continued)

Note:

(a)	 The Group’s non-current other payables to government authority, a financial liability, were related to government grants received by Guizhou College and its 

sponsor company, both are subsidiaries of the Group, for the construction of the school campus of the predecessor school of Guizhou College in past years. 

The government grants were assessed to be with ongoing conditions and requirements that have not been fully fulfilled by Guizhou College and its sponsor, 

and accordingly the grants were recognised as payables to local government authority. The management of the Group re-assessed the payable every financial 

year based on the available information including, inter alia, the fact that Guizhou College had submitted the application for conversion from not-for-profit 

school to for-profit school in October 2022. The conversion will involve a financial clearing process to identify and assess the values of the assets and liabilities 

of the Guizhou College, including the determination of the nature of investment of government fundings and the amount to be repaid to government upon 

completion of the conversion (if any).

During the year ended 31 August 2023, the management of the Group re-assessed the payables based on latest available information obtained from 

discussion between the management and the local government authority including the updated approximate time for the completion of the conversion. 

As the local government authority has to take more time to complete the application process, the time for the completion of the conversion has taken 

longer than originally expected and the Group is set to provide services to fulfil ongoing conditions and repayment imposed by the government for a longer 

period than originally expected. Therefore, the estimated approximate time for the completion of the conversion was extended from 31 January 2024 to 31 

December 2024, and the repayment amount was reduced from RMB286,657,000 to RMB280,280,000. These changes resulted in a RMB12,432,000 gain on 

remeasurement of payable to government authority in respect of government grant received. The Group presented the gain as a loss of RMB2,167,000 after 

netting it with the imputed interest expense of RMB14,599,000.

During the year ended 31 August 2024, the management of the Group also re-assessed the payables to the local government authority based on latest 

available information obtained from discussion between the management and the local government authority including the updated approximate time for the 

completion of the conversion. As the local government authority has to take more time to complete the application process, the time for the completion of 

the conversion has taken longer than its previous expectation and the Group is set to provide services to fulfil ongoing conditions and repayment imposed 

by the government for a longer period than its previous expectation. Therefore, the estimated approximate time for the completion of the conversion was 

extended from 31 December 2024 to 31 December 2027, and the repayment amount was reduced from RMB280,280,000 to RMB259,409,000. These 

changes resulted in a RMB35,495,000 gain on remeasurement of payable to government authority in respect of government grant received. The Group 

presented the gain as a gain of RMB21,158,000 after netting it with the imputed interest expense of RMB14,337,000.
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33.	 DIVIDENDS
At a meeting of the Board held on 29 November 2024, the Board resolved not to propose a final dividend in respect of 
the year ended 31 August 2024. No dividends have been paid or declared by the Group for the years ended 31 August 
2023 and 2024.

34.	 CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(a)	 Cash generated from operations

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Profit before income tax 16,404 33,256

Adjustments for
— Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 15) 98,437 84,588
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 16) 20,525 20,117
— Amortisation of intangible assets (note 17) 1,402 8,385
— Finance costs (note 11) 98,036 77,651
— Net impairment losses on financial assets (note 9) 680 394
— Non-cash employee benefits expense-share based payments (note 26) – 613
— Net fair value losses/(gains) on financial assets at fair value through profit 
    or loss (note 22) 14 (4)
— Net exchange differences 91 (5)
— Gain on recovery of lawsuit claims (22,313) –
— (Gain)/loss on remeasurement of payables to government authority 
    in respect of government grants received (21,158) 2,167
— Amortisation of deferred revenue (note 7) (13,261) (13,375)
— Write back of other payable (note 8) (8,058) –
— Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 748 –

Changes in working capital:
— Trade and other receivables and prepayments (15,131) (21,965)
— Accruals and other payables 37,605 (6,762)
— Contract liabilities (80,096) 38,916
   

Net cash generated from operating activities 113,925 223,976
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34.	 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(b)	 Net debt reconciliation
This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in net debt for each of the periods presented.

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Cash and cash equivalents (note 23) 287,976 374,618
Financial asset at FVPL (note 22) 90 105
Borrowings (note 28) (2,418,091) (2,051,970)
Amount due to a related party — loan nature (note 36) (42,267) (27,463)
Lease liabilities (note 30) (76,314) (91,844)
   

Net debt (2,248,606) (1,796,554)
   

Borrowing

Loans from 
a related 

party Leases Sub-total

Cash and 
cash 

equivalents
Liquid 

investment Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

        

Net debt as at 31 August 2022 (1,370,753) (16,434) (71,779) (1,458,966) 286,206 96 (1,172,664)
Cash flows (607,479) (11,029) 4,963 (613,545) 88,412 – (525,133)
Other changes
Increase in lease liabilities from 
  addition of lease term – – (16,551) (16,551) – – (16,551)
Increase in lease liabilities from 
  modification of lease term – – (4,004) (4,004) – – (4,004)
Interest expenses (Note 11) (73,738) – (4,473) (78,211) – – (78,211)
Net fair value gain (note 8) – – – – – 4 4
Exchange realignment – – – – – 5 5
        

Net debt as at 31 August 2023 (2,051,970) (27,463) (91,844) (2,171,277) 374,618 105 (1,796,554)
        

Cash flows (223,145) (11,858) 20,222 (214,781) (86,642) – (301,423)
Other changes
Interest expenses (Note 11) (142,976) (2,946) (4,692) (150,614) – – (150,614)
Net fair value loss (note 8) – – – – – (14) (14)
Exchange realignment – – – – – (1) (1)
        

Net debt as at 31 August 2024 (2,418,091) (42,267) (76,314) (2,536,672) 287,976 90 (2,248,606)
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35.	 COMMITMENTS
Capital expenditure commitments
Significant capital expenditure commitments are set out below:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Contracted but not recognised as liabilities
— Commitments for acquisition of property, plant and 
    equipment, and construction of buildings 182,547 445,080
   

36.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise 
significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be 
related if they are subject to common control, common significant influence or joint control.

The owners, members of key management and their close family members of the Group are also considered as related 
parties. In the opinion of the directors, the related party transactions were carried out in the normal course of business of 
the Group and at terms negotiated between the Group and the respective related parties.

(a)	 Related parties of the Group

Name of related parties Relationship
  

Mr. Huang Yulin The controlling shareholder, chairman and executive director

The Group also had transactions with the family members of the Controlling Shareholder.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the following is a summary of the significant transactions 
carried out between the Group and its related parties in the ordinary course of business for the years ended 31 
August 2024 and 31 August 2023, and the balances arising from related party transactions as at the respective 
balance sheet dates.
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36.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)	 Transactions with related parties

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

(i)	 Loans from a related party
	 — Mr. Huang Yulin 14,804 11,029

(ii)	 Guarantees provided by related parties to the Group’s borrowings:
	 — Mr. Huang Yulin and his family members 1,257,311 900,406
   

1,272,115 911,435
   

(c)	 Balances with related parties

As at 31 August

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Amount due to a related party
— Mr. Huang Yulin (non-trade) 42,267 27,463
   

The amount due to a related party is unsecured, interest bearing at 4.8% per annum (2023: 4.8%) and payable on 
demand.

(d)	 Key management compensation
Key management includes directors (executive and non-executive), executive officers, and the Company’s secretary. 
The compensation paid or payable to key management for employee services is as follows:

As at 31 August

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Salaries and wages 10,536 11,044
Discretionary bonuses – –
Share-based payments – 260
Contributions to pension plan 243 279
Housing fund, medical insurance and other social benefits 289 333
   

11,068 11,916
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37.	 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY
(a)	 Balance sheet of the Company

As at 31 August

2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

    

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 842,382 842,382
    

Current assets
Other receivables and prepayments 153 153
Amount due from a subsidiary 337,589 380,894
Cash and cash equivalents 416 486
    

338,158 381,533
    

Total Assets 1,180,540 1,223,915
    

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Other payables 322 322
Amounts due to subsidiaries 8,918 8,918
    

Total Liabilities 9,240 9,240
    

EQUITY
Share capital 89 89
Share premium 433,763 433,763
Other reserve 25(d) 789,000 789,000
Shares-based payments reserve 53,382 53,382
Statutory surplus reserves 2 2
Accumulated losses (104,936) (61,561)
    

Total Equity 1,171,300 1,214,675
    

Total Equity And Liabilities 1,180,540 1,223,915
    

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of Directors on 29 November 2024 and was signed 
on its behalf.

Mr. Huang Yulin Ms. Gan Tian
Chairman Director



136 CHEN LIN EDUCATION GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 
Annual Repor t 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 August 2024

37.	 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(b)	 Reserve movements of the Company

Other 
reserve 

(note 25(d))
Share 

premium

Share-based 
payment 

reserve

Statutory 
surplus 

reserves
Accumulated 

losses Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

       

At 31 August 2022 789,000 433,763 52,769 2 (41,521) 1,234,013

At 1 September 2022 789,000 433,763 52,769 2 (41,521) 1,234,013
Loss for the year – – – – (20,040) (20,040)
Share-based payments expense – – 613 – – 613
       

At 31 August 2023 789,000 433,763 53,382 2 (61,561) 1,214,586
       

At 1 September 2023 789,000 433,763 53,382 2 (61,561) 1,214,586
Loss for the year – – – – (43,375) (43,375)
       

At 31 August 2024 789,000 433,763 53,382 2 (104,936) 1,171,211
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38.	 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(a)	 Benefits and interests of directors

The remuneration of each director of the Company paid/payable by the Group for the years ended 31 August 2024 
and 2023 are set out as follows:

Name of directors Director fee Basic salaries

Share-based 
payment 
expenses

Welfare, 
medical and 

other 
expenses

Contribution 
to pension 

plan Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

       

For the year ended 
  31 August 2024

Chairman
Mr. Huang Yulin (i) 2,188 2,882 – – – 5,070

Executive directors
Ms. Gan Tian – 696 – 59 38 793
Mr. Wang Li – 535 – 48 38 621
Mr. Liu Chunbin – 456 – 44 37 537
Mr. Wang Shenghua (ii) – – – – – –
Mr. Yang Ruichen (ii) – 557 – 16 – 573

Non-executive director
Mr. Li Cunyi (iii) – – – – – –

Independent 
  non-executive 
  director
Mr. Chen Wanlong 191 – – – – 191
Mr. Wang Donglin 124 – – – – 124
Mr. Huang Juyun 191 – – – – 191
Mr. Sy Lai Yin, Sunny 120 – – – – 120
       

2,814 5,126 – 167 113 8,220
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38.	 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(a)	 Benefits and interests of directors (continued)

Name of directors
Director 

fee
Basic 

salaries

Share-based 
payment 
expenses

Welfare, 
medical and 

other 
expenses

Contribution 
to pension 

plan Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

       

For the year ended 
  31 August 2023

Chairman
Mr. Huang Yulin (i) 2,149 2,851 – 11 11 5,022

Executive directors
Ms. Gan Tian – 696 – 54 32 782
Mr. Wang Li – 465 57 46 32 600
Mr. Liu Chunbin – 387 33 43 32 495
Mr. Wang Shenghua (ii) – 40 – – – 40
Mr. Yang Ruichen (ii) – 1,166 – – 32 1,198

Non-executive director
Mr. Li Cunyi (iii) – 42 – – – 42

Independent 
  non-executive 
  director
Mr. Chen Wanlong 222 – – – – 222
Mr. Wang Donglin 125 – – – – 125
Mr. Huang Juyun 125 – – – – 125
Mr. Sy Lai Yin, Sunny 118 – – – – 118
       

2,739 5,647 90 154 139 8,769
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38.	 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(a)	 Benefits and interests of directors (continued)

(i)	 Mr. Huang Yulin was appointed as the chief executive officer of Group with effect from 30 October 2020 and 
his emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as the chief executive officer.

(ii)	 Mr. Wang Shenghua and Mr. Yang Ruichen were resigned as the executive directors of the Company with 
effect from 31 January 2024 and 29 February 2024 respectively.

(iii)	 Mr. Li Cunyi was resigned as the non-executive director of the Company with effect from 31 January 2024.

(b)	 Other disclosures
Other than those disclosed above and those disclosed in notes 26, 28 and 36(b):

•	 there were no retirement benefits paid to or receivable by any director in respect of their other services in 
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries during the year ended 31 
August 2024 (2023: nil).

•	 there were no termination benefits paid to or receivable by any director during the year ended 31 August 
2024 (2023: nil).

•	 no payment was made to the directors for making available the services of them as a director of the Company 
during the year ended 31 August 2024 (2023: nil).

•	 there were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings entered into between the Group and the directors and in 
favour of the directors during the year ended 31 August 2024 (2023: nil).

•	 there are no significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which 
the Company was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or 
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time for the year.
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39.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(a)	 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and 
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on 
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial 
performance.

(i)	 Market risk

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in the PRC and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from Hong Kong dollars 
(“HKD”). The Group does not hedge against any fluctuation in foreign currency.

The sensitivity of profit or loss to changes in the exchange rates arises mainly from HKD denominated cash 
and cash equivalents, borrowing and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, other receivables and 
prepayments.

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

HKD/RMB Exchange rate — Increase 5% 31 26
HKD/RMB Exchange rate — Decrease 5% (31) (26)
   

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from borrowings. Borrowings obtained at variable rates expose the Group 
to cash flow interest rate risk. During the year ended 31 August 2024, the Group’s borrowings bore interest 
both at variable rates and fixed rates. The Group does not hedge its cash flow.

As at 31 August 2024 and 2023, if interest rate on borrowings had been higher/lower by 50 basis points of 
current interest rate, with other variables held constant, profit for the year ended 31 August 2024 and 2023 
would have been approximately RMB5,340,000 higher/lower and approximately RMB5,690,000 higher/lower, 
respectively.
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39.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)	 Financial risk factors (continued)

(ii)	 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument would fail to discharge its obligation 
under the terms of the financial instrument and cause a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s exposure to 
credit risk mainly arises from granting credit to customers in the ordinary course of its operations.

The credit risk of the Group’s financial assets, which mainly comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade 
receivables, other receivables and loan receivables, arises from potential default of the counterparty, with a 
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

All of the Group’s trade receivables, other receivables and loan receivables have no collateral. The Group 
assessed the credit quality of the counterparties by taking into account their financial position, credit history, 
forward looking information and other factors. Management also regularly reviews the recoverability of these 
receivables and follow up the disputes or amounts overdue, if any.

(i)	 Cash and cash equivalents

As at 31 August 2024 and 31 August 2023, substantially all of the Group’s bank deposits were deposited 
with major financial institutions incorporated in the PRC and Hong Kong, which management believes 
are of high-credit-quality without significant credit risk.

(ii)	 Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for expected credit losses as prescribed by IFRS 
9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the 
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics. 
The Group trade receivables mainly represents the trade receivables from students for tuition and 
boarding fee, and from third parties for other services.

For the trade receivables from third parties, the counterparties are primarily large corporations that 
have strong financial position. The Group maintains frequent communications with the counterparties. 
Management has closely monitored the credit qualities and the collectability of these receivables and 
considers that the expected credit risks of them are minimal in view of the history of cooperation with 
them and forward looking information. Management reviews regularly the recoverable amount of each 
trade receivable from third parties to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable 
amounts.
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39.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)	 Financial risk factors (continued)

(ii)	 Credit risk (continued)

(ii)	 Trade receivables (continued)

For the trade receivables from students, the loss allowance was determined as follows:

Reporting period
Less than 

1 year
1 year to 

2 year
2 year to 

3 year
More than 

3 year
     

31 August 2024 6.5% 26.6% 65.9% 97.9%

31 August 2023 18.83% 100% 100% 100%
     

The management writes off trade receivables when there are no reasonable expectations of recovering 
the trade receivable from students.

The change in the loss allowance for trade receivables during the year ended 31 August 2024 was mainly 
due to the decrease in lifetime expected credit loss after assessing the change in payment policy of 
tuition and boarding fee which may cause amelioration in the settlement of trade receivables.

The loss allowance provision for trade receivables during the years ended 31 August 2024 and 31 
August 2023 was set out in note 20.

(iii)	 Other receivables

Other receivables at the end of year were mainly deposit for campus constructions, amounts due from 
a former shareholder of a subsidiary of the Company and loan receivables from third parties and a 
former shareholder. The directors consider the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and 
whether there has been significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis during the year. To assess 
whether there is a significant increase in credit risk the Group compares risk of a default occurring on the 
assets as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition.

Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

•	 actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial economic conditions that are 
expected to cause a significant change to the counterparty’s ability to meet its obligations;

•	 actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the counterparty;

•	 significant changes in the expected performance and behavior of the counterparty, including 
changes in the payment status of the counterparty.
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39.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)	 Financial risk factors (continued)

(ii)	 Credit risk (continued)

(iii)	 Other receivables (continued)

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is more than 
30 days past due in making a contractual payment/repayment demanded.

A default on a financial asset is when the counterparty fails to make contractual payments/repayment 
demanded within 90 days of when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor 
failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group. The Group categories a loan or receivable for 
write off when a debtor fails to make contractual payments/repayment demanded greater than 365 
days past due. Where loans or receivables have been written off, the Group continues to engage in 
enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivable due. Where recoveries are made, these are 
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group reviews regularly the recoverable amount of each individual receivable to ensure that 
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. Over the term of the financial assets, 
the Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately providing for expected credit losses on a timely 
basis. In calculating the expected credit loss rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each 
category of debtors, and adjusts for forward looking macroeconomic data.

The movement of loss allowances for other receivables during the year are as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

At the beginning of the year 2,864 344
Expected credit loss recognised during the year (note 9) 903 2,520
   

At the end of the year 3,767 2,864
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39.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)	 Financial risk factors (continued)

(iii)	 Liquidity risk

To manage the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed 
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in 
cash flows. The Group expects to fund its future cash flow needs through internally generated cash flows from 
operations and borrowings from financial institutions. Management believes that there is no significant liquidity 
risk in view of the expected cash flows from operations and continuous support from banks in the coming 
twelve months.

The tables below analyse the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based 
on the remaining period at the end of year to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the 
tables are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

2024

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate

Carrying 
amount

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flow

Within 1 year 
or on demand

More than 
1 year but 

less than 
2 years

More than 
2 years but 

less than 
5 years

More than 
5 years

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
        

Borrowing 6.36% 2,418,091 2,467,380 859,327 827,492 645,071 135,490
Amount due to a related party 4.8% 42,267 42,267 42,267 – – –
Other non-current payable (note 32) – 233,349 259,409 – – 259,409 –
Lease Liabilities 6.38% 76,314 108,989 3,274 12,606 32,309 60,800
Accruals and other payables 
  (excluding non-financial liabilities) N/A 263,604 263,604 263,604 – – –

        

3,033,625 3,141,649 1,168,472 840,098 936,789 196,290
        

2023

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate
Carrying 
amount

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flow

Within 1 year 
or on demand

More than 
1 year but 

less than 
2 years

More than 
2 years but 

less than 
5 years

More than 
5 years

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
        

Borrowing 5.66% 2,051,970 2,221,016 695,543 666,100 859,373 –
Amount due to a related party 4.8% 27,463 27,463 27,463 – – –
Other non-current payable (note 32) – 261,464 280,280 – 280,280 – –
Lease Liabilities 5.38% 91,844 128,815 19,825 3,274 34,391 71,325
Accruals and other payables 
  (excluding non-financial liabilities) N/A 226,275 226,275 226,275 – – –

        

2,659,016 2,883,849 969,106 949,654 893,764 71,325
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39.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)	 Capital management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to

•	 safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that the Group can continue to provide 
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

•	 maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Net debt 2,248,606 1,796,554
Total Equity 860,732 845,365
Net debt to equity ratio 261% 213%
   

The significant increase in net debt to equity ratio is resulted from the increase in borrowings at a greater extent than 
the profit earned during the year ended 31 August 2024.

(c)	 Fair value estimation
(i)	 Fair value hierarchy

To provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs used in determining fair value, the Group classifies its 
financial instruments into the three levels prescribed under the accounting standards. An explanation of each 
level follows underneath the table.

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets measured and recognised at fair value.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

     

31 August 2024
Assets
Financial assets at FVPL 
  — Equity investments 90 – – 90
     

31 August 2023
Assets
Financial assets at FVPL 
  — Equity investments 105 – – 105
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39.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)	 Fair value estimation (continued)

(i)	 Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Level 1:	 The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, 
and trading and available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted (unadjusted) market prices at the 
end of the reporting period. The quoted marked price used for financial assets held by the Group is 
the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2:	 The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-
counter derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise 
the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific 
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument 
is included in level 2.

Level 3:	 If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is 
included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity securities.

(ii)	 Valuation techniques used to determine fair values

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:

•	 the use of quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments;

•	 the present value of the estimated future cash flows based on observable yield curves.

40.	 COMPARATIVE FIGURES
The Group has revisited the presentation of other income during the current year and the comparative figure related to 
part of “Government grants and subsidies recognised during the year” have been reclassified to “Gain on remeasurement 
of payables to government authority in respect of government grants received, net” to conform with the current year’s 
presentation for more appropriate disclosure purpose.
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